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X1

Preface

Volume 17 of the Collected Works of Marx and Engels comprises
works written between October 1859 and December 1860. The
first half of the volume is devoted to Marx’s long polemic Herr
Vogt and the letters and statements connected with the so-called
Vogt Case that he sent to the editors of various newspapers.
The second half consists of articles written by Marx and Engels for
the American progressive newspaper New-York Daily Tribune
between January and December 1860. All these works are linked
in subject-matter with those published in volumes 16, 18 and: 19 of
the present edition.

As Marx and Engels had foreseen, the first world economic
crisis of 1857-58 was followed by a fresh upswing of the
democratic, proletarian and national liberation movements. An
ever widening struggle was being waged over the tasks the
bourgeois revolutions of 1848-49 had left unsolved, one of which
was the now urgent necessity for the unification of Germany, and
also of Italy. In this period the international situation, as the
Italian war of 1859 (France and Piedmont against Austria) had
shown, was charged with the danger of armed conflict.

In the complex conditions of the time the activity of the masses,
particularly that of the proletariat, grew rapidly, and Marx and
Engels devoted themselves to preparing the working class for the
forthcoming battles. Besides elaborating revolutionary theory and
crucial questions of the tactics of proletarian struggle, they
concentrated more and more of their practical activity on rallying
the revolutionary forces and setting up an independent political
party of the working class. Their task now was not only to preserve
the cadres of experienced proletarian revolutionaries, but also to
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establish closer ties with the broad masses, to give the movement
its own newspaper (the attempts to turn the London German émigré
paper Das Volk into such an organ are described in Volume 16) and
to win more supporters.

Increasingly Marx and Engels devoted their journalistic writings
on home and foreign policy to substantiating the position of the
emerging party of the proletariat. Defending its political and
moral authority, Marx vigorously rebuffed the ideological enemies
of the working class, who were trying to slander and discredit the
active members of the Communist League. A rebuttal of these
slanderous fabrications was particularly necessary at this crucial
moment in the development of the working-class movement, when
the proletarians of many countries had begun to awaken to
political activity and showed a tendency to set up their own
political organisations and establish international connections,
when new forces were entering the working-class movement and
there was thus a real opportunity for creating a mass proletarian
party. Its nucleus was to be, as Marx and Engels envisa-
ged, a united and well-tested group of proletarian revolutio-
naries. “The moment is approaching,” Marx wrote to Lassalle in
September 1860, “when our ‘small’ and yet, in a certain sense,
powerful party’ (insofar as the other parties do not know what
they want or do not want what they know) must draft a plan of its
campaign” (see present edition, Vol. 41).

Marx’s long polemical work— Herr Vogt—reflects the struggle
waged by Marx and Engels against attempts by the ideologists and
agents of the bourgeoisie to denigrate the proletarian party. Their
exposure had become an important task and in the circumstances
of the time was not only a means of self-defence, but also a form
of active upholding and propagation of communist principles.

In his letter to Freiligrath of February 29, 1860 Marx wrote that
he and his associates were being attacked with utter ruthlessness
by the bourgeois circles of many countries, by the whole official
world “who in order to ruin us are not just occasionally infringing
the penal code but have ranged widely over its length and
breadth...” (see present edition, Vol. 41). One of the spokesmen of
this “official world” was the German scientist and politician Karl
Vogt, who had formerly sided with the petty-bourgeois democrats.
In December 1859 Vogt published a pamphlet entitled Mein Prozess
gegen die Allgemeine Zeitung, which was full of slanderous statements
about Marx and his associates.

In this pamphlet Vogt deliberately falsified facts and invented
charges against Marx and his associates, distorting the true picture
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of the activities of the Communist League. Armed with police
forgeries used in the Cologne communist trial in 1852, Vogt
even went so far as to accuse Marx and his associates of
mercenary, if not criminal aims. In principle there was nothing
new in these insinuations. They were merely a rehash of the
fabricated charges brought against members of the Communist
League by Prussian police agents. The same lies had often been
used by groups of petty-bourgeois émigrés hostile to the pro-
letarian revolutionaries. “...At all times and in all places,” Marx
wrote, “the sycophants of the ruling class have always resorted to
these despicable slanders to denigrate the literary and political
champions of the oppressed classes” (see this volume, p. 69).
However, Vogt’s slanderous fabrications were on this occasion
immediately taken up by the bourgeois press of Germany, England,
Switzerland and other European countries and also found their way
into the émigré press in the United States. The dissemination of
anti-communist inventions assumed a massive scale. “Naturally the
jubilation of the bourgeois press knows no bounds,” Marx wrote
to Engels on January 31, 1860 about the reaction of the bourgeois
press to the publication of the Vogt pamphlet (see present edition,
Vol. 41).

Marx rightly saw this as an attempt by the bourgeoisie to
discredit the proletarian revolutionaries, to strike a blow at the
emerging party of the proletariat and undermine its positions
morally and politically in the eyes of the public. “His [Vogt’s]
attack on me...”, Marx wrote to Engels on February 3, 1860, “is
intended as a grand coup by vulgar bourgeois democracy
against the whole party. It must therefore be answered by a
grand coup. The defensive is not for us” (see present edition, Vol. 41).
Marx’s exposé Herr Vogt was the answer to this anti-communist
campaign. The unmasking of Vogt was particularly important for
Germany, where the proletarian revolutionaries were faced with
the task of building up their influence among the masses in the
struggle for the country’s democratic unification.

Marx pursued a dual aim in his writings against Vogt. He
exposed him both as an individual spreading slander and as “an
individual who stands for a whole trend” (this volume, p. 26) of
ideologists whom the bourgeoisie was using to discredit proletarian
revolutionaries and disorganise the working-class movement. Marx
was not merely answering the attacks on himself personally, was
not only defending the proletarian revolutionaries’ past activities,
he was also fighting for the future of the proletarian party. The
exposure of Vogt was “of decisive importance for the historical
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vindication of the party and for its future position in Germany”,
Marx wrote to Freiligrath on February 23, 1860 (see present
edition, Vol. 41). The importance Marx attached to defending the
party, which was still only in the process of formation, from
slander by its enemies is shown by the fact that he put aside his
work on Capital for nearly a year in order to write the pamphlet.

Herr Vogt is a complex, highly satirical work. The wealth of
information it contains, the importance of the problems raised, the
vast quantity of thoroughly researched and skilfully presented
material, make it one of the finest examples of Marx’s polemical
writings and one of the most important of his historical works. He
succeeded in creating a broad canvas portraying the period, the
prevailing political systems, the home and foreign policies of the
ruling classes, the bourgeois court, the police and the venal press.
At the same time, he levelled revealing criticism at the anti-
proletarian trends of bourgeois liberalism and bourgeois and
petty-bourgeois democracy.

In dealing with the formation and development of the
international communist movement, Marx refuted Vogt’s allega-
tions that the Communist League was a narrow conspiratorial
organisation pursuing aims that were not revolutionary at all. In
Chapter IV of the work (“Techow’s Letter”) he gave a brief but
succinct description of the emergence and activities of this first
international communist organisation of the proletariat. In this
and other chapters (Chapter I1I, “Police Matters”, and Chapter
V1, “Vogt and the Neue Rheinische Zeilung”) he portrayed the
historical setting in which the League operated, its connections
with working-class circles and its role in the propagation of
communist ideas, and also the struggle waged by the proletarian
trend against sectarian elements. Discussing the reasons for the
split in the Communist League, Marx pointed out the harm done
by the adventurist and conspiratorial tactics of the Willich-
Schapper sectarian group, their incompatibility with the true aims
of the proletarian party, and particularly stressed the demoralising
and disorganising consequences of the voluntarist and conspirator-
ial trends for the working-class movement.

Herr Vogt is the first work in Marxist literature to pinpoint the
basic elements of the initial phase in the process of combining
scientific communism with the working-class movement. It
pioneers the idea of the continuity of the various stages of this
process, the various steps in the struggle for a proletarian party.
Along with Marx’s Revelations Concerning the Communist Trial in
Cologne and The Knight of the Noble Consciousness, and Marx and
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Engels’ The Great Men of the Exile (see present edition, Vols. 11,
12), Herr Vogt marks the beginning of the Marxist historiography
of the communist movement.

The portrait of the main character in the pamphlet is
generalised. Marx used Vogt as an example to show that the
anti-revolutionary, anti-proletarian prejudices of the unstable
elements among the bourgeois intellectuals brought them into the
camp of reaction and allowed the ruling classes, particularly those of
such a corrupt state as Bonapartist France, to exploit them for
counter-revolutionary purposes. Marx exposed Vogt as a petty
politician and ridiculed him as one of the cowardly leaders of the
leftist petty-bourgeois group in the Frankfurt National Assembly
and a member of the imperial regency, set up by the rump of the
Frankfurt Parliament at the closing stage of the 1848-49 revolution.
Marx showed that Vogt's whole political activity was in fact
counter-revolutionary. According to the Neue Rheinische Zeitung, he
was “the ‘faithful warner’ against revolution” (this volume, p. 55).
This exposure of Vogt had a great impact because he had been
widely regarded as a democratic and even radical politician.

Marx considered Vogt mainly as a political figure, but some of
his sharply satirical observations illuminated the nature of Vogt’s
philosophical views as a spokesman of German vulgar materialism.

The pamphlet’s focal point is the exposure of Vogt as a paid
agent of Napoleon III (Chapter VIII, “Da-Di Vogt and His
Studies”; IX, “Agency”; and X, “Patrons and Accomplices”), as
“one of the countless mouthpieces through whom the grotesque
ventriloquist in the Tuileries spoke in foreign tongues” (this
volume, p. 159). As Marx proved, Vogt performed the function of
moulding European public opinion in the Bonapartist spirit and
recruiting members of the liberal and democratic opposition to
Bonapartism by admitting them to the “French feeding-trough”.
Vogt's Studien zur gegenwirtigen Lage Europas (Studies on the
Present Situation in Europe), published a month before the
outbreak of the Italian war, left Marx “in no doubt about his
connection with Bonapartist propaganda” (this volume, p. 116) since
it was a rehash of the official propaganda hand-outs of the
Second Empire and was designed to assist the latter in its
foreign-policy adventures. Subsequently, in 1870, after the fall of
the Second Empire, when details of the expenditure of secret
funds in 1859 were released, Vogt’s name was found to be on the
list of recipients. This was incontrovertible documentary proof of
the charges Marx had brought against him ten years before.

Marx exposed not only Vogt but also his “patrons and
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accomplices”, the whole circle of paid agents, hack writers and
journalists, and unprincipled politicians acting in the interests of
the Second Empire. The pages describing the typical ways in which
the bourgeois press serves the ruling circles ideologically in their
struggle against the revolutionary working-class movement, and
purveys bourgeois influence among proletarians and democrats
are brilliant political satire. Marx lashed out at the venality of the
Bonapartist press, whose scribes “one and all take their inspiration
from one and the same illustrious— money-box”’ (this volume, p. 211),
and had some equally hard things to say about the bourgeois press
of Germany and England. He treated the action of the then liberal
Daily Telegraph, which had reprinted Vogt’s slander and refused to
publish Marx’s denial, as a striking example of how the press and
journalism as a whole in bourgeois society become a field for
private money-making, spreading lies and misinformation, de-
rogatory rumours and scandalous gossip to satisfy the tastes of
the philistine. Marx compares the newspaper to a “great central
paper cloaca” receiving all the “social refuse” (this volume,
p- 243).

The social and national demagoguery of Bonapartism, Louis
Bonaparte’s “leftist” gestures in social and national policy,
designed to present the police state of the Second Empire as a
champion of the workers’ interests and a defender of oppressed
nations, were particularly dangerous, Marx wrote. He drew attention
to the attempts of the Bonapartist Vogt to persuade the Swiss
artisans that Napoleon IIl was a “workers’ dictator” (this volume,
p. 191) deeply concerned for the welfare of the working people and
their protection from exploitation by the bourgeoisie. Marx
demonstrated the demoralising effect on the working class of this
brand of social demagoguery, which was later to spread in other
countries in the form of “police socialism”. Taking Vogt’s role as an
accessory to the Bonapartist monarchy as an example, Marx pointed
to the danger of the democratic and proletarian movements being
penetrated by all kinds of hostile agents,and to the need for their
timely identification and exposure.

Marx’s revelations of Vogt's connections with Bonapartist circles
grew into a general unmasking of the Bonapartist regime. Marx
and Engels regarded the Second Empire as one of the bastions of
reaction in Europe and the fight against Bonapartism as one of the
international proletariat’s key tasks. In Herr Vogt (Chapters VIII, IX
and X) Marx developed and deepened the analysis of Bonapartism
that he had made in his The Eighteenth Brumaire of Louis Bonaparte
(see present edition, Vol. 11) and quotes from this work.
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Dealing with Vogt's and other mercenary writers’ efforts to
embellish the foreign policy of the Second Empire, Marx showed
the reactionary aims and methods of this policy, revealing the
demagogic essence of the Bonapartist “principle of nationality”,
and the false concept of “natural frontiers”, which were used to
cover up the plans of the ruling circles to exploit the national
movements in order to establish French hegemony and redraw the
map of Europe in favour of the Bonapartist camarilla. Marx noted
that the Bonapartist clique was trying to consolidate the dictatorial
regime in France by means of ‘“local wars” and combat the
revolutionary-democratic struggle in Italy and other countries by
armed force. He showed that the rulers of the Second Empire
were enemies of all national liberation movements and hypocriti-
cally masked their true position by a pretence of sympathy for the
Poles, Hungarians, Italians and other oppressed nations. In Marx’s
view the tendency of some of the national leaders to succumb to
Bonapartist demagoguery, their readiness to make a deal with
Bonapartism, presented a grave danger to the revolutionary
development of these movements. Marx revealed the true nature
of the policies pursued by the ruling circles of England, and also
of Tsarist Russia, who were giving Napoleon 111 diplomatic support
and thus contributing to the outbreak of the Italian war.

In Herr Vogt Marx analysed various aspects of international
relations from the eighteenth century up to the 1850s and
highlighted the key points of contradiction and conflict between
the European powers. His interest in these problems is also
documented by the excerpts, published here in the section “From
the Preparatory Materials”, from the book by the Hungarian
historian and participant in the 1848-49 revolution Imre Szabd,
The State Policy of Modern Europe, from the Beginning of the Sixteenth
Century to the Present Time, which was a source used for several
passages of Herr Vogt.

The writings of Marx and Engels against Bonapartism were
closely linked with their struggle for the unification of Germany,
and also of Italy, by revolutionary-democratic means. They saw
Bonapartist France as one of the main obstacles to German and
Italian unity (see present edition, Vol. 16). In Herr Vogt Marx
exposed Vogt's pro-Bonaparte stance on this issue as well.

Marx’s pamphlet against Vogt and his associates was also a kind
of answer to Lassalle, whose view on the ways and means of uni-
fying Germany, and also Italy, was expounded in his pamphlet
Der italienische Krieg und die Aufgabe Preussens (The Italian War
and the Tasks of Prussia). Lassalle justified the policy of Napoleon
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III in Italy and supported the dynastic way of uniting Germany
under Prussian auspices that was being canvassed by the Prus-
sophile bourgeoisie. “Lassalle’s pamphlet is an enormous blun-
der,” Marx wrote to Engels on May 18, 1859, and in a letter of
November 26 of the same year he declared even more emphatical-
ly that Lassalle “in point of fact was piping the same tune as
Vogt” (see present edition, Vol. 40). Not for nothing did Lassalle
try to dissuade Marx from openly opposing this Bonapartist
agent. In Herr Vogt Marx indirectly, without naming Lassalle,
was actually criticising the ideas of Lassalle’s pamphlet along
with the views expressed by other vulgar democrats who shared
Vogt’s opinion. In contrast to the nationalistic ideas of Las-
salle, who did not believe in the revolutionary-democratic
forces of Italy and Germany, in contrast to his attempts to justify
the policy of Bonapartism and the Prussian ruling circles, Marx
proposed a plan for the revolutionary-democratic unification of
each of the two countries from below, through the revolutionary
action of the masses. “Lassalle deviated towards a national-liberal
labour policy, whereas Marx encouraged and developed an
independent, consistendy democratic policy hostile to national-
liberal cowardice” (V. I. Lenin, Collected Works, Vol. 21, p. 141).

The pamphlet Herr Vogt, and Engels’ pamphlet Savoy, Nice and the
Rhine written a short time before (see present edition, Vol. 16),were
the first works in which the founders of Marxism actually opposed in
print the tactics advocated by Lassalle.

An important problem raised by Marx in Herr Vogt was that of
how to fight the influence of bourgeois and petty-bourgeois
ideology on the proletariat, an ideology emanating from circles
that Marx dassified as vulgar democrats (see his letters to Engels,
January 28 and February 3, 1860, present edition, Vol. 41). In his
Preface to the pamphlet, referring to German bourgeois and
petty-bourgeois democracy, he wrote that one of the reasons that
had prompted him to come out publicly against Vogt was the
opportunity this offered of exposing the whole trend to which Vogt
belonged. This was important as a means of securing the indepen-
dence of the emerging proletarian party’s ideological and tactical
principles. The German petty-bourgeois democrats had evolved to
the right since the revolution of 184849 and were steadily dete-
riorating into an appendage of bourgeois liberalism. Some of them,
like Vogt, had taken up pro-Bonapartist positions. Marx and En-
gels had criticised the leaders of the petty bourgeoisie in their
work The Great Men of the Exile (see present edition, Vol. 11).
In Chapters IV and XII of Herr Vogt (“Techow’s Letter” and
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“Appendices”) Marx returns to this subject and ridicules the
narrowness and political instability of the vulgar democrats, their
contempt for the true interests of the toiling masses, and the petty
quarrels between the various groups.

Brilliant both in its content and form, Herr Vogt is outstanding
among the best examples of political satire and journalism and
leaves one in no doubt as to Marx’s extensive knowledge of
literature. Its sparkling aphorisms and literary references add to
the acerbity of its style. “This 1s, of course, the best polemical work
you have ever written,” was Engels’ comment in a letter to Marx
of December 19, 1860 (see present edition, Vol. 41), as soon as he
had read the pamphlet. Franz Mehring, who thought highly of the
pamphlet’s artistic merits, although he did not fully appreciate
its significance in upholding the prnaples of the proletarian
party, wrote that it would afford great pleasure to the literary
connoisseur.

Marx’s pamphlet is written in a spirit of militant partisanship. It
has retained its scientific and political significance both as a source
for studying the history of the international working-class move-
ment and the struggle waged by Marx and Engels to create a
proletarian party, and as an example of their opposition to
Bonapartism and other reactionary forces. It remains a model of
the impassioned defence of the interests of the working class and is a
classic rebuttal of the opponents of communism.

The second half of the volume consists of articles by Marx and
Engels on cruaal problems of the social and political development
of Europe in 1860. With the revolutionary movement again on the
upswing their writings were of especial significance as a way of
working out and popularising the tactical prinaples that should be
adopted by the working-class and democratic movement. In 1860
the New-York Daily Tribune was the only newspaper for which
Marx and Engels wrote on political subjects (the articles on
military questions that Engels contributed in 1860 to The New
American Cyclopaedia, The Volunteer Journal, for Lancashire and
Cheshire, and the Allgemeine Militir-Zeitung, are published in
Volume 18 of the present edition, as part of the cycle of works on
this subject written by Marx and Engels in those years). Though
he did not share Marx’s beliefs, the editor of the paper realised
the importance of his articles (see this volume, p. 323-24).

The journalistic activities of Marx and Engels in this period show
that they were continuing their studies of the economic contours and
dynamics of the social and political development of various
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countries, and the crucial points of international contradictions and
conflicts. As always they took a particular interest in the unfolding of
revolutionary events.

One of the main themes in the journalism of Marx and Engels in
1860 was the events in Italy. Their articles continue the cycle of
their works on this subject written during the Italian war (see
present edition, Vol. 16). The war resulted neither in the uni-
fication of Italy nor in its complete liberation from Austrian dom-
ination. Austria kept its grip on Venice. In return for the
cession of Lombardy to Piedmont France had been given Savoy
and Nice. With its national and social problems still unsolved,Italy
remained one of the main centres of revolutionary ferment in
Europe. In April 1860 the popular uprising in Palermo (Sicily)
against the regime of the Neapolitan Bourbons launched a new
stage in the struggle for the country’s unification that took the
form of a bourgeois-democratic revolution. Marx responded to
these events with the article “Sicily and the Sicilians”, drawing a
graphic picture of the hardships suffered by the people of the
island, where all land was owned by a few large landowners, where
the medieval system of land tenure was still intact, and the tenant
farmers led an impoverished existence under a crushing burden of
taxes and exorbitant rent. Marx taunted Europe’s official circles for
their indifference over the brutal reprisals that the Neapolitan
authorities had taken against the insurgents. But, as Marx noted, the
people’s spirit was not broken. The Sicilians “have battled, and still
battle, for their freedom” (this volume, p. 370).

Garibaldi’s landing with his famous “thousand” volunteers
helped to unite the scattered guerrilla bands and develop the
revolutionary war in Sicily. Marx and Engels followed with great
sympathy the actions of Garibaldi, around whom all Italy’s
patriotic forces had rallied. “If the insurrection develops much
vital power, Garibaldi’s army will be swelled to more formidable
dimensions,” wrote Marx in his article “Garibaldi in Sicily.—
Affairs in Prussia” (this volume, p. 382). A high evaluation of the
actions of Garibaldi’s insurrectionist forces is to be found in the
articles “Garibaldi in Sicily”, “Garibaldi’s Movements”, “Garibal-
di’s Progress” and “Garibaldi in Calabria”, which Engels wrote at
Marx’s request. Engels spoke of Garibaldi as “the man who has
borne high the flag of Italian revolution in the face of French,
Neapolitan, and Austrian battalions” (this volume, p. 386). And in
another place he said, “The Sicilian insurrection has found a
first-rate military chief” (pp. 389-90). After Garibaldi’s landing in
Calabria Engels wrote that he had “shown himself to be not only a
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brave leader and clever strategist, but also a scientific general” (this
volume, p. 476).

Marx and Engels held that the broad scope of the popular
movement in Italy offered the opportunity of achieving the
unification of Italy in a democratic way. They assessed Garibaldi’s
successes as evidence of the superiority of Italy’s revolutionary-
democratic forces over the aristocratic and bourgeois monarchist
camp that had assembled round Piedmont. Marx and Engels also
considered Garibaldi’s victories in the light of their positive inter-
national repercussions, and the revolutionary response that they
had evoked among the masses in the European countries. The
operations of Garibaldi’s revolutionary army not only disrupted
the plans of the Italian liberal-monarchist circles and the Savoyan
dynasty; they also struck at the hopes nurtured by France’s
Bonapartist rulers of bringing Italy under its control. In the article
“Interesting from Sicily.—Garibaldi’s Quarrel with La Farina.—A
Letter from Garibaldi”, Marx joyfully reported the expulsion of
Piedmont’s agent La Farina from a Sicily liberated by Garibaldi’s
forces. Marx believed that if the movement retained “its pure
popular character”, and Garibaldi prevented Piedmont’s ruling
circles from intervening, it might lead to “rescuing Italy, not only
from its old tyrants and divisions, but also from the clutches of the
new French protectorate” (this volume, p. 422).

At the same time Marx and Engels were quite sober in assessing
the complexity of the situation and the development of events.
The liberal-monarchist circles of Piedmont were preparing, in the
event of Garibaldi’s campaign proving successful, to snatch the
fruits of his victory and bring about the unification of Italy by
dynastic means. Despite the hopes cherished by Marx and Engels,
this was what happened, in the shape of the creation of the Italian
monarchy headed by Victor Emmanuel 11, the King of Piedmont.

A number of articles published in this volume are devoted to
Germany, and more specifically to Prussia, one of the leading
states of the German Confederation. In considering the principal
task confronting Germany-—the country’s national unification—
Marx and Engels developed ideas that they had already voiced in
their articles of the Italian war period. The need for the
unification of Germany sprang from the country’s whole internal
development and answered the demands of economic and social
progress. In upholding the revolutionary-democratic way of
solving this problem, Marx and Engels believed that only a
movement involving the whole people could paralyse the opposi-
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tion of the Prussian and Austrian counter-revolutionary elements.
The elimination of the relics of the feudal-absolutist system, they
concluded, would create favourable conditions for developing the
productive forces, for social progress and rallying and organising
the proletariat. “To withstand encroachments from without,”
Marx wrote, “or realise unity and liberty at home, she [Germany]
must clear her own house of its dynastic landlords” (this volume,
p- 487). Marx exposed the Prussian ruling circles’ schemes for
uniting the country under their aegis without any changes in its
internal system by introducing and employing Prussian police and
bureaucratic practices throughout the country. Opposing these plans
for the Prussianisation of Germany, Marx wrote that “after the blow
dealt to Austria [in the Italian war, 1859], Germany stands in need of
a similar blow being dealt to Prussia, in order to get rid of ‘both the
houses’” (this volume, p. 378). In the article “Public Feeling in
Berlin” and in other articles Marx dealt with the internal situation in
Prussia. He ridiculed the sham liberalism of the Prince Regent (the
future king William), the first years of whose reign—from
1858—had been proclaimed by the liberals as the beginning of a
“new era”, and regarded the government’s manoeuvres as only a
nominal rejection of “the old reactionary system of mingled
feudalism and bureaucratism”. In reality, he pointed out, the
Prussian ruling circles had no intention of removing “the
bureaucratic and police shackles” (this volume, p. 367, 368).
The articles published in this volume throw light on the
beginnings of the constitutional conflict in Prussia between the
liberal majority of the lower Chamber and the government, a
conflict over the government plan for reorganising the army. The
Bill was rejected by the Chamber, although it sanctioned the
allocations “for putting the army into a state fit to encounter the
dangers apprehended from without”. The government launched
the reform without the consent of the Provincial Diet. Marx and
Engels saw the far-reaching consequences of this policy of the
Prussian ruling circles, who were intent on militarising the country
and creating an army “trained to passive obedience, drilled into a
mere instrument of the dynasty which owns it as its property and
uses it according to its caprice” (this volume, pp. 495, 496).
Marx and Engels denounced the conciliatory tactics of the
German liberal bourgeoisie and also the bourgeois and petty-
bourgeois democrats. They pointed to the timidity and inconsis-
tency of their opposition to the government, their readiness to
make concessions, and their actual orientation towards the
unification of Germany round monarchical Prussia. In his article
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“Preparations for War in Prussia” Engels pointed out ironically that
the only retort from these “mock representatives” of the people to
the government’s military reform launched without the sanction of
the Provincial Diet would be “some low grumbling, pickled with
fervent assertions of dynastic loyalty, and unbounded confidence in
the Cabinet” (this volume, p. 495).

Some of the articles included in this volume fill in the details of
the picture of the Second Empire presented in Herr Vogt. They
focus on the counter-revolutionary essence of the Bonapartist
regime, the internal situation in France, and the mainsprings of
the adventurist foreign policy pursued by its rulers. In his articles
“Affairs in France”, “Events in Syria.—Session of the British
Parliament.— The State of British Commerce”, and others, Marx
showed that behind the growth of foreign trade and the spread of
the railways, there were signs of the rapid economic collapse of
the Second Empire—the fifty per cent increase in the national debt,
the threat of financial bankruptcy, the decline of agriculture and the
ruination of the peasantry. “The Empire itself,” he wrote, “is the
great incubus whose burden grows in a greater ratio than the
productive powers of the French nation” (this volume, p. 333). The
instability of the Bonapartist regime was becoming increasingly
apparent and “the rebellious spirit of Gaul is rekindling from its
cinders”. The rulers of the Second Empire, as always, saw the way
out of the crisis in foreign-policy adventures. This was what gave rise
to the plan for “some fresh and thrilling crusade, to plunge his
Empire again into the Lethe of war-hallucinations”. This was the
purpose of Napoleon III’s colonial expedition to Syria (this volume,
pp- 431, 430).

Marx exposed the annexationist plans of the Bonaparust circles
with regard to the left bank of the Rhine, and also the
demagoguery of their promises to assist in furthering the
unification of the North German states around Prussia in return
for the cession of the Rhineland to France (see “Preparations for
Napoleon’s Coming War on the Rhine”, “The Emperor Napoleon
IIT and Prussia”, “Interesting from Prussia”, and others).

Economic problems and also the internal development of
Britain, Austria and Russia, and the situation in the colonial world,
figure among the themes of the journalistic writings included in this
volume, and the ideas expressed on these questions in previous years
are developed in many of them.

In some of his articles Marx analysed the state of the British
economy and against this background considered the general
economic condition of the bourgeois world. In two surveys entitled
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“British Commerce” Marx noted that one of the peculiar features
of the capitalist economy was the involvement of distant regions of
the globe in world trade and the interdependence of the economic
processes going on in the world. These problems are also treated
in Marx’s articles on the Anglo-French trade agreement of 1860.

In his reviews on “The State of British Manufacturing
Industry” Marx used official data—the reports of the factory
inspectors—to analyse the mechanism of the industrial system and
the various forms of the exploitation of the working class.
Specifically, he pointed out that child labour was being widely used
in British factories although Britain was at the time an advanced
industrial country. In breach of laws already passed to restrict the
use of child labour, the so-called apprentice system had been revived.
Agreements were being made between manufacturers and boards of
guardians for the employment of destitute children who had no
other means of subsistence. In some industries (at the calico-
printing, dyeing and bleaching factories), Marx observed, the
working day of women and children of tender age was virtually
unlimited and they toiled 14-15 hours a day while their real wages
tended to decrease. The industrial accident rate was appalling and
safety regulations were applied at by no means all factories (this
volume, pp. 416-18).

Marx and Engels were by this time paying more and more
attention to the situation in Russia. They attached tremendous
importance to the Russian peasant movement for the abolition of
serfdom and regarded this movement as a massive reserve for the
European revolution (see Marx’s letter to Engels of January 11,
1860, present edition, Vol. 41). In his article *“Russia Using
Austria.— The Meeting at Warsaw” Marx delves into the position
of the various classes of Russian society on the eve of the
imminent abolition of serfdom and stresses the likelihood of a deal
between the Tsarist Government and the nobility in the interests of
the big landowners and at the expense of the broad masses of the
peasantry. He wrote that “an understanding ... has been arrived at
between the existing powers at the cost of the oppressed class” (this
volume, p. 486).

The above-mentioned article by Marx, Engels’ articles “The Sick
Man of Austria”, “Austria—Progress of the Revolution”, and
others examine the process of the decay of the Austrian Empire,
torn by internal contradictions and intensification of the national
liberation struggle of the peoples within its borders. Marx
associates the final disintegration of the Austrian Empire with
the German revolution, which, he believed, would have “one
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of its centers at Vienna and the other at Berlin” (this volume,
. 487).

P A number of works by Engels on military subjects have been
included in the volume. Engels continued his profound study of
the problems of military theory, specifically analysing the character
of revolutionary wars, the influence of the advance of military
technology on tactics and on the methods of warfare, and studying
the history of the making and perfection of various weapons. In
his articles on the Italian events Engels analysed the campaigns of
Garibaldi’s volunteers in Sicily and Calabria from the military
point of view. In a series of articles “On Rifled Cannon” Engels
considered the development of artillery. His articles “Military
Reform in Germany”, “British Defenses” and “Could the French
Sack London?” deal with military problems in connection with
international relations and the mounting military conflicts. The
article “The British Volunteer Force” discusses the class composi-
tion of volunteer troops.

* ok 3k

The volume comprises 45 works by Marx and Engels, including
Marx’s Herr Vogt, 35 articles written for the New-York Daily
Tribune (some of them were reprinted in its special issues, the
New-York Semi-Weekly Tribune and the New-York Weekly Tribune)
and 9 letters and statements that Marx sent to the editors of
various newspapers. There are 8 works that appear in English for
the first time— Herr Vogt and 7 letters and statements sent by
Marx to the newspapers. The other works originally written in
English had not been reprinted since their publication in 1860.
One of Marx’s statements (written in English) was never published
in his lifetime.

In the section “From the Preparatory Materials” there appear
for the first time in English the passages that Marx copied from
Szab6’s book The State Policy of Modern Europe, from the Beginning of
the Sixteenth Century to the Present Time.

In preparing the present volume for the press the sources used
by Marx were checked and the necessary corrections made. In
quoting the works of other authors Marx sometimes ran para-
graphs together, omitted authors’ italics and introduced his own.
He also abridged some passages and gave only a general summing
up of their content. The present volume retains Marx’s form of
quotation. The most substantial changes are indicated in footnotes
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and passages left out of quotations are indicated by omission
marks in square brackets. For the convenience of the readers some
additional paragraphing has been introduced; obvious misprints
have been silendy corrected.

In studying the historical material quoted in Marx’s and Engels’
articles, it must be borne in mind that they made use of
newspaper information which in a number of cases proved to be
inaccurate.

In cases where an article has no title, the editors have provided
one which is given in square brackets. ‘

The volume was compiled and the text prepared by Tatyana
Yeremeyeva, who also wrote the preface and notes. Chapter XII
of the pamphlet Herr Vogt and the section “From the Preparatory
Matenals” were prepared by Marina Vaninskaya, who also
compiled the name index and the indexes of quoted and
mentioned literature and of periodicals. The subject index was
compiled by Marlen Arzumanov. The editor of the volume was
Lev Churbanov (Institute of Marxism-Leninism of the CC CPSU).

The publishers express their gratitude to the editors of Marx/
Engels, Gesamtausgabe—MEGA, Bd. 18, erste Abteilung (Institute
of Marxism-Leninism of the CC, Socialist Unity Party of Ger-
many), for the loan of materials used in preparing the volume.

The translations were made by Rodney Livingstone and edited
by Nicholas Jacobs (Lawrence & Wishart), Salo Ryazanskaya,
Yelena Chistyakova, Victor Schnittke (Progress Publishers) and
Vladimir Mosolov, scientific editor (Institute of Marxism-Leninism
of the CC CPSU).

The volume was prepared for the press by the editor Lyudgarda
Zubrilova and the assistant editor Natalya Belskaya (Progress
Publishers).
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Karl Marx

[LETTER TO THE EDITOR
OF THE ALLGEMEINE ZEITUNG]'

October 19, 1859, 9 Grafton Terrace,
Maitland Park,
Haverstock Hill, London?

Sir,

As long as I had a hand in the German press I attacked the
Allgemeine Zeitung and the Allgemeine Zeitung attacked me.
However, this does not of course prevent me from assisting the
Allgemeine Zeitung, as far as it lies in my power, in a case in which
it has in my view fulfilled the primary duty of the press: that of
the denunciation of humbug.” The enclosed document would be a
legal document here in London.c I do not know whether it is the
same in Augsburg. I have procured the said document because
Blind refused to stand by the statement which he had made to me
and others, which I passed on to Liebknecht, and which allowed the
latter no doubts about the denunciation contained in the anonymous
pamphlet.

Yours very sincerely,
Dr. K. Marx¢

Published in the Allgemeine Zeitung, Printed according to the news-
No. 300, October 27, 1859 paper

Published in English for the first
time

a The Allgemeine Zeitung of October 27, 1859, in which this letter was
published, gives the address inaccurately: “I. Grafton Terrace, Quai, Haydpark,
Haverstock Hill, London.” In the issue of November 21, which carried Marx’s
“Declaration” (see this volume, pp. 8-9), the address is given correctly.— Ed.

b Marx uses the English word.— Ed.

¢ This refers to the statement by the compositor Vogele to the effect that the
pamphlet Zur Warnung was written in Blind’s hand (see this volume, pp.
123-25.).— Ed.

d See this volume, pp. 122-24.— Ed.

€ “Editor of the former Rheinische Zeitung” (footnote added by the editors of
the Aligemeine Zeitung).— '



Karl Marx

[STATEMENT TO THE EDITORS OF DIE REFORM,
THE VOLKS-ZEITUNG AND THE ALLGEMEINE
ZEITUNG]?

London, November 7, 1859

I see from a copy of Der Freischiitz, No. 132, which a friend has
sent me from Hamburg, that Eduard Meyen has felt obliged to
place his unequivocally decisive weight into the scales of the Vogt
affair®* The horse-power, or should I say, the donkey-power® of
his logic is concentrated in the great thesis: that because he was a
friend of Blind, and because Blind failed to send him a copy of
the anonymous pamphlet, the original document I had sent to the
Augsburg Allgemeine Zeitung must of necessity be a falsehood. In
his sly little way he takes good care, of course, not to say this
directly; he says it indirectly.

Incdentally, I wish that Herr Eduard Meyen would provide
evidence to prove that my time is valueless enough to be
squandered in attacks on the German vulgar democrats.

At the end of 1850 I broke off all relations with the German
emigration in London, which really did collapse once 1 had pulled
from under it the one thing that had held it together: its
antagonism towards me. The process of dissolution was hastened,
above all, by the industry of such agents as Meyen who, for
example, publicly agitated against the Ruge faction on behalf of
the Kinkel faction. In the nine years that have meanwhile elapsed,
1 have been a constant contributor to the New-York Tribune, a
paper with 200,000 subscribers and hence a reading public
roughly approximate to that of Der Freischiitz. Have 1 ever even so
much as mentioned the name of a single one of the German

a This refers to the item marked **, “Der Process Carl Vogts gegen die
Augsburger Allg. Ztg.”, Der Freischiitz, No. 132, November 3, 1859 — Ed.
b Marx uses the English expressions “horse-power™ and “donkey-power”.— Ed.
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vulgar democrats, or spent even so much as a single word on any
of the despicable attacks that these men of honour have heaped
upon my head in the German and especially the German-
American press over the past five years?

During this time I did indeed attack, although I did not slander,
“great democrats” of the sort that were dutifully admired by Herr
Eduard Meyen. Such as the great democrat Lord Palmerston.* My
offence was all the more unforgivable because my “slanders” were
reprinted not merely by English papers of the most diverse
political tendendes—from the Chartist People’s Paper to The Free
Press of Mr. Urquhart—out also as a pamphlet at least 15,000
copies of which were produced in London, Sheffield and Glasgow
without any prompting by me. During that same period,
moreover, I denounced the great democrat Louis Bonaparte, first
in a work in German (Der achizehnte Brumaire des Louis Bonaparte),
which was confiscated at all the German fronters, but which
circulated in considerable numbers in the United States and which
appeared in extract in the then London organ of Chartism? I
have continued this “slander” of the “great democrat” Bonaparte
in the Tribune to this day in the form of analyses of his financial
system, his diplomacy, his warfare and his idées napoléoniennes*
Louis Bonaparte has sent the New-York Times a public statement
in gratitude© for its opposition to these “slanders”. Seven years
ago I even denounced the “great democrat” Sueber in the
Revelations Concerning the Communist Trial® which was pulped at
the fronter of Baden and Switzerland. Herr Meyen will surely
give me credit for that. Such slander is democratic nowadays since
it takes place “with the permission of the high authorities”. But
my frequent errors in timing are revealed not only by the organ of
Herr Eduard Meyen, but also by that of Herr Joseph Dumont in
Cologne. When in 1848 and 1849 I took the liberty of coming out
for the cause of the Hungarian, Italian and Polish nationalities in
the Neue Rheinische Zeitung, who raged and foamed at the mouth
more than the organ of Herr Joseph Dumont in Cologne? But at
that ume, of course, no Louis Napoleon Bonaparte had given his
“liberal” blessing to the cause of these nationalities. That the

2 The reference is to Marx’s pamphlet Lord Palmerston (see present edition, Vol.
12)—Ed.

)" The Eighieenth Brumaire of Louis Bonaparte (see present edition, Vol. 11).— Ed.

¢ Instead of Dankschreiben (message of grattude) Die Reform has Denkschreiben
(memorandum), presumably a misprint.— Ed.

d See present edition, Vol. 11.—Ed.
v Kalnische Zeitung.— Ed.
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former editors of the Neue Rheinische Zeitung have remained true
to their opinions is known even to the erstwhile Herr Joseph
Dumont, now Giuseppe Delmonte, from Frederick Engels’ pamn-
phlet Po and Rhine* which appeared at the start of the war. But as
for Eduard Meyen’s democracy “in its narrower sense”, I have
ignored it for nine years and have only on two occasions, quite
recently, broken my silence. The first time was to attack Kossuth
and the second was in criticism of Herr Gottfried Kinkel. I did in
fact make a number of marginal comments of a purely grammati-
cal nature on Kinkel’s aesthetic effusions in the Hermann, and 1
published them in Das Volk. This was the only thing which I did write
for Das Volk, apart from an article on the Peace of Villafranca under
the title “Quid pro quo”.” But in the eyes of Eduard Meyen, a “good
democrat” is doubtless just as justified in violating the “despotic”
rules of syntax as in deserting from the republican camp to that ot
the royalists.

I now find myself at the end of this epistle in the opposite
difficulty to Hegel’s at the beginning of his Logic® He wanted to
advance from Being to Nothing, whereas I wish to move from
Nothing to Being, namely from Eduard Meyen to a real case, the
case of Vogt. To make it brief I ask Karl Blind the following
questions:

1. Did Blind impart to me information about Vogt on May 9 on
the platform of the Urquhart meeting, information whose
substance tallies precisely with that contained in the pamphlet Zur
Warnung?

2. Did Blind publish an anonymous article in the London Free
Press of May 27, bearing the title “The Grand Duke Constantine
to be King of Hungary”,® an article which, apart from the omission
of the name of Vogt, repeats the substance of the pamphlet Zur
Warnung?

3. Did Blind cause the above-mentioned pamphlet to be printed
at his expense in London in the print-shop of Herr F. Hollinger,
Litchfield Street, Soho?f

a See present edition, Vol. 16.— Ed.

b The reference is to Marx’s articles “Kossuth and Louis Napoleon”,
“Gatherings from the Press” and “Quid pro quo” (see present edition, Vol.
16).— Ed.

¢ An allusion to Gottfried Kinkel's speech before the court martial in Rastatt on
August 4, 1849.— Ed.

d G. W. F. Hegel, Die Wissenschaft der Logik, Band 1, Abteilung 2, Berlin,
1833.— Ed.

€ See this volume, pp. 122-23.—Ed.

f See this volume, pp. 116, 122, 123-24.— Ed.
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Despite all the efforts of Meyen’s democracy to misrepresent
matters, and despite even that Great Unknown, the “outstanding
lawyer” of Herr Joseph Dumont, everything still turns on the
question: Who arranged for the pamphlet Zur Warnung to be
printed? The only reason why the Augsburg Allgemeine Zeitung is
being sued is the fact that this pamphlet was reprinted there. The
only accusations of which Vogt feels compelled to clear his name
in the eyes of the world are those contained in this pamphlet. The
publisher of the pamphlet has, as Robert Peel would have said,
three courses open to himself. Either he has knowingly lied. I do
not believe this of Karl Blind. Or else he subsequently became
convinced that the information which justified his printing the
pamphlet was false. In that case he is under an even greater
obligation to supply an explanation. Or, finally, he holds the proof
in his hand, but wishes for private reasons of his own to hush the
whole business up and endures with magnanimous resignation the
rotten eggs that are hurled not at himself, but at me. But must not
all private considerations lapse in such a vital matter as the need to
throw light on the relations between the German Imperial Regent
in partibus® and the Emperor of the French de facto?

Karl Marx
Published in the supplement to Die Re- Printed according to the news-
form, No. 139, November 19, 1859 paper
Published in English for the first
time

a This phrase is in English in the original.— Ed.

b In partibus infidelium—literally: in parts inhabited by infidels. The words are
added to the title of Roman Catholic bishops holding purely nominal dioceses in
non-Christian countries. Here the expression means “only in word”.— Ed.

2-1305



Karl Marx

DECLARATION?®

Vogt, who knows the people he has to deal with, executed a
very cunning manoeuvre when he shifted the source of the
denunciation of himself from the so-called democratic camp into
the socialist one. But I for my part have no interest in aiding and
abetting this quid pro quo, and can therefore not permit Blind’s
declaration® in No. 313 of the Aligemeine Zeitung to go unan-
swered.

1. On May 9, on the platform of the Urquhart meeting, Blind
communicated to me all the accusations against Vogt contained in
the pamphlet Zur Warnung. He gave the same details to others, o
Freiligrath, for instance. Given the complete identity of both style
and substance between his verbal statement and the printed
pamphlet, he was naturally regarded as its author de prime abord.”

2. In the London Free Press of Mav 27, an anonymous article of
Blind’s appeared with the title “The Grand Duke Constantine to
be King of Hungary”, which in ail essentials anticipated the
pamphlet Zur Warnung. In that article Blind declared that he
knew of liberals in Germany and democrats in Lenden who had
been offered “large bribes” ¢ on behalf of Bonapartist propaganda.
While Vogt’s lawsuit was pending, I received a visit from Mr.
D. Collet, the responsible editor of The Free Press, who asked me at
Blind’s request to make no use of my knowledge concerning the

2 See this volume, pp. 125-26.— Ed.

b From the very outset.— Ed.

¢ See this volume, pp. 122-23.— Ed.

d Marx uses the English expression.— Ed.
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Declaration

authorship of the article in question. I replied to Mr. Collet—who
tound it quite appropriate—that I would not commit myself to
anything but that my discretion in the matter would rather
depend on Blind’s conduct.

3. Fidelio Hollinger’s declaration is simply ridiculous.* Fidelio
Hollinger is aware that he has formally infringed English law by
publishing the pampbhlet without declaring the place of publication. He
himself therefore issues a testimonial stating that he did not
commit the peccadillo in question. It so happened that the reprint
in Das Volk® was made from the type still standing in Hollinger’s
print-shop. Thus even without the need to call witnesses, a simple
comparison of the pamphlet and the reprint of it in Das Volk would
be sufficient to prove to a court that the former “came from
F. Hollinger’s print-shop”. The transfer of the trial from Augsburg
to London would, in general, resolve the entire Blind-Vogt mystére.

Karl Marx

November 15, 1859
9 Grafton Terrace, Maitland Park,
Haverstock Hill, London
Published in the supplement to the All- Printed according to the news-
gemeine Zeitung, No. 325, November 21, paper
1859

Published in English for the first

time

a See Carl Vogt, Mein Prozess gegen die Allgemeine Zeitung, Genf, 1859, Dokumente,
S. 38, and alsn this volume, p. 126 — Ed.
b Das Voik, No. 7, June 18, 1859. See also this volume, p. 119.— Ed.
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Karl Marx

PROSECUTION OF THE AUGSBURG GAZETTE®

TO THE EDITOR OF THE FREE PRESS

9 Grafton Terrace, Maitland Park,
Haverstock Hill,
London, 4th February, 1860

Sir,

You will remember that The Free Press of May 27th, 1859,
published an article headed: “The Grand Duke Constantine to be
King of Hungary.” In that article Mr. Vogt, of Geneva, although
not named, was pointed at, in a manner intelligible to the German
refugees, as a Bonapartist agent, who, on the outset of the Italian
war, had offered “large bribes” to Liberals in Germany, and
German Democrats in London. The writer gave vent to his intense
delight at the indignant repulse those attempts at bribery had met
with. Mr. Charles Blind 1 assert to be the author of that notice.
You can correct me if I am in error. Some time later, there
circulated in London an anonymous German pamphlet, entitled
Zur Warnung (a warning), which, in point of fact, may be
considered a reproduction of the article of The Free Press, only that
it gave fuller details and Vogt’s name. Having been reprinted in a
German London paper, entitled Das Volk* (The People); thence
the anonymous pamphlet found its way to the columns of the
Augsburger Allgemeine Zeitung® (The Augsburg Gazette), which,
consequently, was sued by Mr. Vogt for libel. Meanwhile I had
obtained from Mr. Vogele, a compositor then employed by Mr.
Hollinger, the publisher of Das Volk, a written declaration® to the
effect, that the pamphlet was printed in Hollinger’s office, and
drawn up by Mr. Charles Blind. This declaration, as I told you at
the time, was sent over to the Augsburg Gazeite. The Augsburg

a Das Volk, No. 7, June 18, 1859.— Ed.

b “K. Vogt und die deutsche Emigration in London”, Allgemeine Zeitung, No. 173
(supplement), June 22, 1859.— Ed.

¢ See this volume, pp. 3, 123-25.— Ed.
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tribunal having declined to decide the case, Mr. Blind at last came
out in the Augsburg Gazette* Not content with a point-blank denial
of his authorship of the anonymous pamphlet, he, in terms most
positive, declared the pamphlet not to have issued from Hollinger’s
printing office. In proof of this latter statement, he laid before the
public a declaration® signed by Hollinger himself, and one Wiehe,
a compositor, who, as he said, had for eleven months been
continuously employed by Hollinger. To this joint declaration of
Blind, Hollinger and Wiehe I replied in the Augsburg Gazette®; but
Blind, in his turn, repeated his denial, and again referred to the
testimony of Hollinger and Wiehe.? Vogt, who, from the begin-
ning, and for purposes of his own, had designed me as the secret
author of the pamphlet, then published a brochure® full of the most
infamous calumnies against myself.

Now, before taking any further step, I want to show up the
fellows who evidently have played into the hands of Vogt. I,
therefore, publicly declare that the statement of Blind, Wiehe and
Hollinger, according to which the anonymous pamphlet was not
printed in Hollinger’s office, 3, Litchfield Street, Soho, is a
deliberate lie. First, Mr. Vogele, one of the compositors, formerly
employed by Hollinger, will declare upon oath that the said
pamphlet was printed in Hollinger’s office, was written in the
hand-writing of Mr. Blind, and partly composed by Hollinger
himself. Secondly, it can be judicially proved that the pamphlet
and the article in Das Volk, have been taken off the same types.
Thirdly, it will be shown that Wiehe was not employed by
Hollinger for eleven consecutive months, and, especially, was not
employed by him at the time of the pamphlet’s publication. Lastly,
witnesses may be summoned in whose presence Wiehe himself
confessed having been persuaded by Hollinger to sign the wilfully
false declaration in the Augsburg Gazette. Consequently, 1 again
-declare the above said Charles Blind to be a deliberate liar.

If T am wrong, he may easily confound me by appealing to an
English Court of Law.

Karl Marx

Published as a pamphlet on February 4, Reproduced from the pamphlet
1860

a This refers to Karl Blind’s declaration dated “London, November 3” in the
Aligemeine Zeitung, No. 313, November 9, 1859.— Ed.

b jbid. See also this volume, p. 126.— Ed.

< See this volume, pp. 8-9.—Ed.

d The Allgemeine Zeitung, No. 345, December 11, 1859.— Ed.

e Carl Vogt, Mein Prozess....—Ed.
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Karl Marx

TO THE EDITORS OF THE VOLKS-ZEITUNG

DECLARATION’

I hereby make it known that I have taken steps preparatory to
instituting legal proceedings for libel against the Berlin National-
Zeitung in connection with the leading articles in Nos. 37 and 41*
regarding Vogt's pamphlet Mein Prozess gegen die Allgemeine
Zeitung. 1 reserve the right to answer Vogt in writing at a later date
since this requires putting a number of questions to people not at
present in Europe.

For the moment then I shall say only this:

1. To judge by the anthology in the National-Zeitung—strangely
the book itself has up to now been unobtainable in London either
from booksellers or the acquaintances to whom Herr Vogt had
earlier sent his so-called Studien”— Vogt's concoction is merely the
elaboration of a sketch that he published nine months ago in his
private Moniteur, the Biel Handels-CourierS At the time I had his
lampoon published in London without comment. Such a simple
procedure was sufficient here, where the situations and per-
sonalities are well known, to provide a judgment on the Herr
Professor. '

2. The pretext which led Herr Vogt to launch his campaign
against me, like the pretext for the Italian campaign, was an
“idea”. 1 was alleged to be the author of the anonymous pamphlet
Zur Warnung. From the enclosed circular® in English, which 1 have
had published here, you will see that I have taken steps to compel

2 “Karl Vogt und die Allgemeine Zeitung” and “Wie man radikale Flugblitter
macht”, National-Zeitung, Nos. 37 and 41, January 22 and 25, 1860.— Ed.

b Carl Vogt, Studien zur gegenwdrtigen Lage Europas, Genf und Bern, 1859.— Ed.

¢ An allusion to Vogt's article “Zur Warnung” in the Schweizer Handels-Courier,
No. 150 (special supplement), June 2, 1859.— Ed.

d See this volume, pp. 10-11.— Ed.
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Herr Blind and consorts either to concede the falseness of that

pretext by their silence, or to be convicted of it by an English
court.

Karl Marx
February 6, 1860
9 Grafton Terrace, Maitland Park,
Haverstock Hill, London
Published in the Volks-Zeitung, No. 35, Printed according to the Volks-
February 10, 1860; in the supplement to Zeitung checked with the manu-
the Kolnische Zeitung, No. 41, February script
10, 1860; in Die Reform, No. 18, February . . o .
11, 1860; in the supplement to the Published in English for the first
Allgemeine Zeitung, No. 48, February 17, time

1860 (with alterations)2 and in other
German papers

2 The manuscript of this declaration in the Allgemeine Zeitung written in Jenny
Marx’s hand and a covering note in Marx’s handwriting have been preserved.— Ed.
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Karl Marx

TO THE EDITOR OF THE DAILY TELEGRAPH®

In your to-day’s impression you publish, under the title: *“The
Journalistic Auxiliaries of Austria”, a letter full of libellous and
scandalous imputations against my person. That letter, purporting
to be written at Frankfort on the Main, but probably indited at
Berlin, is, in point of fact, but a clumsy amplification of two
articles contained in the Berlin National-Zeitung d.d. January 22
and January 25, which paper will have to give account of its®
calumnies before a Prussian Court of Law. The false pretext, upon
which Vogt launched his libel against me, is the assertion that I
am the author of the anonymous German pamphlet: Zur Warnung
(a warning), first circulated at London, and afterwards reprinted
in the Augsburg Allgemeine Zeitung.® From the inclosed print© you
will see that I have provoked my adversaries to bring this point to
a judicial issue before an English Court of Law.

In conclusion, if you do not prefer being sued for libel, I
request you to make in your next number an amende honorablef for
the recklessness with which you dare vilifying a man of whose

2 See this volume, p. 12— Ed.

b Marx has “his”.— Ed.

¢ Carl Vogt, Mein Prozess....—Ed.

d “K. Vogt und die deutsche Emigration in London”, Aligemeine Zeitung, No.
173 (supplement), June 22, 1859.— Ed.

¢ See this volume, pp. 12-13.— Ed.

! Apology.— Ed.
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personal character, political past, literary productions, and social
standing, you cannot but confess to be utterly ignorant.

Your obedient servant,
Dr. Karl Marx

February 6, 1860
9 Grafton Terrace, Maitland Park,
Haverstock Hill, London

First published in Russian in: K. Marx Printed according to the rough
and F. Engels, Works, Vol. XXV, Moscow, copy of the English original
1934
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Karl Marx

TO THE EDITORS
OF THE AUGSBURG ALLGEMEINE ZEITUNG

February 21, 1860
6 Thorncliffe Grove,
Oxford Road, Manchester
Personal
In one of the two letters dated October 16, 1859 which I have
received from the editors of the Augsburg Allgemeine Zeitung, it
says literally:

“You may rest assured of our particular gratitude whenever the occasion should
present itself for us, highly esteemed Sir, to express to you our thanks.”

That I neither desired nor expected either “thanks” or
“particular gratitude” from the Augsburg Allgemeine Zeitung is
made perfectly plain in my reply of October 19.* What I did
expect, however, in this particular matter, was at least the common
fairness® which no English paper, regardless of its shade of
opinion, ever ventures to refuse.

The “particular gratitude” and the ‘“thanks” are actually
expressed in the following manner:

1. My first declaration® was not printed at all. There appeared
instead Blind’s impertinent statement? together with two false
pieces of evidence obtained by conspiracy.® Die Reform in
Hamburg published my declaration without delay.

2. In the case of my reply to Blind I had to resort to douce
violence' to secure its insertion.® And even then it did not appear,

2 See this volume, p. 3.—Ed.

b Marx uses the English phrase.— Ed.

© See this volume, pp. 4-7.— Ed.

d The Allgemeine Zeitung, No. 313, November 9, 1859.— Ed.
¢ Marx uses the English word.— Ed.

f Gentle pressure.— Ed.

g See this volume, pp. 8-9.— Ed.
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as I had demanded in all fairness, in the same place as Blind’s
attack, namely in the main portion of the paper.

3. The Augsburg Allgemeine Zeitung then printed a second
declaration by Blind? in which he had the effrontery to speak of
barefaced lies and to appeal yet again to the criminally liable
testimony of Wiehe and Hollinger. The paper then declared the
correspondence closed and so denied me the right to reply.

4. On February 6 I sent my final declaration together with the
English circular® to the Augsburg Allgemeine Zeitung. The highly
esteemed editorial board pushed it to one side and instead
published Blind’s declaration® which had only come into being as the
consequence of my circular. They naturally took good care not to
publish the billet doux this great diplomat had enclosed. They also
published Biscamp’s declaration,? dated three days later than mine
(viz., London, February 9). Finally, having convinced themselves of
the fact that my declaration had long since been printed by the
Kaolnische Zeitung, the Volks-Zeitung, etc., they resolve on publica-
tion,* but—they also take upon themselves the endearing liberty
of censoring me and making arbitrary alterations. In Cologne in
1842-43 1 suffered from the twofold Royal Prussian censorship,’
but never imagined that in the year 1860 I would in addition fall
victim to the censorship of Herr Dr. Kolb & Co.

I consider that more specific characterisation of these methods is
utterly pointless.

K. Marx
First published in Russian in: K. Marx Printed according to the original
and F. Engels, Works, Vol. XXV, Moscow, 5 i i .
1934 Published in English for the first

time

a2 The Allgemeine Zeitung, No. 345 (supplement), December 11, 1859.— Ed.

b See this volume, pp. 10-13.—Ed.

¢ Karl Blind, “Gegen Karl Vogt”, Allgemeine Zeitung, No. 44 (supplement),
February 13, 1860.— Ed.

d Elard Biscamp, “Erklirung”, Allgemeine Zeitung, No. 46 (supplement),
February 15, 1860.— Ed.

¢ See this volume, pp. 12-13.— Ed.
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Karl Marx

[TO THE EDITORS OF DIE REFORM]"

For Information

With regard to the effusions of Herr Eduard Meyen in Der
Freischiitz, Nos. 17 to 21,* 1 would say only this:

The libel action I am conducting against the Berlin National-
Zeitung will achieve all that is necessary to provide a legal
clarification of Vogt's pamphlet.” His associate Eduard Meyen
cannot lay claim to a like honour. The only thing I can do for
Eduard Meyen is to assign to him a niche appropriate to his
dimensions in the pamphlet which is due to appear after the
conclusion of the court proceedings.

Karl Marx
Manchester, February 28, 1860
Published in Die Reform, No. 29, March Printed according to the news-
7, 1860 paper
Published in English for the first
time

2 The reference is to Eduard Meyen’s article “Carl Vogts Kampf gegen die
Augsburger Allgem. Zeitung und die Marxianer”, Der Freischiitz, Nos. 17-21,
February 9, 11, 14, 16 and 18, 1860.— Ed.

b Carl Vogt, Mein Prozess...—Ed.
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Karl Marx

DECLARATION "

At the beginning of February 1860 the editorial board of the
Allgemeine Zeitung were kind- enough to publish a declaration by
myself which began with these words:

“I hereby make it known that I have taken steps preparatory to
mstituting legal proceedings for libel against the Berlin National-
Zeitung in connection with the leading articles in Nos. 37 and 41
regarding Vogt's pamphlet Mein Prozess gegen die Allgemeine
Zeitung. 1 reserve the right to answer Vogt in writing at a later
date.”*®

In the course of February 1860 I brought a libel suit in Berlin
against F. Zabel, the responsible editor of the National-Zeitung. My
lawyer, Legal Counsellor Weber, resolved at first on an official
investigation. With a ruling of April 18, 1860 the Public Prosecutor
refused to “take action” against F. Zabel, on the grounds that
there was no public interest involved. On April 26, 1860 his refusal
was confirmed by the Chief Public Prosecutor.

My lawyer then began civil proceedings. The Royal Municipal
Court in a ruling of June 8, 1860 prohibited me from proceeding
with my lawsuit on the grounds that the genuinely defamatory
“utterances and statements” of F. Zabel's were merely quotations
from other persons, and that the “intention to insult” was not
present. The Royal Court of Appeal for its part declared in a ruling
of July 11, 1860 that the alleged use of quotation did not affect
the culpability of the articles, but that the defamatory passages
contained in them did not refer to my “person”. Furthermore, “in
the present case” the intention to insult “could not be assumed”.

a See this volume, p. 12.—Ed.



20 Karl Marx

Thus the Royal Court of Appeal confirmed the negative ruling of
the Municipal Court. In a ruling of October 5, 1860, which 1
received on October 23 of this year, the Royal Supreme Tribunal
found that “in the present case” no “legal error” on the part of the
Royal Court of Appeal “could be discerned”. The prohibition on suing
F. Zabel was thus sustained and my claim did not reach the stage
of being accorded a public hearing.
My reply to Vogt will appear in a few days.

; Karl Marx
London, November 24, 1860
Published in the supplement to the All- Printed according to the news-
gemeine Zeitung, No. 336, December 1, paper
1860

Published in English for the first
time
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PREFACE

Under the date “London, February 6, 18607, I published a
declaration® in the Berlin Volks-Zeitung, the Hamburg Reform and
a number of other German papers, which began with these words:

“I hereby make it known that I have taken steps preparatory to
instituting legal proceedings for libel against the Berlin National-
Zeitung in connection with the leading articles in Nos. 37 and 41
regarding Vogts pamphlet, Mein Prozess gegen die Allgemeine
Zeitung. I reserve the right to answer Vogt in writing at a later
date.”

The present publication will make it clear why I chose to answer
Karl Vogt in writing, while challenging the National-Zeitung
through the courts.

During February 1860 I went ahead with the libel action against
the National-Zeitung” On October 23 of this year, after the case
had gone through four preliminary stages, 1 received a ruling
from the Royal Prussian Supreme Tribunal definitively refusing
me permission to put my case and so dismissing my action before
it could be heard in open court. Had the latter come to pass, as I
had a right to expect, I would have been spared the necessity of
writing the first third of the present pamphlet. A straightforward
reproduction of the verbatim report of the court proceedings
would have been quite sufficient and I would have been spared
the hateful task of having to answer accusations directed at my

a See this volume, pp. 12-13.— Ed.
b See Marx's letters to Legal Counsellor Weber dated February 13, 21 and 24,
1860 (present edition, Vol. 41), and this volume, pp. 19-20.— Ed.
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own person and therefore of having to speak about myself. I have
always taken such pains to avoid this that Vogt could well expect
his cock-and-bull stories to have some success. However, sunt certi
denique fines? Vogt's concoction, summarised by the National-
Zeitung in its own fashion, accused me of a series of dishonourable
actions which require a literary refutation now that the road to a
public rebuttal in the courts has been definitively barred. But even
apart from this consideration, which left me no alternative, I had
other reasons, since in any case I had to deal with Vogt’s tall
stories about me and my party comrades, for examining them in
greater detail. On the one hand, there was the almost unanimous
jubilation with which the so-called liberal German press greeted
his alleged revelations. On the other hand, the analysis of his
concoction presented me with the opportunity to dissect an
individual who stands for a whole trend.

My reply to Vogt has forced me in a number of places to expose
a partie honteuse® in the history of the emigration. In doing so I
am only making use of the right to “self-defence”. Moreover,
except for a few persons, the emigration can be reproached with
nothing worse than indulging illusions that were more or less
justified by the circumstances of the period, or perpetrating follies
which arose necessarily from the extraordinary situation in which
it unexpectedly found itself. I am speaking here, of course, only
of the early years of the emigration. A comparative history, say
from 1849 to 1859, of governments and of bourgeois society on
the one hand and the emigration on the other, would constitute
the most outstanding apologia of the latter that could possibly be
written. .

I know in advance that the same astute men who shook their
heads sagely at the importance of Vogt’s “revelations”, when his
concoction first appeared, will now be unable to comprehend why
I am wasting my time refuting his childish allegations; while the
“liberal” pen-pushers who gloatingly took up Vogt’s common-
places and worthless lies and hastened to hawk them around the
German, Swiss, French and American press will now find my
mode of dealing with themselves and their hero outrageously
offensive. But never mind!¢

The political and legal aspects of the present work require no
prefatory comment. I would only make one point to avoid possible

2 There are certain limits after all (Horace, Satires, Book I, Satire 1).— Ed.
b A disgraceful affair.— Ed.
¢ Marx uses the English phrase.— Ed.
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misunderstandings: men who even before 1848 agreed that the
independence of Poland, Hungary and Italy has to be upheld not
only as the right of the nations concerned, but also in the interests
of Germany and Europe, came to advance wholly opposed ideas
about the tactics to be adopted by Germany wvis-a-vis Louis
Bonaparte in connection with the Italian war of 1859." This clash
of opinions sprang from conflicting assessments of the facts of the
underlying situation which it will be the prerogative of a later age to
resolve. For my part, I am concerned here only with the opintons
of Vogt and his clique. Even the views he claimed to uphold, and
in the fantasy of an uncritical rabble did uphold, actually fall
outside the scope of my criticism. I deal only with the views he
really upheld.

In conclusion I wish to express my sincere gratitude for the
ready assistance I have received while writing this pamphlet, not
only from long-standing friends in the party, but also from many
members of the emigration in Switzerland, France and England
with whom I had earlier not been at all close and some of whom 1
still do not personally know.

London, November 17, 1860
Karl Marx
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1

THE BRIMSTONE GANG

Clarin: Malas pastillas gasta; .......

..................... hase untado
Con ungliento de azufre.
(Calderén)?

The “well-rounded character” as the barrister Hermann so
delicately described his spherical client, the hereditary Vogt of
Noughtborough,” to the District Court in Augsburg, the “well-
rounded character” begins his enormous travesty of history© as
follows:

“Among the refugees of 1849 the term Brimstone Gang, or else the no less

characteristic name of the Bristlers,d referred to a number of people who after
being scattered throughout Switzerland, France and England gradually congre-
gated in London, and there they revered Herr Marx as their visible leader. The
political principle of these fellows was the dictatorship of the proletariat, etc.”
(Mein Prozess gegen die Allgemeine Zeitung by Karl Vogt, Geneva, December 1859,
p. 136). '
The “Magnum Opus” ' into which this momentous piece of
information had found its way appeared in December 1859. Eight
months earlier, however, in May 1859, our ‘“well-rounded
character” had published an article in the Biel Handels-Courier
which must be regarded as an outline of the more extensive
travesty of history. Let us consider the original text:

“Ever since the failure of the revolution of 1849,” so brags our Commis voyageur
from Biel, “a clique of refugees has gradually congregated in London, whose

2 He’s free with empty phrases; ... he has smeared himself with sulphur ointment
(El Madgico prodigioso, Act 2).— Ed.

b Here and below Marx puns on the phrase abgerundete Natur which can mean
both “a well-rounded character” (in the physical sense) and “an intellectually
mature character”. In his speech of October 24, 1859 the barrister Hermann used
the phrase in the latter sense (see Carl Vogt, Mein Prozess...,S. 17).— Ed.

¢ Cf. Johann Fischart, Affentheurliche, Naupengeheurliche Geschichtklitterung....—
Ed.

d See this volume, pp. 38-40.— Ed.
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members were in those days (1) known among the Swiss emigration as the ‘Bristlers’
or the ‘Brimstone Gang’. Their leader is Marx, the former editor of the Rheinische
Zeitung in Cologne—their slogan, ‘Social Republic, Workers’ Dictatorship'—their
business, establishing contacts and hatching plots.” 2 (Reprinted in the “Magnum
Opus”, Section 3, Documents, No. 7, pp. 31, 32))

In the course of eight months the clique of refugees known as
the “Brimstone Gang” “among the Swiss emigration” has been
transformed for the benefit of a larger public into a mass
“scattered throughout Switzerland, France and England” and
known as the “ Brimstone Gang” “among the refugees” in general.
It is the old story of the men in buckram of Kendal green, told so
merrily by Karl Vogt's prototype, the immortal Sir John Falstaff,”
whose zoological reincarnation has forfeited nothing as to sub-
stance. The original text of our Commis voyageur from Biel makes it
quite obvious that both the “Brimstone Gang” and the “ Bristlers”
were local Swiss flora. Let us try and trace their natural history.

In February 1860, having learnt from friends that a refugee
association by the name of “Brimstone Gang” had indeed
flourished in Geneva in the years 1849-50 and that Herr
S. L. Borkheim, a well-situated merchant in the City of London,
could provide more exact information about the origins, growth
and decline of that ingenious association, I wrote to that
gentleman, who was not known to me at the time, and after a
personal meeting I received from him the following sketch which I
print without making any alterations.

“London, February 12, 1860
18 Union Grove, Wandsworth Road

“Dear Sir,

“Although, until three days ago, we had not met personally, despite having
lived for nine years in the same country, and for the most part in the same town,
you have rightly presumed that I, as a fellow-exile, would not refuse you the
information you require.

“Very well then, here is what I know about the ‘Brimstone Gang'

“In 1849, soon after we rebels had been forced out of Baden,!7 a number of
young men who as students, soldiers or businessmen had been on friendly terms in
Germany before 1848, or who had become so during the revolution, gathered
together in Geneva either of their own free will or else because they had been
directed there by the Swiss authorities.

“The refugees were not in a very rosy mood. The so-called political leaders
blamed each other for the failure; the military leaders criticised each other’s

a Karl Vogt, “Zur Warnung”, dated May 23, published in the Schweizer
Handels-Courier, No. 150 (special supplement), June 2, 1859. Sometimes Marx
ironically refers to this newspaper as the Biel Commis voyageur— Ed.

b Shakespeare, Henry IV, Part 1, Act II, Scene 4.— Ed.



30 Karl Marx

retrograde attacking movements, flanking manoeuvres and offensive withdrawals;
people began to call each other names such as bourgeois republicans, socialists and
communists; there was a flood of pamphlets, which did nothing to restore peace;
spies were thought to be everywhere and, in addition to all this, the clothes of the
majority gradually turned to rags and the signs of hunger could be seen on many
faces. In the midst of this misery the young people referred to above held together
in friendship. They were:

“Eduard Rosenblum, born in Odessa of German parents; he had studied
medicine in Leipzig, Berlin and Paris.

“Max Cohnheim from Fraustadt; he had been an office-boy, and on the
outbreak of the revolution, he was doing a year as a volunteer in the artillery
guards.

“Korn, a chemist and pharmacist from Berlin.

“Becker, an engineer from the Rhineland.

“And myself, who, after matriculating from the Werder school in Berlin in 1844,
had studied in Breslau,” Greifswald and Berlin and was serving as a gunner in my
home town of Glogau when the 1848 revolution began.

“I think none of us was more than 24 years old. We lived close together, for a
time indeed in the Grand Pré, all in the same house. Finding ourselves in a small
country that presented so little opportunity for earning a living, our chief
occupation was to keep ourselves from being too much depressed and demoralised
by the general misery of refugee life and political dejection. The climate and the
surrounding country were glorious—we did not belie our Brandenburg origins
and accents and found the place ‘luv’ly’ [fanden die Jegend jottvoll). What belonged
to one of us, the others had too, and if none of us had anything we could always
find good-natured innkeepers and other friendly souls who took pleasure in
lending us money on the strength of our young, vivacious faces. We really must
have looked an honest set of madcaps! I must make specific thankful mention here
of Bertin, the owner of the Café de I'Europe who was truly indefatigable in
supplying us on tick, and not only us but also many other German and French
refugees. In 1856, after six years’ absence, 1 visited Geneva on my way back from
the Crimea in order, with the piety of a well-intentioned tourist, to repay my debts.
Our good old fat Bertin was amazed and assured me that I was the first person to
give him this pleasure, but that he did not regret the 10,000-20,000 francs still
owing to him from the refugees who were by now long since scattered to the four
corners of the globe. Never mentioning the money they owed him, he asked with
special affection about the fate of those I had been cdlosest to. Unfortunately there
was little 1 could tell him.

“I return from this digression to the year 1849.

“In those days we drank merrily and sang joyfully. I remember seeing refugees
of every political shade and colour at our table, including Frenchmen and Italians.
Convivial evenings spent in such dulci jubilo!8 seemed to everyone like veritable
oases amidst the otherwise barren wastes of refugee life. Even those of our friends
who sat on the Grand Council of Geneva, or were later to do so, would occasionally
join our revels for the sake of a little relaxation.

“Liebknecht, who is now here and whom I have only seen three or four times
in last nine years, having met him each time by chance in the street, was a
frequent member of the company. Students, doctors, former friends from school
and university, touring on holiday, would often drink their way through many

a The Polish name is Wroctaw.— Ed.
b Berlin dialect.— Ed.
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glasses of beer and many a bottle of that good, cheap Macon. Sometimes we would
spend days and even weeks on the Lake of Geneva without once going on shore;
we sang old love-songs and, guitar in hand, paid court beneath the windows of the
villas on both the Savoy and Swiss sides.

“I shall not conceal the fact that our wild behaviour occasionally brought us into
collison with the police. On such occasions that dear man, the late Albert Galeer,
who was a by no means insignificant opponent of Fazy’s among the Genevan
citizenry, would read us a sermon, though in the kindest manner possible. ‘You are
wild lads,” he would say, ‘but it is true that to have such a sense of humour amid
the miseries. of exile shows that you are no weaklings, either in mind or body—a
certain flexibility is indispensable.” The good-natured man found it hard to rebuke
us more severely than that. He was a Grand Councillor of the Canton of Geneva.

“To the best of my knowledge only one duel took place at the time, and that
was fought with pistols by a Herr R..n and myself. But the quarrel was not
political. My second was a Genevan in the artillery who spoke nothing but French,
and Oskar Galeer acted as adjudicator. He was the Grand Councillor’s brother, a
young man who unfortunately later died prematurely of a nervous disease while
still a student in Munich. A second duel, also unpolitical in origin, was to have
taken place between Rosenblum and a refugee lieutenant von F...g from Baden,
who returned home soon after and, I believe, rejoined the resuscitated Baden
army. On the morning fixed for the batte the quarrel was settled amicably before a
blow was struck thanks to the intervention of Herr Engels 1%—presumably the same
man who is now said to be in Manchester and whom I have not seen again since
those days. This Herr Engels was passing through Geneva and we drank many
bottles of wine in his entertaining company. The acquaintance with him was very
welcome to us, if I recollect rightly, especially because we could allow his purse to
take charge of the proceedings.

“We were associated neither with the so-called blue or red 20 republicans, nor
with the socialist or communist party leaders. We reserved the right to form our
own opinions freely and independently (I will not say always correctly) about the
political activities of Imperial Regents, members of the Frankfurt Parliament?! and
other speech-making bodies, about generals of the revolution no less than the
corporals and Dalai Lamas of communism. For this reason as well as for other
reasons which diverted us we even founded a weekly paper entitled

RUMMELTIPUFF
Organ of Rapscallionocracy*

“The paper only survived two issues. Later, when I was arrested in France prior
to being deported to this country, the French police confiscated my papers and
diaries and I can no longer remember clearly whether it was official ban or lack of
funds that brought about the paper’s demise.

“To the ‘philistines’—and they were to be found in the ranks of the so-called
bourgeois republicans as well as among the so-called communist workers2—we
were known as the ‘Brimstone Gang’. I sometimes imagine that we must have given

* “If my memory serves me right, this epithet had been applied to all the
liberal parties in the Parliament of one of the German petty principalities, or in the
Frankfurt Parliament. We wished to immortalise it.” (Borkheim) .

2 This presumably refers to the advocates of utopian workers’ communism.—
Ed.
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the name to ourselves. At any rate it was only attached to us in its cosy German
sense. I am on the friendliest terms with fellow-exiles, who are friends of Herr
Vogt, and with others who were, and probably still are, friends of yours. But I
rejoice to say that I have never found the members of what I have called the
‘Brimstone Gang’ referred to by anyone in a disrespectful tone in connection with
either political or private matters.

“This ‘Brimstone Gang’ is the only one known to me. It existed in Geneva from
1849 to 1850. The few members who constituted this dangerous band were
compelled, with the exception of Korn, to leave Switzerland in the middle of 1850,
as they belonged to the category of undesirable aliens. Our departure meant the
end of the ‘Brimstone Gang’. I know nothing of other ‘Brimstone Gangs’, or
whether other groups went by the name anywhere else, nor what goals they might
have been pursuing.

“Korn remained, 1 believe, in Switzerland and is said to have settled down as a
pharmacist. Cohnheim and Rosenblum went to Holstein before the battle of
Idstedt 22 in which, I believe, both took part. Later, in 1851, they sailed to America.
Rosenblum returned to England at the end of the same year and left again in 1852
for Australia and I have heard nothing more of him since 1855. Cohnheim is said
to have been for some time now editor of the New-Yorker Humorist. Becker likewise
emigrated to America in 1850. Unfortunately 1 have no definite subsequent news
of him.

“I myself stayed in Paris and Strasbourg during the winter of 1850-51 and, as I
mentioned earlier, in February 1851 the French police sent me to England by brute
force—for three months I was dragged from one prison to the other, 25 in all, and
for the most part in heavy iron chains while en route. I now live here where, having
devoted the first year to learning the language, I am engaged in business. My
interest in the course of political events in my native land is as persistent and lively
as ever, but I have held aloof from all the activities of the political cliques among
the refugees. I am doing tolerably well or, as the English would say: Very well, sir,
thank you.—You have only yourself to blame if 1 have made you wade through
this long and at all events not very important story.

“I remain, Sir, your humble servant,
Sigismund L. Borkheim”

Thus far Herr Borkheim’s letter. In anticipation of its historical
significance the “Brimstone Gang” took the precaution of carving
its own civic register into the Book of History. For the first issue
of the Rummeltipuff is adorned by woodcut portraits of its
founders. '

The prodigies of the “Brimstone Gang” had taken part in
Struve’s republican putsch of September 1848. They then sat in
Bruchsal Gaol until May 18492 and finally fought as combatants
in the campaign for the Imperial Constitution, and as a result
were pushed across the Swiss frontier. At some point in 1850 two
of their matadors, Cohnheim and Rosenblum, arrived in London
where they “congregated” around Herr Gustav Struve. 1 did not
have the honour of a personal acquaintance with them. But they
established contact with me politically by attempting to form a
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counter-committee ** under Struve’s leadership in opposition to the
London Refugee Committee? which was directed at the time by
Engels, Willich, myself and others. Their manifesto, hostile to us,
appeared in the Berlin Abend-Post and elsewhere over the
signatures of Struve, Rosenblum, Cohnheim, Bobzin, Grunich and
Oswald.

In the heyday of the Holy Alliance the Charcoal Gang (or
Carbonari*®) was a mine richly productive of police activities and
aristocratic fantasies. Was it the intention of our Imperial
Gorgellantua® to exploit the “Brimstone Gang” in the same way as
the Charcoal Gang had been exploited for the benefit of ye olde
Teutonic burghers? If there were a Saltpeter Gang, it would round
off the policemen’s Trinity. Possibly, also, Karl Vogt is averse to
brimstone because he cannot take the smell of gunpowder. Or is it
that, like other patients, he cannot endure a medicine specific to
his disease? It is well known that the magic Dr. Rademacher
classifies diseases according to their antidotes.”’ The category of
sulphur diseases would include what Hermann, the barrister in the
District Court in Augsburg, referred to as his client’s “well-rounded
character” ® what Rademacher calls a “drum-like distension of the
peritoneum”, and what the even greater Dr. Fischart describes as
“the great vaulted belly from France”.© Thus all Falstaffian
natures suffered from the sulphur disease in more than one sense.
Or can it be that Vogt’s zoological conscience has reminded him
that sulphur is fatal to scab-mites, and that it is therefore utterly
repugnant to scab-mites that have several times changed skin?
For, as recent research has shown, only the mite that has shed its
skin is capable of procreation and has therefore achieved
self-awareness. What a charming contrast: sulphur on the one
hand, the self-aware scab-mite on the other! But in any case, Vogt
was obliged to prove to his “Emperor”? and to the liberal
Teutonic burghers that all disasters “since the failure of the
revolution of 1849” stem from the Brimstone Gang in Geneva,
rather than from the December Gang in Paris.*® To punish me for
my many outrages, committed over a period of years, against the
head and members of the “Gang of December 10”7, Vogt

a2 An allusion to Vogt. Gorgellantua or Gurgelgrosslinger=Gargantua. Gorgel-
lantua occurs in Johann Fischart’s adaptation of Rabelais’ Gargantua et Pantag-
ruel.—Ed.

b See this volume, p. 28.— Ed.

¢ Johann Fischart, Affentheurliche, Naupengeheurliche  Geschichtklitterung...,
S. 130.— Ed.

.4 Napoleon 111.— Ed.
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appointed me the leader of the Brimstone Gang which he has so
reviled and which I had not heard of before the appearance of his
“Magnum Opus”. To render comprehensible the just indignation
of this “agreeable companion”® 1 may cite here some of the
passages referring to the “December Gang” from my book Der
achtzehnte Brumaire des Louis Bonaparte, New York, 1852. (Cf. loc.
cit., pp. 31, 32 and 61, 62.%

“This gang?® dates from the year 1849. On the pretext of
founding a benevolent society, the lumpenproletariat of Paris had
been organised into secret sections, each section being led by
Bonapartist agents, with a Bonapartist general® at the head of the
whole. Alongside decayed aristocratic roués with dubious means of
subsistence and of dubious origin, alongside ruined and adventur-
ous offshoots of the bourgeoisie, were vagabonds, discharged sol-
diers, discharged jailbirds, escaped galley slaves, rogues, mounte-
banks, lazzaroni®® pickpockets, tricksters, gamblers, maquereaus,’
brothel-keepers, porters, casual labourers, organ-grinders, rag-
pickers, knife-grinders, tinkers, beggars—in short, the whole
indefinite, disintegrated mass, thrown hither and thither, which
the French term la bohéme; from this kindred element Bonaparte
formed the core of the Gang of December 10. A ‘benevolent
society’—in so far as, like Bonaparte, all its members felt the need
of benefiting themselves at the expense of the labouring nation.

“This Bonaparte, who constitutes himself chief of the lumpen-
proletariat, who here alone rediscovers in mass form the interests
which he personally pursues, who recognises in this scum, offal,
refuse of all classes the only class upon which he can base himself
unconditionally, is the real Bonaparte, the Bonaparte sans phrase,
unmistakable even when, later on, having become all-powerful, he
pays his debt to a number of his former fellow-conspirators by
decreeing their transportation to Cayenne along with the rev-
olutionaries. An old crafty roué, he conceives the historical life of
the nations and their performances of state { Haupt- und Staatsak-
tionen] as comedy in the most vulgar sense, as a masquerade
where the grand costumes, words and postures merely serve to

a Marx applies to Vogt the expression angenehmer Gesellschafter which the lacter
used in reference to Jérome Napoleon (see Carl Vogt, Mein Prozess..., Dokumente,
S. 24).—Ed.

b The Eighteenth Brumaire of Louis Bonaparte (see present edition, Vol. 11, pp.
148-49, 150, 195-97). In the extracts quoted here Marx leaves out a number of
passages and slightly alters others.— Ed.

¢ Jean Pierre Piat.— Ed.

4 Pimps.— Ed.
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mask the pettiest knavery. Thus on his expedition to Strasbourg,
where a trained Swiss vulture had played the part of the
Napoleonic eagle. For his irruption into Boulogne he puts some
London lackeys into French uniforms. They represent the army.*
In his Gang of December 10, he assembles 10,000 rogues who
are to play the part of the people, as Nick Bottom that of the
lion®....

“What the national ateliers were for the socialist workers, what
the Gardes mobiles*® were for the bourgeois republicans, the Gang
of December 10, the party fighting force characteristic of
Bonaparte, was for him. On his journeys the detachments of this
gang packing the railways had to improvise a public for humn, stage
public enthusiasm, roar wvive UEmpereur, insult and beat up
republicans, of course under the protection of the police. On his
return journeys to Paris they had to form the advance guard,
forestall counter-demonstrations or disperse them. The Gang of
December 10 belonged to him, it was his work, his very own idea.
Whatever else he appropriates is put into his hands by the force of
circumstances; whatever else he does, the circumstances do for
him or he is content to copy from the deeds of others. But he with
official phrases about order, religion, family and property in
public, before the citizens, and with the secret society of the
Schufterles and Spiegelbergs, the society of disorder, prostitution
and theft, behind him—that is Bonaparte himself as original
author, and the history of the Gang of December 10 is his own
history....

“Bonaparte would like to appear as the patriarchal benefactor
of all classes. But he cannot give to one class without taking from
another. Just as at the time of the Fronde it was said of the Duke
of Guise that he was the most obligeant man in France because he
had turned all his estates into his partisans’ obligations to him, so
Bonaparte would fain be the most obligeant man in France and
turn all the property, all the labour of France into a personal
obligation to himself. He would like to steal the whole of France in
order to be able to make a present of her to France, or, rather, in
order to be able to buy France anew with French money, for as the
chief of the Gang of December 10 he must needs buy what ought
to belong to him. And all the state institutions, the Senate, the
Council of State, the legislative body, the courts, the Legion of
Honour, the soldiers’ medals, the wash-houses, the public works,

a2 The reference is to Shakespeare’s A Midsummer Night's Dream, Act 1, Scene
2.—Ed.
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the railways, the état-major® of the National Guard excluding
privates, and the confiscated estates of the House of Orleans—all
become parts of the institution of purchase. Every place in the
army and in the government machine becomes a means of
purchase.

“But the most important feature of this process, whereby France
is taken in order to be given back, is the percentages that find
their way into the pockets of the head and the members of the
Gang of December 10 during the transaction. The witticism with
which Countess L.,° the mistress of M. de Morny, characterised the
confiscation of the Orleans estates: ‘C'est le premier vol* de Uaigle’*
is applicable to every flight of this eagle, which is more like a
raven. He himself and his adherents call out to one another daily
like that Iralian Carthusian admonishing the miser who, with
boastful display, counted up the goods on which he could yet live
for years to come: “Tu fai conto sopra i beni, bisogna prima far il
conto sopra gli anni’** Lest they make a mistake in the years, they
count the minutes.

“A gang of shady characters push their way forward to the
court, into the ministries, to the head of the administration and
the army, a crowd of the best of whom it must be said that no one
knows whence he comes, a noisy, disreputable, rapacious bohéme
that crawls into braided coats with the same grotesque dignity as
the high dignitaries of Soulouque. One can visualise clearly this
upper stratum of the Gang of December 10, if one reflects that
Véron-Crevel *** is its preacher of morals and Granier de
Cassagnac its thinker. When Guizot, at the time of his ministry,
utilised this Granier on a hole-and-corner newspaper against the
dynastic opposition, he used to boast of him with the quip: ‘Clest le
roi des dréles’, ‘he is the king of the buffoons.’? One would do
wrong to recall the Regency® or Louis XV in connection with

* Vol means flight and theft. [Note by Marx to The Eighteenth Brumaire of Louis
Bonaparte.]
** “Thou countest thy goods, thou shouldst first count thy years.” [Note by
Marx to The Eighteenth Brumaire of Louis Bonaparte.]
*** In his novel Cousine Bette, Balzac delineates the thoroughly dissolute Parisian
philistine in Crevel, a character based on Dr. Véron, owner of the Constitutionnel.
[Note by Marx to The Eighteenth Brumaire of Louis Bonaparte.]

a General Staff. — Ed.

b Lehon.— Ed.

¢ “It is the first flight (theft) of the eagle.” 33— Ed.

4 Quoted in the article by Emile Dupont. “Chronique de I'intérieur”, La Voix du
Proscrit, No. 8, December 15, 1850, p. 118.— Ed.



Herr Vogt—I1. The Brimstone Gang 37

Louis Bonaparte’s court and clique. For ‘often already, France has
experienced a government of mistresses; but never before a
government of hommes entretenus.’...*?

“Driven by the contradictory demands of his situation and being
at the same time, like a conjurer, under the necessity of keeping
the public gaze fixed on himself, as Napoleon’s substitute, by
springing constant surprises, that is to say, under the necessity of
executing a coup d’état en miniature every day, Bonaparte throws
the entire bourgeois economy into confusion, violates everything
that seemed inviolable to the Revolution of 1848, makes some
tolerant of revolution, others desirous of revolution, and produces
actual anarchy in the name of order, while at the same time
stripping its halo from the entire state machine, profanes it and
makes it at once loathsome and ridiculous. The cult of the Holy
Coat of Trier*® he duplicates in Paris with the cult of the
Napoleonic imperial mantle. But when the imperial mantle finally
falls on the shoulders of Louis Bonaparte, the bronze statue of
Napoleon will crash from the top of the Vendéme Column.”*

* The words quoted are those of Madame Girardin. {Note by Marx to The
Eighteenth Brumaire of Louis Bonaparte.]

4 Hommes entretenus: kept men.— Ed.
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11
THE BRISTLERS

“But, sirrah, there’s no room for faith, truth,
nor honesty in this bosom of thine; it is all filled
up with guts and midriff.”

(Shakespeare) 2

“Bristlers” or “Brimstone Gang” is what it says in the original
Biel gospel (“Magnum Opus”, Documents, p. 31). “Brimstone
Gang” or else “Bristlers” is what we find in the “Magnum Opus”
(p. 136).° ‘

According to both versions the “Brimstone Gang” and the
“Bristlers” are one and the same gang. The “Brimstone Gang”
was, as we have seen, dead and buried by the middle of 1850.
Therefore the “Bristlers” too? Our “well-rounded character” is
the civilising agent attached to the December Gang, and civilisa-
tion, according to Fourier, is distinguished from barbarism by the
fact that in it lies simple are replaced by lies composite.©

Our “composite” Imperial Falstaff informs us (“Magnum
Opus”, p. 198) that a certain Abt is the “lowest of the low”. What
admirable self-effacement: Vogt puts himself in the positive, but
his Abt in the superlative, appointing him, as it were, his Field
Marshal Ney. When Vogt’s original gospel appeared in the Biel
Commis voyageur,d I requested the editors of Das Volk¥ to reprint
the original rigmarole without further comment. Despite this they
followed the reprint with this note:

“The above rigmarole stems from the pen of a dissolute creature called Abt,
who, eight years ago in Geneva, was unanimously found guilty of a variety of

2 Henry IV, Part 1, Act III, Scene 3. Marx quotes in English.— Ed.

b Carl Vogt, Mein Prozess..., S. 31, 136.— Ed.

¢ Charles Fourier, Théorie de l'unité universelle. Oeuvres complétes, Vol. 2, Paris,
1843, pp. 78-79, and Vol. 5, Paris, 1841, pp. 213-14.— Ed.

d Marx means Karl Vogts article “Zur Warnung” in the Schweizer Handels-
Courier, No. 150 (special supplement), June 2, 1859 (see this volume, p. 29).— Ed.
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dishonourable actions by a court of honour of German refugees” (Das Volk, No. 6,
June 11, 1859).

The editors of Das Volk took Abt for the author of Vogt’s
original rigmarole; they forgot that Switzerland had two Rich-
monds in the field,*® a Vogt, as well as an Abt.

In the spring of 1851, then, the “lowest of the low” invented
the “Bristlers”, whom Vogt pilfered from his Field Marshal in the
autumn of 1859. The sweet habit of plagiarism acquired in
making books on natural history instinctively clings to him in those
dealing with his police activities. For a time the President of the
Workers’ Association in Geneva had been a brushmaker [ Biirsten-
macher] called Sauernheimer. Abt bisected Sauernheimer’s profes-
sion and name, took the beginning of the former and the end of
the latter and from the two halves thus obtained he ingeniously
formed the whole: “ Biirstenheimer” [Bristler]. This title he originally
bestowed on Sauernheimer, as well as on his closest friends: Kamm
from Bonn, a brushmaker by trade, and also Ranickel, a
bookbinder’s apprentice from Bingen. He appointed Sauern-
heimer general and Ranickel adjutant of the Bristlers, while
Kamm became a Bristler sans phrase. Later, when two refugees
belonging to the Workers’ Association in Geneva, Imandt (who is
at present professor at the college in Dundee) and Schily (a lawyer,
formerly of Trier, now in Paris), brought about Abt’s expulsion at
the hands of a court of honour of the Association, Abt published
an abusive pamphlet® in which he elevated the whole Workers’
Association in Geneva to the rank of “Bristlers”. It is clear, then,
that there were Bristlers in general and Bristlers in particular.
“Bristlers” in general included the Genevan Workers’ Association,
the same association which Vogt tricked into giving him a
testimonium paupertatis which was published in the Aligemeine
Zeitung® at a time when he had been driven into a corner, the
same association on which he fawned during the celebrations in
memory of Schiller and Robert Blum (1859). “Bristlers” in
particular were, as I have mentioned, Sauernheimer, who is totally
unknown to me and who has never been to London; Kamm who,
having been turned out of Geneva, went to the United States via
London, where he looked up Kinkel and not me; and finally
Ranickel, or the Ranickel,> who remained as the adjutant of the

a This refers to the declaration of the German Workers® Educational
Association i West Switzerland printed in the Allgemeine Zeitung, No. 235, August
23, 1859.— Ed.

bt The name suggests Ranunkel=ranunculus and also, by metathesis,
Karnickel=(1) rabbit and (2) a fool or Simple Simon. Marx puns below on
Ran-Igel=hedgehog.— Ed.

31305
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Bristlers in Geneva where he “congregated” around our “well-
rounded character”. And indeed, in his own person he represents
the proletariat in Vogt’s eyes. As I shall have more to say about
the Ranickel later on, here are a few preliminary facts about the
beast. Ranickel took part in Hecker'’s ill-starred campaign and after
its defeat he joined the detachment of refugees under Willich in
Besangon.* Still under Willich he went through the campaign for
the Imperial Constitution after which he fled with him to
Switzerland. Willich was in his eyes the communist Mohammed
who would bring about the millennium with fire and sword. A
vain, long-winded, foppish melodramatic actor, the Ranickel was
more tyrannical than the tyrant. In Geneva he raged in a red furv
against the “parliamentarians” in general and, fike 1 second
Tell, against the “Land-Vogt” in particular, whom he threatened
to “strangle”. But when he was introduced to Vogt by Wallot, a
refugee from the thirties and a boyhood ftriend of Vogt’s,
Ranickel’s thirst for blood dissolved in the milk of human
kindness.* “That fellow was the Vogt’s” as Schiller says.”

The adjutant of the Bristlers became the adjutant of General
Vogt, who has only failed to achieve military renown because
Plon-Plon thought the Neapolitan captain Ulloa (another general
by courtesy) bad enough for the task his “corps de touristes”
had to perform in the Italian campaign, and so held his Parolles in
reserve for the great adventure with “the lost drum” that will
unfold on the Rhine.*' In 1859 Vogt promoted his Ranickel from
the proletariat to the middle classes, obtained a business for him
(objets d’art, bookbinding and stationery) and in addition procured
for him the custom of the Geneva Government. The adjutant of
the Bristlers now became Vogt’s “maid of all work”,? his Cicisbeo,
intimate friend, Leporello, confidant, correspondent, gossip-bearer
and scandal-monger, but above all, after the Fall of our ¥Fat fackS
he acted as his spy and as recruiting officer for Bonaparte among
the workers. A Swiss paper recently reported the discovery of a
third species of hedgehog, viz., the Ran or Rhine hedgehog
[Ran- oder Rhein-Igel] which combines the qualities of both the
canine and porcine varieties in itself and which has been found in

3 Marx uses the English phrase “the milk of human kindness” which comes
from Macbeth, Act 1, Scene 5.— Ed.

b Wilhelm Tell, Act 1, Scene 4.— Ed.

¢ Marx uses the English phrase. For more about Ulloa see Engels’ letter
written to Marx approximately July 23, 1860, present edition, Vol. 41.— Ed.

d Marx uses the English phrase.— Ed.

€ Sir John Falstaff was addressed as Jack by his drinking mates.— Ed.
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a hole on the River Arve, the country-seat of Humboldt-Vogt. Was
this Ran-Igel aimed at our Ranickel?

N.B. The only refugee in Geneva with whom I had any contact
was Dr. Ernst Dronke, a former co-editor of the Neue Rheinische
Zeitung® and at present a businessman in Liverpool. He was
opposed to the activities of the “Bristlers”.

The following letters from Imandt and Schily I would only
preface with the remark that, on the outbreak of the revolution,
Imandt left university in order to take part as a volunteer in the
war in Schleswig-Holstein. In 1849 Schily and Imandt led the
storming of the arsenal in Prim* and from there they forced a
passage to the Palatinate with their troops and the weapons they
had seized. There they joined the ranks of the army of the
Imperial Constitution. Having been expelled from Switzerland in
the early summer of 1852 they made their way to London.

“Dundee, February 5, 1860
“Dear Marx,

“I am at a loss to understand how Vogt can attempt to connect you with affairs
in Geneva. It was common knowledge among the refugees there that of all of us
only Dronke was in communication with you. The Brimstone Gang was before my
time and the only name I can recall in connection with it is Borkheim.

“The Bristlers were the Genevan Workers' Association. The name originated
with Abt. At the time the Association served as nursery for Willich’s secret league of
which I was chairman. When, at my instigation, Abt was found by the Workers’
Association, to which many refugees belonged, to be a scoundrel and unworthy to
associate with refugees and workers, he published a lampoon shortly afterwards in
which he accused Schily and myself of the absurdest crimes. Whereupon we
revived the whole affair in a different place and before a completely different
audience. He rejected our demand that he should come forward with proofs to
back up his libellous allegations, and without its being necessary for Schily or
myself to say a word in our own defence, Dentzel proposed a motion that Abt be
declared an infamous slanderer. The motion was approved unanimously for a
second time, on this occasion by a meeting of refugees consisting almost entirely of
parliamentarians. I am sorry that my tale is so very meagre, but it is the first time
in eight years that I have had cause to think back to all that trash. I would not like
to be condemned to write about it and I shall be most astonished if you can bring
yourself to immerse your hand in such a brew.

“Adieu,

Your Imandt”

A well-known Russian writer* who had been on very friendly
terms with Herr Vogt during his stay in Geneva, wrote to me very
much along the lines of the concluding words of the above letter:

a Nikolai Ivanovich Sazonov.— Ed.

R
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“Paris, 10 Mai 1860
“Mon cher Marx!

“Jai appris avec la plus vive indignation les calomnies qui ont été répandues sur
votre compte et dont jai eu connaissance par un article de la Revue contemporaine,
signé Edouard Simon2 Ce qui m’a particuliérement étonné c’est que Vogt, que je ne
croyais ni béte, ni méchant, ait pu tomber dans I'abaissement moral que sa
brochure révéle. Je n’avais besoin d’aucun témoignage pour étre assuré, que vous
étiez incapable de basses et sales intrigues, et il m’a été d’autant plus pénible de lire
ces diffamations que dans le moment méme ou on les imprimait, vous donniez au
monde savant la premiére partie du beau travail® qui doit renouveler la science
économique et la fonder sur des nouvelles et plus solides bases... Mon cher Marx,
ne vous occupez plus de toutes ces miséres; tous les hommes sérieux, tous les
hommes consciencieux sont pour vous, mais ils attendent de vous autre chose que
des polémiques stériles; ils voudraient pouvoir étudier le plus t6t possible Ia
continuation de votre belle ceuvre.— Votre succeés est immense parmi les hommes
pensants et s’il vous peut étre agréable d'apprendre le retentissement que vos
doctrines trouvent en Russie, je vous dirai qu’au commencement de cette année le
professeur—¢ a fait 2 Moscovie un cours public d'économie politique dont la
premiére legon n’a pas été autre chose que la paraphrase de votre récente
publication.#* Je vous adresse un numéro de La Gazette du Nord, ou vous verrez
combien votre nom est estimé dans mon pays. Adieu, mon cher Marx,
conservez-vous en bonne santé et travaillez comme par le passé, a éclairer le
monde, sans vous préoccuper des petites bétises et des petites lichetés. Croyez a
I'amitié de votre dévoué...” d

2 “Un tableau de moeurs politiques en Allemagne. Le procés de M. Vogt avec
la gazette d’Augsbourg”, Revue contemporaine, February 15, 1860. For Marx’s
analysis of this article see this volume, pp. 93-94, 112-13.— Ed.

b The reference is to Marx’s work A Contribution to the Critique of Political Economy
(see present edition, Vol. 30).— Ed.

¢ Ivan Kondratyevich Babst.— Ed.

d “My dear Marx, I have learnt with the greatest indignation of the slanders that
have been circulated about you and of which I was apprised by an article in the Revue
contemporaine signed by Edouard Simon. What has astonished me most of all is that
Vogt whom 1 thought to be neither stupid nor malicious should have morally sunk
so low as his pamphlet reveals. I need no evidence to persuade me that you are
incapable of base and sordid intrigues and it was all the more painful to read these
slanders when, at the very moment they were being printed, you were presenting
to the learned world the first part of the admirable work which will give new life to
the science of economics and provide it with new and more solid foundations.... My
dear Marx, you must ignore all this wretched pettiness; all serious men, all
scrupulous men are on your side, but they expect something other than sterile
polemics from you; they would like to study the continuation of your admirable
work as soon as possible.— Among thinking men your success is enormous, and if it
gives you pleasure to hear of the echo your works have found in Russia, I can tell
you that at the beginning of this year Professor— gave a course of public lectures
on political economy in Moscow, the first hour of which was nothing but a
paraphrase of your recent publication. I am sending you an issue of La Gazette du
Nord from which you will be able to see how high your reputation stands in my
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Szemere, the former Hungarian Minister, also wrote to me in
similar vein:

“Vaut-il la peine que vous vous occupiez de toutes ces bavardises?”?

I have briefly indicated in the Preface my reasons for immersing
my hand in Vogt's brew (to use Imandt’s forceful expression)
despite these and similar attempts at dissuasion.

To return to our Bristlers. The following letter from Schily is
printed here verbatim, not even omitting the parts that do not
refer to “nos moutons”. T have however shortened the description of
the Brimstone Gang since it would merely repeat what we already
know from Borkheim’s account, and certain other passages have
been saved for later as I must to some extent treat “my agreeable
subject” artistically and not blurt all my secrets out at once.

“Paris, February 8, 1860
46 Rue Lafayette
“Dear Marx,

“It was very agreeable to have a direct sign of life from you in the shape of
your letter of January 31> and you will find me all the more ready to give you the
information you require about these episodes in Geneva as I intended to write to
you about them proprio motuc The first thing that struck me, and not only me but
also all my Geneva acquaintances here with whom I had occasion to discuss the
matter, was that Vogt, as you write, lumps you together with people who are quite
unknown to you. And so, in the interests of the truth, I had taken upon myself the
task of conveying to you the relevant information about the ‘Bristlers’, the
‘Brimstone Gang’, etc. So you can see that both your questions: ‘(1) Who were the
Bristlers and what were their activities? and (2) What was the Brimstone Gang, who
belonged to it, what did they do?’ came at a very opportune moment. I must begin
by pointing out, however, that you are guilty of an error in chronology, for priority
belongs by rights to the Brimstone Gang. If it was Vogt's wish ‘to have a bit of fun’
and terrify the German philistines by conjuring up the devil or even by calling
down fire and brimstone on their heads, he should have found rather more
diabolical figures for his models than those harmless and jolly ale-house geniuses to
whom we, the senior members of the Geneva emigration, used to refer jokingly
and without any unfriendly ulterior motive as the Brimstone Gang, a title which
they too accepted in good part. They were the merry sons of the Muses who had
taken their examina and done their exercitia practica in the various South German
putsches, finishing up in the campaign for the Imperial Constitution. After the
failure thev were gathering strength in Geneva in the company of their examiners
and instructors in revolution for the time when business would be resumed.... It is

country. Adieu, my dear Marx, keep in good health and labour as in the past for
the enlightenment of the world without concerning yourself with petty stupidities
and petty acts of cowardly malice. 1 remain your devoted friend....” —Ed.

2 “Is it really worth your while to bother your head with all this tittle-tattle?”
(From Szemere’s letter of February 5, 1860.)— Ed.

b Marx’s letter to Schily dated January 31 is not available.— Ed.

< Of my own accord.— Ed.
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obvious that anyone who either was never in Geneva or arrived there after the
dissolution of the Gang could not have belonged to it. It was a purely local and
ephemeral flora (a brimstone flora would be the right name for this corrosive
substance), though probably because of the Rummeltipuff with its whiffs of
revolution, it proved to have too strong a scent for Federal Swiss nerves. For Druey
blew and the flower was scattered to the winds. It was not until a considerable
period had elapsed that Abt came to Geneva, followed a few years later by Cherval,
and while both of them smelled, ‘each in his own way’, it was not, as Vogt alleges,
in that forgotten bouquet which had long since wilted and been torn apart.

“The activities of the Gang may be more or less summed up in the words:
toiling in the vinevard of the Lord? In addition they edited the Rummeltipuff with its
motto: ‘Dwell in the land and thrive on red wine!'® In it they exercised their wit and
humour on everything under the sun: they denounced false prophets, flayed the
parliamentarians (inde iraec), and spared neither themselves nor us, their audience,
but caricatured everyone whether friend or foe with an admirable conscientious-
ness and impartiality.

“I do not need to tell you that they had no connection with you and never wore
your Bundschuh*> Nor can I conceal from you the fact that that footwear would
have been little to their taste. These soldiers of the revolution were for the time
being lounging around in the slippers of the armistice until the revolution itself
would reanimate them and re-equip them with its own buskin (the seven-league
boots of resolute progress).46 And anyone who had been so bold as to disturb their
siesta with Marxist political economy, workers’ dictatorship, etc., would have been
given a very cool reception indeed. For Heaven knows, the work they did required
nothing further than a Master of Ceremonies and their economic researches were
confined almost entirely to the ‘jug’ and its reddish contents. One of their members,
Backfisch, an honest farrier from the Odenwald, once expressed the opinion that
‘the right to work was all very well, but the duty to work was one he would prefer
to be spared....

“Let us then replace the sacrilegiously abused tombstone of the Brimstone
Gang. To prevent any further desecration of their grave a Hafiz should be
employed to sing the requiescat in paced But, failing that, may they herewith accept
this obituary pro viatico et epitaphioc: ‘They knew the smell of powder.” Whereas
their sacrilegious historiographer has merely managed to smell out brimstone.

“The Bristlers first emerged at a time when the Brimstone Gang only lived on
verbally in legend, in the records of Genevan philistines and the hearts of Genevan
beauties. The brushmakers and bookbinders, Sauernheimer, Kamm, Ranickel, etc.,
came into conflict with Abt. When Imandt, myself and others resolutely took their
side we too became the targets of his hostility. Abt was then summoned to appear
before a general assembly of refugees and members of the Workers’ Association,
combined to form a cour des pairst or a haute cour de justice® Abt did in fact appear

2 Matthew 20:4.—Ed.

b A pun on Psalm 37:3. Proverbia (in German): “Dwell in the land and verily
thou shalt be fed” (lit. “feed thyself honestly” in Luther’s version). Schily replaced
redlich (honestly) with rétlich, literally “reddishly”.— Ed.

¢ Hence the outcry (Juvenal, Satires, Book 1, Satire 1).— Ed.

d Rest in peace. Psalms 4:9.— Ed.

¢ For their extreme unction and epitaph.— Ed.

f Court of peers.— Ed.

g High court— Ed.
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and not only failed to provide proof of the accusations he had hurled at various
people, but even declared quite openly that he had made them up quite arbitrarily,
as reprisals for just as arbitrary accusations that his enemies had levelled at him:
“Tit for tat, reprisals make the world go round!—was his view of the matter. Having
made a valiant plea for his system of tit for tat, thoroughly convincing the noble
peers of the great practical advantages to be derived from it, and after proofs of
the accusations against him had been brought, he was declared to have confessed
his malicious slanders, was found guilty of the other misdeeds imputed to him and
was formally outlawed. In revenge he christened the noble peers, originally only
the above-named guild-members, the ‘Biirstenheimers’ [Bristlers], which, as you
see, is a happy combination of the trade and name of the first-named. You should
revere him, therefore, as the progenitor of the family of Biirstenheim, without
however your being in a position to claim to be one of or related to the clan,
whether the term is applied to the guild or the peerage. For you ought to know
that those of them that did busy themselves with ‘organising the revolution’ did so
not as your supporters but as your opponents. They revered Willich as God the
Father or as their Pope and anathematised you as the Antichrist or antipope, so
that Dronke, who was regarded as your only supporter and legatus a latere? in the
diocese of Geneva, was excluded from all councils of the Church except the
oenological ones, where he was primus inter pares. But the Bristlers, like the
Brimstone Gang, were the merest Ephemeridae, and Druey had only to give one
mighty puff and they scattered in all directions.

“The fact that a pupil of AgassizP should have got involved in these fossils of
the Geneva emigration and have unearthed such fantastic tales as those served up
in his pamphlet is the more astonishing since as regards the species of Bristleriana
he actually possesses a perfect specimen in his own zoological cabinet in the shape
of a mastodon of the order of ruminants: Ranickel, the very prototype of the
Bristler. So the rumination seems to have been imperfectly performed, or else not
properly studied by the above-mentioned pupil....

“There you have all you asked for et au dela.c But now I too should like to ask
you something, namely your opinion about the wisdom of introducing an
inheritance tax pro patria, vulgo: for the state. It would form the state’s principal
source of income, eliminate the taxes which at present burden the poorer classes
and of course would only apply in cases of sizeable estates.... Besides this
inheritance tax I am interested in two German institutions: ‘the consolidation of
landed property’ and ‘mortgage insurance’, institutions which I wish were better
appreciated in this country. At the present time they are not at all understood, for
the French in general, with but few exceptions, when they gaze across the Rhine
see nothing but nebulosities and sauerkraut. An exception was provided recently by
L’Universd which, after lamenting immoderately about the fragmentation of landed
property, added quite correctly: ‘Il serait désirable qu'on appliquat immédiatement
les remeédes énergiques, dont une partie de ’Allemagne s’est servie avec avantage:
le remaniement obligatoire des propriétés partout ou les 7/;; des propriétaires
d’une commune réclament cette mesure. La nouvelle répartition facilitera le

a Cardinal, emissary. Dronke was sent to Switzerland as an emissary of the
Communist League in the summer of 1850.— Ed.

b Vogt had been an assistant to the Swiss naturalist Agassiz.— Ed.

¢ And more besides.— Ed.

d The full title of the newspaper is L’Univers réligieux, philosophique, politique,
scientifique et littéraire.— Ed.
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drainage, Virrigation, la culture rationelle et la voirie des propriétés.’a On top of
this comes Le Siécle which is in general somewhat myopic, but which is completely
blind when it comes to consider German affairs, thanks to a chauvinism which it
displays as proudly as Diogenes showed off his threadbare cloak—it serves up this
stuff, disguised as patriotism, daily to its subscribers. This chauvinist, then, having
fired off the obligatory salvo at L’Univers, its béte noire, went on to say: ‘Propriétaires
ruraux, suivez ce conseill Empressez-vous de réclamer le remaniement obligatoire
des propriétés; dépouillex les petits au profit des grands. O fortunatos nimium
agricolas—trop heureux habitants des campagnes—sua si bona—5'ils connaissaient
l'avantage a remanier obligatoirement la propriété.’? As if the large landowners
could out-vote the smallholders where each man had a vote.

“For the rest I let God’s water flow freely over His land, give unto Caesar the
things that are Caesar’s, and unto God the things that are God’s,c and even ‘the
Devil’'s share’,4 and remain your old affectionate friend,

Schily”

It follows from the foregoing that as there existed a “Brimstone
Gang” in Geneva in 1849-50, and an association called the
“Bristlers” in 1851-52, two societies connected neither with each
other nor with myself, the revelations of our parliamentary clown
about the existence of the “Brimstone Gang or Bristlers” are flesh of
his flesh, a lie to the fourth power, “like the father that begets it:
gross as a mountain, open, palpable”.c Just imagine a historian
shameless enough to report: At the time of the first French
Revolution there was a group of people known by the name of the
“Cercle social”*’ or else by the no less characteristic title of “Jacobins”.

As regards the life and deeds of the “Brimstone Gang or Bristlers”
that he concocted, our merry joker was careful to keep the costs of
their production down to a minimum. I shall give but a single
instance of this:

2

“One of the chief occupations of the Brimstone Gang,” the well-rounded one
informs his astounded audience of philistines, “was to compromise people at home in
Germany in such a way that they were forced to pay money and no longer resist the
attempts to blackmail them” (a fine how-do-you-do8; “they were forced to no longer

2 “It would be desirable that energetic remedies be introduced immediately,
such as those that have proved so successful in part of Germany: the compulsory
reorganisation of land holdings wherever it is demanded by 7/, of the owners in a
community. The new distribution of land would facilitate drainage, irrigation, the
rational exploitation of the land and the planning of roads.” — Ed.

b “Rural landowners, follow this advice! Hasten to demand the compulsory
reorganisation of land holdings; rob the small owners to enrich the large ones. O
fortunatos nimium agricolas—too happy country-dwellers—sua si bona—if they only
knew the advantages of the compulsory reorganisation of land holdings.” (The Latin
expression quoted here is a paraphrase from Virgil's poem Georgies.)— Ed.

¢ Matthew 22:21.— Ed.

d Shakespeare, Henry IV, Part I, Act I, Scene 2.— Ed.

e ibid., Act II, Scene 4.— Ed.
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resist the attempts to blackmail them”), “in exchange for which the gang should
preserve the secret of their having been compromised. Not just one letter, but
hundreds were written to Germany by these men” (namely Vogt's homunculi) “and all
of them contained the naked threat that the person in question would be denounced
for complicity in this or that act of revolution unless a certain sum of money had been
received at a specified address by a given date” (“Magnum Opus”, p. 139).

Why did Vogt fail to print even “one” of these letters? Because
the “Brimstone Gang” wrote “hundreds” of them. If threatening
letters were as plentiful as blackberries® Vogt would swear that we
should have no threatening letter. If he were summoned to
appear tomorrow before a court of honour of the Gritli
Association * to give an account of the “hundreds” of “threaten-
ing letters”, he would instead of producing a single letter pull a
bottle of wine from his jerkin, smack his lips, cock a snook and
with a great belly-laugh worthy of Silenus, he would exclaim like
his Abt: “Tit for tat, reprisals make the world go round.”

2 Adaptation of Falstaff’s “if reasons were as plentiful as blackberries”
(Shakespeare, Henry IV, Part 1, Act II, Scene 4).— Ed.
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POLICE MATTERS

“Welch’ Neues Unerhortes hat der Vogt

Sich ausgesonnen!”
(Schiller)a

“I say quite bluntly,” says Vogt, striking the gravest pose of which such a
buffoon is capable, “l1 say quite bluntly: Everyone who engages in political
machinations with Marx and his associates will sooner or later fall into the hands of
the police. For these machinations are no sooner under way than they are made
known and betrayed to the secret police and hatched out by them as soon as the
time appears to be ripe” (these machinations are eggs, it would seem, and the
police are the broody hens that hatch them out). “The instigators, Marx & Co., are
of course sitting in London out of reach” (while the police are sitting on the eggs).
“I would not be at a loss to provide proofs of this assertion” (“Magnum Opus”, pp. 166,
167).b

Vogt is not
either. As “mendacious” [verlogen] as you please, but

» c

Come, your “proofs” [Belege], Jack, your “proofs”.

113

at a loss” [verlegen], Falstaff was never “at a loss”
“at a loss”?

1. CONFESSION

“Marx himself says on p. 77 of his pamphlet Revelations Concerning the Communist
Trial in Cologned published in 1853: ‘After 1849 just as before 1848, only one path
was open to the proletarian party—that of secret association. Consequently after
1849 a whole series of clandestine proletarian societies sprang up on the Continent,
were discovered by the police, condemned by the courts, broken up by the gaols and
continually resuscitated by the force of circumstances.” Marx,” Vogt declares, “here
euphemistically describes himself as ‘circumstance’” (“Magnum Opus”, p. 167).

Marx says, then, that “the police have discovered a whole series
of secret societies since 1849” that were restored to life by the

2 “What new, unheard-of plan has Vogt invented now?” (Wilhelm Tell, Act 1,
Scene 3.)— Ed.

b Carl Vogt, Mein Prozess... The italics are Marx’s.— Ed.

¢ Shakespeare, Henry IV, Part I, Act 1I, Scene 4.— Fd.

d See present edition, Vol. 11, p. 446.—Ed.
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force of circumstances. Vogt says it was Marx and not the
“circumstances” that “resuscitated the secret societies”. Thus
Vogt has furnished proof that whenever Badinguet’s police
discovered Marianne,”® Marx in collusion with Pietri set it up
again.

“Marx himself says.” I shall now quote what Marx himself says in
its proper context:

“With the defeat of the revolution of 1848-49 the party of the
proletariat on the Continent lost use of the press, freedom of speech
and the right to associate, i.e. the legal instruments of party
organisation, which it had enjoyed for once during that short
interval. The social status of the classes they represented enabled
both the bourgeois-liberal and the petty-bourgeois democratic
parties to remain united in one form or another and to assert
their common interests more or less effectively despite the
reaction. After 1849 just as before 1848, only one path was open
to the proletarian party—that of secret association. Consequently after
1849 a whole series of clandestine proletarian societies sprang up
on the Continent, were discovered by the police, condemned by
the courts, broken up by the gaols and continually resuscitated by
the force of circumstances. Some of these secret societies aimed
directly at the overthrow of the existing state. This was fully
justified in France.... Other secret societies aimed at organising the
proletariat into a party, without concerning themselves with the
existing governments. This was necessary in countries like
Germany.... There is no doubt that here too the members of the
proletarian party would take part once again in a revolution
against the status quo, but it was no part of their task to prepare this
revolution, to agitate, conspire or to plot for it... The Communist
League”' therefore, was no conspiratorial society...” (Revelations, etc.,”®
Boston edition, pp. 62, 63).%

But our merciless Land-Vogt regards even “propaganda” as a
crime, except of course for the propaganda organised by Pietri
and Laity. Our Land-Vogt will even condone ‘“‘agitation, conspira-
cy and plotting”, but only when its central office is in the Palais
Royal®* with Hearty Harry, Heliogabalus Plon-Plon. But “prop-
aganda” among proletarians! Fie!

After the above-quoted passage, so significantly mutilated by our
Examining Magistrate Vogt, 1 continue in the Revelations as
follows:

a See present edition, Vol. 11, pp. 445-46. Marx introduces additional italics and
also bold type in quoting.— Ed.
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“It is self-evident that a secret society of this kind” (like the
Communist League) “[...] could have had but few attractions for
individuals who on the one hand concealed their personal
insignificance by strutting around in the theatrical cloak of the
conspirator, and on the other wished to satisfy their narrow-
minded ambition on the day of the next revolution, and who
wished above all to seem important at the moment, to snatch their
share of the proceeds of demagogy and to find a welcome among
the quacks and charlatans of democracy. Thus a group broke off
from the Communist League, or if you like it was broken off, a
group that demanded, if not real conspiracies, at any rate the
appearance of conspiracies, and accordingly called for a direct
alliance with the democratic heroes of the hour; this was the
Willich-Schapper group. It was typical of them that Willich was,
together with Kinkel, one of the entrepreneurs in the business of the
German-American Revolutionary Loan”* (pp. 63, 64).

And how does Vogt translate this passage into his “euphemistic”
police mumbo-jumbo? Listen:

“As long as both” (parties) “cooperated, they worked, as Marx himself says, to
create secret societies and to compromise societies and individuals on the
Continent” (p. 171).

Our fat rascal forgets only to quote the page in the Revelations
where Marx “of course says this himself”.

“Egli & bugiardo e padre di menzogna.”b

2. THE REVOLUTIONARY CONGRESS IN MURTEN

“Charles the Bold”, our “bold Charles”, vulgo Karl Vogt, now
delivers his account of the defeat of Murten.?®

“Large numbers of workers and refugees were cajoled and bullied” —namely
by Liebknecht— “until finally [...] it was agreed that there should be a revolutionary
congress in Murten. The delegates of the branch societies were to assemble there in
secret in order to confer about the final organisation of the League and the exact
moment for the armed uprising. All preparations were made in absolute secrecy, the
summonses were conveyed only by Liebknecht’s trusted friends and correspond-
ents. The delegates converged on Murten from all sides, on foot, by boat and by
carriage, and were immediately welcomed by gendarmes, who knew in advance
about the whats, the whys and the hows. The whole company that had been
arrested in this manner was detained for a while in the Augustinian monastery in
Fribourg and then transported to England and America. Herr Liebknecht was
treated with quite exceptional consideration” (“Magnum Opus”, p. 168).

2 See present edition, Vol. 11, p. 449.— Ed.
b “"Twas said he was a liar and the father of lies” (Dante, The Divine Comedy,
Inferno, Canto XXI1I).— Ed.
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“Herr Liebknecht” had taken part in Struve’s putsch in
September 1848, then was kept in Baden gaols until the middle of
May 1849, was freed as a result of the military insurrection in
Baden, served as a common soldier in the Baden People’s
Artillery, was incarcerated once more as a rebel in the casemates
in Rastatt by Vogt’s friend Brentano; having been freed again
during the campaign for the Imperial Constitution he joined the
division commanded by Johann Philipp Becker and finally crossed
the French border with Struve, Cohnheim, Korn and Rosenblum
from where they made their way to Switzerland.

At the time I knew even less about “Herr Liebknecht” and his
Swiss “revolutionary congresses” than about the drinking-meetings
with mine host Benz in Kessler Street in Berne where the
assembled parliamentarians regaled each other with the speeches
they had made in St. Paul’s Church,”® counted and distributed
future posts of the Empire among themselves, and helped to while
away the hard night of exile by listening to the lies, farces, ribaldry
and rodomontades of Charles the Bold who, not without a touch
of humour, awarded himself the letters patent of “Imperial Wine
Bibber” in honour of an old German lay.

The “lay” begins with these words:

“Swaz ich trinken’s han geséhen,
daz ist gar von kinden geschéhen:
ich han einen swélch geséhen,
dem wil ich meisterschefte jéhen.

“Den dihten becher gar entwiht,
ér wolde napf noch kophe niht.
ér tranc 0z grozen kannen.
ér ist vor allen mannen
ein vorlauf allen swélhen

“von Gren und von élhen
wart solcher sliind nie niht getan.”2

a “The drink and drinking I have seen

Are fit alone for callow youth,

But one great tippler has there been

Fit to wear the crown in truth.

“Normal cups he had forsworn,

Pots and jugs he’'d laugh to scorn,

He would guzzle tankards tall,

The staunchest drinkers he would balk,

He was the greatest of them all.

“Neither bison nor the elk

Could quaff their drink in such a gulp.”
(From the thirteenth-century comic poem “Weinschwelg”. Marx quotes in Middle
High German.)— Ed.
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But to return to the “revolutionary congress” in Murten.
“Revolutionary congress”! “Final organisation of the League”!
“Moment for the armed uprising”! “Absolutely secret prepara-
tions”! “Very secret meeting converging from all sides on foot, by
boat and by carriage”! “Charles the Bold” evidently did not study
my analysis of Stieber’s methods in the Revelations without
profit.

The facts of the matter are simply these: Liebknecht was—early
in 1850—the President of the Geneva Workers’ Association. He
proposed a union of all the hitherto unconnected German
workers’ associations in Switzerland. The proposal was accepted.
Whereupon it was decided to send a circular to twenty-four
different workers’ associations, inviting them to Murten to discuss
the problems of the intended organisation and of establishing a
joint newspaper. The debates in the Geneva Workers’ Association,
the circular, the discussions of the latter in the other twenty-four
workers’ associations—all this was done in public and the congress
at Murten was likewise arranged in full view of the public. Had the
Swiss authorities desired to ban it they could have done so four
weeks before it was due to be held. sBut the liberal Herr Druey,
who was on the look-out for a victim' he could devour and thus
placate the sabre-rattling Holy Alliance, preferred to have his
police stage a coup de thédtre. Liebknecht, who as President of the
Workers’ Association had signed the document proclaiming the
congress, was accorded the honour of being regarded as one of
the chief ringleaders. He was separated from the other delegates,
was granted free lodging in the uppermost turret of the tower in
Fribourg, from where he enjoyed a fine view of the surrounding
country, and he even had the privilege of walking for an hour
each day upon the battlements. The only special feature of the
way he was treated was the fact of solitary confinement. His
repeated request to be allowed to join the other prisoners was
repeatedly rejected. Vogt, however, knows full well that the police
do not put their “moutons” in solitary confinement, but place
them as “agreeable companions” among the mass.

Two months later Liebknecht, together with a certain Gebert,
was transported by the Fribourg Chief of Police to Besangon,
where both he and his companion received a compulsory French
passport to London, with the warning that if they deviated from
the prescribed route they would be deported to Algiers. As a
result of this unexpected journey Liebknecht lost most of the

a Spies.— Ed.
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personal effects he had in Geneva. Apart from this, however,
Messrs. Castella, Schaller and the other members of the then
Fribourg Government are to be commended for their humane
treatment of Liebknecht and the other prisoners of Murten. These
gentlemen were mindful of the fact that they themselves had been
captive or on the run but a few vears before and they openly
expressed the disgust they felt at being obliged to execute the
orders of the Grand Cophta Druey.”” The captive refugees were
not given the kind of treatment that the refugee “parliamen-
tarians” had expected. A certain Herr H., an associate of the
parliamentarians who is still in Switzerland, felt it incumbent on
himself to publish a pamphlet in which he denounced the
prisoners in general and Liebknecht in particular for upholding
“revolutionary” ideas that exceeded the limits of parliamentary
reason. And it seems that “Charles the Bold” is still inconsolable
about the “quite exceptional consideration” accorded to Lieb-
knecht.

Plagiarism is a general characteristic of all the concoctions of our
“bold hero”, and this one is no exception. For the Swiss liberals
invariably “liberalised” their acts of expulsion by accusing their
victims of spying. After Fazy had expelled Struve he denounced
him publicly as a “Russian spy”. Likewise Druey, who accused
Boichot of being a French mouchard. Tourte slandered Schily in a
similar manner after he had suddenly had him arrested in the
street in Geneva and sent to the tour des prisons in Berne. “Le
commissaire maire fédéral Monsieur Kern exige votre expulsion™
was the reply of the high and mighty Tourte when Schily asked
the reason for the brutal treatment meted out to him. Schily:
“Alors mettez-moi en présence de Monsieur Kern.” Tourte:
“Non, nous ne voulons pas que M. le commissaire fédéral fasse la
police a Genéve.”* The logic of this reply was altogether worthy of
the letter this same Tourte, who was then Swiss Ambassador in
Turin, wrote to the President of the Confederation? informing
him that Cavour was working with might and main to prevent the
cession of Savoy and Nice at a time when this cession was already
a fait accompli. But it is possible that certain diplomatic railway

a “The Federal Commissioner, Mayor Kern, demands your expulsion.” — Ed.

b “Very well, then, take me to M. Kern.”— Ed.

¢ “No, no, we won't have the Federal Commissioner playing policeman in
Geneva.” — Ed.

d See Correspondence Respecting the Proposed Annexation of Savoy and Nice to France...,
No. 34, p. 34, Hudson 10 Russell, received February 16, 1860.— Ed.
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connections were responsible for the failure of Tourte’s normal
discernment at the time. Scarcely was Schily locked up in the
severest solitary confinement in Berne when Tourte began to
“liberalise” his police brutality by whispering in the ears of
German refugees (Dr. Fink, for example) that “Schily had se-
cretly been in contact with Kern and had sent him information
about refugees in Geneva, etc.” The Geneva paper Indépendant
itself included among the notorious sins of the Geneva Govern-
ment of the day “the systematic calumniation of the refugees,
which has been raised to the level of a principle of state”. (See
Appendix 1.)

At the very first representations of the German police, Swiss
liberalism violated the right of asylum by driving out the so-called
“leaders”—and this right of asylum had just been granted on
condition that the remnant of the revolutionary army would
refrain from fighting a last battle on Baden soil. But later, after
the “leaders”, it was the turn of the “misguided led”. Thousands
of Baden soldiers were given passports for home on false
pretences and when they arrived there they were immediately
welcomed by gendarmes, who knew in advance about “the whats,
the whys and the hows”. Then came the threats of the Holy
Alliance and with them the police farce in Murten. But even the
“liberal” Federal Council® did not venture to go as far as the
“bold Charles”. Nothing at all about “revolutionary congress”,
“final organisation of the League”, “exact moment for the armed
uprising”. The investigation which for propriety’s sake had to be
started, vanished into thin air.

“Threats of war” from abroad and “political-propagandistic
tendencies”, that was all the “embarrassed” Federal Council could
stutter by way of excuse in its official report. (See Appendix 2.)
The grand police actions of “Swiss liberalism” did not cease with
the “revolutionary congress in Murten”. On January 25, 1851 my
friend Wilhelm Wolff (“Parliamentary Wolf” as he was known
among the “Parliamentary Sheep”) wrote to me from Zurich:

“The recent measures taken by the Federal Council have reduced the number
of refugees from 11,000 to 500, and the Council will not rest until the remnant has
been harried out of the country too, leaving only those who possess either a
considerable fortune or powerful connections.”

The refugees who had fought for the revolution stood in the
most natural opposition to the heroes of St. Paul's Church who
had talked it into the grave. The latter did not scruple to deliver
their opponents into the hands of the Swiss police.
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Vogt’s loyal follower, the Ranickel monstrosity, himself wrote to
Schily after the latter’s arrival in London:

“Try to keep a few columns open in one of the Belgian newspapers for
explanations, and do not fail to make the life of those rascally German dogs (the
parliamentarians) in America miserable for having sold themselves to that goitrous
diplomat (Druey).”

It is now apparent what “Charles the Bold” meant when he
said:

“I was labouring with all my strength to set limits to all these revolutionary antics
and to provide the refugees with shelter, cither on the Continent or overseas.” 4

The following description was to be found, long ago, in No. 257
of the Neue Rheinische Zeitung dated

“Heidelberg, March 23, 1849: Our friend Vogt, ‘champion’ of the Letft, imperial
jester of the moment, imperial Barrot of the future, the ‘faithful warner’ against
revolution—he has joined forces with-——some like-minded people? By no means! But
with a few reactionaries of the deepest dyce ... and for what purpose? In order to
convey ot to deport to America all those ‘characters’ living in Strasbourg. Besangon and
elsewhere on the German tronter.... What Cavaignac's iron rule imposes as a
punishment these gentlemen would like to mete out in the name of Chrisuan
charity.... Ammesty is dead. long live deportation! And of course this was accompanicd
by the pia fraus® that the refugees had thewmselves expressed the desire to emigrate.
etc. But now the Seebldtter receives word from Strasbourg that these intentions to
deport them have unleashed an angry storm of protest among all the refugees, etc.
[...] tu facr they all hope to return to Germany soon, even at the risk (as Herr Vogt
touchingly remarks) of having to join some ‘mad escapade.”®

But enough of “Charles the Bold’s” revolutionary congress in
Murten.

3. CHERVAL

“The virtue of this jest will be the incomprehen-
sible lies that this same fat rogue will tell us.”d

In my Revelations Concerning the Communist Trial wn Cologne an
entire chapter is devoted to the Cherval plot® In it 1 show that
Stieber with Chervai (a pseudonym for Cramer) as his instrument.
and Carlier, Greif and Fleury as midwives, brought the so-called

a Carl Vogt, Mein Prozess.... S. 165.— Ed.

b Pious deception.— Ed

¢ Marx quotes the Nene Rheinische Zeitung from his notebook. There are some
alterations in the use of 1alics as compared with the original.— Ed.

t Shakespeare, Henry IV, Part 1, Act I, Scene 2. Marx quotes in English and
gives the German translation.— Ed.
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Franco-German September plot in Paris into the world,* with the
intention of providing the prosecution with just that “factual
evidence of an indictable offence” against the Cologne prisoners
the lack of which the “Indictment Board of Cologne” had criti-
cised.

So decisive were the proofs I delivered to the defence during
the Cologne trial,’® so convincing the demonstration of a total lack
of connection between Cherval, on the one hand, and the accused
at Cologne and myself, on the other, that Stieber, who had sworn
by Cherval on October 18 (1852), forswore him again on October
23, 1852 (Revelations, p. 29%). Driven into a corner he abandoned
the attempt to link Cherval and his plot with us. Stieber was Stieber,
but even Stieber was a far cry from Vogt.

I think it is quite unnecessary for me to repeat here the
information I gave in the Revelations about the so-called Sep-
tember plot. At the beginning of May 1852 Cherval returned to
London, from where he had moved to Paris on business in the
early summer of 1850. The Paris police let him escape from them
a few months after he was sentenced in February 1852. In London
he was greeted at first as a political martyr and welcomed into the
German Workers' Educational Society, from which my friends and
I had resigned as early as mid-September 1850.°" But this delusion
was short-lived. The truth about his deeds of heroism in Paris
soon became known and during that same month, May 1852, he
was publicly expelled from the Society for his infamous conduct.
The accused in Cologne, who haid been imprisoned early in May
1851, were still in detention awaiting trial. I realised from a notice
sent from Paris by the spy Beckmann to his paper, the Kolnische
Zeitung, that the Prussian police were attempting retrospectively to
forge a link between Cherval, his plot and the accused in Cologne.
I accordingly kept on the look-out for reports about Cherval. It so
happened that in July 1852 the latter offered his services as an
Orleanist agent to M. de R.,” a former Minister during Louis
Philippe’s reign and a well-known eclectic philosopher. The
connections which M. de R. retained in the Paris Prefecture of
Police enabled him to obtain extracts from their dossier on

* 1 did not learn until after the Revelations were in print that de la Hodde
(under the name Duprez) as well as the Prussian police agents Beckmann (then
correspondent of the “Kélnische Zeitung”) and Sommer were also involved.

a See present edition, Vol. 11, p. 420.— Ed.
b Charles Francois Marie de Rémusat (see Marx’s letter to Engels, July 13, 1852,
present edition, Vol. 39).— Ed.
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Cherval. In the French police report Cherval was referred to as
Cherval nommé Frank, dont le véritable nom est Crdmer? For a long
time he had worked as an agent for Prince Hatzfeldt, the Prussian
Ambassador in Paris; he was the betrayer of the complot
franco-allemand and was now simultaneously a spy for the French,
etc. In the course of the Cologne trial 1 gave these reports to one
of the counsel for the defence, Herr Schneider 11, and empowered
him to name my source if need arose. When Stieber said under
oath during the session of October 18 that the Irishman Cherval,
who on Stieber’s own testimony had served a gaol sentence in
Aachen in 1845 for forging bills of exchange, was at that moment
still under arrest in Paris, I informed Schneider II by return of
post that, under the pseudonym of Cherval, the Rhenish Prussian
Cramer was “still” in London, was in daily communication with
Greif, the Prussian lieutenant of police, and that, as he was a
condemned Prussian criminal, the English would extradite him as
soon as they received an application from the Prussian Government.
To have brought him to Cologne as a witness would have overthrown
the entire Stieber system.

Under pressure from Schneider II Stieber finally remembered
on October 23 having heard that Cherval had fled from Paris, but
he swore high and low that he had no knowledge of the present
whereabouts of the Irishman or of his alliance with the Prussian
police. In fact at that time Cherval was attached to Greif in
London by a fixed weekly salary. The debates about the “Cherval
mystery” at the Cologne Assizes, that had been provoked by my
reports, drove Cherval from London. I heard that he had gone on
a police mission to Jersey. I had long lost sight of him when by
chance I came across a report from the Geneva correspondent of
the Republik der Arbeiter,” which appears in New York, stating that
Cherval had turned up in Geneva in March 1853 under the name
of Nugent, and that he had vanished from there once more in the
summer of 1854. He visited Vogt in Geneva, then, a few weeks
after my Revelations with the compromising statements about him
had been published in Basle by Schabelitz.

Let us now return to the Falstaffian travesty of history.

According to Vogt, Cherval arrived in Geneva immediately after
his fictitious escape from Paris and before that he was allegedly

‘e

“sent” by the secret Communist League from London to Paris “a

a Cherval, called Frank, whose real name is Crimer.— Ed.
b “Korrespondenzen. Genf, den 16. April 1854, Republik der Arbeiter, No. 22,
May 27, 1854.— Ed.
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few months” prior to the discovery of the September plot (loc. cit.,
p- 172). Hence while the interval between May 1852 and March
1853 thus disappears altogether, the interval between June 1850
and September 1851 shrinks to “a few months”. What wouldn’t
Stieber have given for a Vogt who could have testified on oath
before the Assizes at Cologne that the “secret Communist League
in London” had sent Cherval to Paris in June 1850, and what
wouldn’t I have given to see Vogt sweating on the witness stand
next to his Stieber! What a fine company they make: the swearing
Stieber with his bird, the Greif [griffin], his Wermuth [vermouth],
his Goldheimchen [golden cricket] and his Bettelvogt [beadle].
Vogt's Cherval brought with him to Geneva ‘“recommendations
to all friends of Marx & Co., from whom Mr. Nugent soon became
inseparable” (p. 173). He “took up his quarters with the family of a
correspondent of the Allgemeine Zeitung” and gained access to
Vogt probably as the result of my recommendations (in the
Revelations). Vogt employed him as a lithographer (loc. cit., pp.
173[-74]) and entered with him so to speak into a “scientific
intercourse” as he had done earlier with Archduke John and
was to do later with Plon-Plon. One day, while he was working in
the “office” of the Imperial Regent,”” “Nugent” was recognised by
an *“acquaintance” as Cherval and accused of being an “agent
provocateur”. In fact Nugent was not only working for Vogt in
Geneva but was also busily engaged in “founding a clandestine
society”.

“Cherval-Nugent presided, kept the minutes and corresponded with London” (loc.
cit., p. 175). He had “taken a few not very discerning but otherwise worthy workers
into his confidence” (ibid.), however “among the members there was also an associate
of the Marx clique known to everyone as a suspect minion of the German police”
(loc. cit.).

“All the friends” of Marx, from whom Cherval-Nugent
“became inseparable”, are now suddenly transformed into “one
associate”, and this one associate promptly dissolves again into “the
associates of Marx who had remained behind in Geneva” (p. 176),
with whom Nugent later “continues to correspond from Paris”
and whom he magnetically “attracts to himself” in Paris (loc. cit.).

Yet another instance, then, of his favourite “transformation” of
the buckram “cloth” of Kendal green!

What Cherval-Nugent purposed with his society was the

“mass production of forged banknotes and treasury bills which when put into
circulation were expected to undermine the credit of the despots and ruin their
finances” (loc. cit., p. 175).
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Cherval, it seems, was trying to emulate the celebrated Pitt who,
as is well known, set up a factory not far from London during the
war against the Jacobins to produce false French assignats.

“Various stone and copper plates had already been engraved for this purpose by
Nugent himself; the gullible members of the secret league had already been
selected to go to France, Switzerland and Germany with packets of these”—stone
and copper plates?>—no-—“these counterfeit banknotes” (the banknotes were, of
course, put into packets before they were printed) (p. 175),

but Cicero-Vogt was already standing behind Cherval-Catiline with
his sword drawn. A peculiar characteristic of all Falstaffs is that as
well as big bellies they also have big mouths. Just look at our
Gurgelgrosslinger who has already set limits to “revolutionary
antics” in Switzerland and arranged for whole shiploads of
refugees to find a livelihood overseas, look how he postures, how
melodramatically he acts, how he magnifies Stieber’s Paris skirmish
with Cherval (see Revelations®)! Here he lay, and thus he bore his
point!®

“The plan of the whole conspiracy” (loc. cit., p. 176) “had been monstrously
concetved.” “All the workers’ associations were to have Cherval's project laid at their
door.” There had already been “some confidential inquiries from foreign
embassies”, they were already on the point of “compromising Switzerland,
especially the Canton of Geneva”.

But the Land-Vogt was vigilant. He carried out his first rescue
of Switzerland, an experiment he later repeated several times with
steadily increasing success.

“I cannot deny,” the weighty man exclaims, “I cannot deny that I contributed
a substantial part in frustrating these devilish plans; I cannot deny that I made use of
the police of the Geneva Republic for this purpose; I regret to this day” (disconsolate
Cicero) “that the zeal of some deluded enthusiasts served to warn the wily ringleader
and enabled him to evade arrest” [p. 177].

But at all events, Cicero-Vogt had “frustrated” the Catiline
conspiracy, rescued Switzerland, and “contributed” his substantial
part (wherever he carries that). According to him Cherval
reappeared in Paris a few weeks later and there *“he made no
attempt to hide himself, but showed himself in public like other
citizens” (loc. cit., p. 176). And we all know how public is the life
of the citizens of Paris in the counterfeit Empire.

a See present edition, Vol. 11.— Ed.
b Falstaff's words (slightly paraphrased) from Shakespeare’s Henry IV, Part I,
Act 1I, Scene 4.— Ed.
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While Cherval thus gads about in Paris “in public”, poor® Vogt
always has to hide in the Palais Royal under Plon-Plon’s table
when he visits Paris!

I rather regret that after Vogt's powerful Zachariad® I must
now give the following letter from Johann Philipp Becker. A veteran
of the German emigration, active as a revolutionary from the
Hambach Festival® to the campaign for the Imperial Constitution,
in which he fought as commander of the 5th Army Division (the
Berlin Militdr-Wochenschrift, a voice that is by no means partial,
testified to his military achievement), Johann Philipp Becker is too
well known to require any recommendation from me. I need only
say, therefore, that his letter was written to R.> a German
businessman in London with whom I am on friendly terms, that I
do not know Becker personally and that he has never been
connected with me politically. Finally, I should note that I have
omitted the opening section of his letter which deals with business
matters as well as most of the passages referring to the “Brimstone
Gang” and the “Bristlers” since we are already familiar with the
material they contain. (The original of the letter is in Berlin along
with other documents connected with my suit.)

“ Paris, March 20, 1860

“..1 recently saw Vogt's pamphlet against Marx.c I found its contents very
distressing, all the more so since, as I was living in Geneva at the time, I am
perfectly familiar with the history of the so-called Brimstone Gang and the
notorious Cherval. It is evident that the events have been totally distorted and with
an utter disregard for justice have been falsely connected with the political activities
of the economist Marx. I do not know Herr Marx personally, nor have I ever had
any association with him whatever, but I have known Herr Vogt and his family for
upwards of twenty years and am bound to him by much closer bonds of affection. I
must bitterly deplore and unreservedly repudiate the frivolous and unscrupulous
manner in which Vogt has entered the lists on this occasion. It is unworthy of a
man to include distorted and even imaginary facts as weapons in his armoury. It is
really very painful to see that Vogt unthinkingly, and apparenty suicidally,
destroys his congenial field of activity, compromises his position and stains his own
reputation; and this would be the case even if he could be wholly acquitted of the
charge of being in the pay of Napoleon. On the other hand, how gladly would I
have seen him use every honest means to clear his name of such grave accusations.
As it is, his behaviour hitherto in this unedifying business impels me to give you a
description of the so-called Brimstone Gang.and the worthy Herr Cherval so that
you may judge for yourself the extent to which Marx may be held responsible for
their existence and their activities.

“A word, then, about the rise and fall of the Brimstone Gang, for scarcely

a Marx uses the English word.— Ed.
b Georg Friedrich Rheinlinder.— Ed.
¢ Carl Vogt, Mein Prozess...— Ed.
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anyone is in a better position than I am to give you this information. During my
stay in Geneva at that time I had an opportunity to observe the activities of the
emigrants not only thanks to my position; but in addition, as an older man and
always mindful of the general cause, I had a particular interest in closely following
their every move so as to be able whenever possible to forestall and prevent the
occasional foolish ventures which were so forgivable in people whom misfortune
had so harassed and even reduced to despair. My 30 years’ experience had taught
‘me only too well how richly every emigration is endowed with illusions.”

(What follows has been largely anticipated in the letters of
Borkheim and Schily.)®

“...This company, essentially a company of idlers, was referred to jestingly and
mockingly as the Brimstone Gang. It was a club which consisted, as it were, of a
motley crowd brought together by chance; it had neither president nor
programme, neither statute nor dogma. There is no question of its having been a
secret society, or of its having had any political or other goal to pursue
systematically; they merely wanted to show off and that with an openness and
frankness that knew no bounds. Nor did they have any connection with Marx, who
for his part could certainly have known nothing of their existence and whose
socio-political views moreover diverged widely from theirs. And in addition these
fellows evinced a strong urge to be independent that verged on self-conceit and it
is extremely unlikely that they would have been willing to subordinate themselves
to any authority cither in theory or in practice. They would have laughed Vogt's
paternalistic admonitions out of court, no less than they would have ridiculed
Marx’s policy instructions. I was in a position to obtain very precise information
about everything that went on in those circles since my eldest son? used to meet the
Big White Chiefs every day.... In all, the whole farce of this gang, devoid of any
ties,© scarcely outlasted the winter of 1849-50; the force of circumstances scattered
our heroes to the winds.

“Who would have thought that after ten years’ slumber the long-forgotten
Brimstone Gang would be set alight once more by Professor Vogt in order to ward
off imagined aggressors by spreading a foul stench which was then transmitted by
obliging journalists with great enthusiasm acting as it were as electromagnetic-
sympathetic conductors. Even Herr von Vincke, that liberal par excellence,
mentioned the Brimstone Gang in connection with the Italian question and used it
as an illustration in the modest Prussian Chamber. And the otherwise blameless
citizens of Breslau in their sancta simplicitas have in honour of the Brimstone
Gang prepared a carnival jest and fumigated the whole city with sulphur fires as the
symbol of their loyalty. .

“Poor innocent Brimstone Gang! After your blessed end you had willy-nilly to
turn into a veritable volcano, to become the bogy that frightens timid subjects into
a wholesome respect for the police, to vulcanise all the fat-heads of the world and
blacken every overheated brain down to its roots—just as Vogt, in my opinion, has
burnt his fingers for ever.

“Now then, as for Crdmer, vulgo Cherval. This socio-political and common
scoundrel came to Geneva in 1853, pretending to be an Englishman by the name

a See this volume, pp. 29-32, 43-46.— Ed.
b Gottfried Becker.— Ed.
¢ A pun in the original: bandlose Bande. Bandlose means “without ties”, Bande

means “band”, “gang”.— Ed.
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of Nugent. This was in fact the surname of the woman who accompanied him,
ostensibly as his wife, and who really was English. He spoke both French and
English fluently and for a long time carefully avoided speaking German for he
seemed to be doing everything in his power to pass for a native Englishman. Being
competent in both lithography and chromolithography, he boasted of having
introduced this latter art into Geneva. In society he was very adept, he knew how
to make his presence felt and to show himself to advantage. He soon obtained a
sufficient amount of work, drawing objects from nature and antiquity for
professors of the Academy. At first he lived a retired life and later, when he did
seek company it was exclusively in the circle of French and Italian refugees. At that
time I founded an office de renseignements® and a daily paper Le Messager du Léman
and I had an assistant called Stecher,t a refugee from Baden who had formerly
been headmaster in a secondary school. He was a talented draughtsman and strove
to improve his standing by studying chromolithography. He found a teacher in the
Englishman Nugent. Stecher was now full of stories about this skilful, kindly and
generous Englishman and about the pleasant and graceful Englishwoman. Stecher
also taught singing in the Workers’ Educational Association and he occasionally
brought his teacher Nugent with him. It was there that I first had the pleasure of
meeting him and that he condescended to speak German; he spoke it so fluently
and with such a command of the Lower Rhenish dialect that I said to him: ‘But
you can’t possibly be an Englishman!” He persisted in his assertion, however,
explaining that his parents had placed him in a school in Bonn when he was very
young and that he had remained there until his eighteenth year, during which time
he had got used to the local dialect. Stecher, who remained enchanted by the ‘nice’
man almost to the last, helped to make the belief that he was an Englishman more
credible. But this incident made me rather distrustful of the would-be son of
Albion and I urged caution on my fellow-members in the Association. Some time
later I met the Englishman in the company of some French refugees and
approached just as he was boasting of his heroism during the Paris uprisings. This
was the first occasion on which I learned that he was also interested in politics. This
made him all the more suspect so I made fun of the ‘leonine bravery’ he claimed to
have displayed, to give him the chance to exhibit it against me in the presence of
the Frenchmen. But as he answered my biting mockery by cringing like a cur I
judged him contemptible from that moment on.

“From then on he avoided me whenever he could. In the meantime, with
Stecher’s aid, he organised evening dances in the bosom of the German Workers’
Association, enlisting additional musical talent free of charge in the shape of an
Italian, a Swiss and a Frenchman. At these balls I again met the Englishman, this
time as a veritable maitre de plaisirc and completely in his element; uproarious
merriment and pleasing the ladies suited him much better than his leonine bravery.
However, he was not politically active in the Workers’ Association, where he did
nothing but hop, skip and jump, drink and sing. In the meantime however I heard
from Fritz, a goldsmith from Wirttemberg, that our ‘intrepid revolutionary
Englishman’ had founded a League consisting of him (Fritz), another German, a
few Italians and Frenchmen, making seven members in all. I implored Fritz to have
nothing to do with this political tightrope-walker, at any rate as far as serious
matters were concerned, and begged him both to resign from the League at once
and induce his associates to do likewise. Some time later my bookseller sent me a

a Information bureau.— Ed.
b See Appendix 3 (p. 304 of this volume).— Ed.
¢ Master of ceremonies.— Ed.
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pamphlet by Marx dealing with the communist trial in Cologne2 and in this
Cherval was unmasked as Cridmer and sharply attacked as a scoundrel and a
traitor. At once I began to suspect that Nugent might be Cherval, above all
because, according to the pamphlet, he came from the Rhineland and this
corresponded to his accent. Also he was alleged to be living with an Englishwoman,
which was the case here too. I at once told Stecher, Fritz and others of my
suspicions and circulated the pamphlet to this end. Mistrust of Nugent spread
quickly; Marx’s pamphlet had its effect. Soon Fritz came to me explaining that he had
resigned from the ‘League’ and that the others would follow his example. He also
revealed to me the League’s secret aim. The ‘Englishman’ intended to destroy the
credit of the nations by manufacturing government securities and using the profits
that would be gained in this manner to start a European revolution, etc. At about
this time a French refugee called Laya, who had formerly been a lawyer in Paris,
was giving lectures on socialism. Nugent attended them and Laya, who had
defended him at his trial in Paris, identified him as Cherval, and told him so.
Nugent implored Laya not to betray him. I learned of it from a French emigrant
friendly with Laya and 1 spread the news at once. Nugent had the effrontery to
appear once again in the Workers’ Association whereupon he was exposed as the
German Cramer and the Frenchman Cherval and was expelled. Ranickel from
Bingen is said to have been his most violent assailant on this occasion. To crown it
all the Genevan police began to show an interest in him because of the League, but
the manufacturer of government securities had disappeared without a trace.

“In Paris he engaged in decorating porcelain and since I was in the same line of
trade I met him in the course of business. But I found him the same irresponsible
and incorrigible windbag as before.

“But how Vogt could have dared to connect the Genevan actvities of this rogue
with those of Marx and to describe him as one of his confederates or tools is utterly
beyond my comprehension, especially as this was supposed to have been at the very
time that he was the object of such a violent attack by Marx in the pamphlet
referred to above. It was after all Marx who unmasked him and who drove him from
Geneva where, according to Vogt, he was actively engaged on Marx’s behalf.

“When I reflect how it was possible for a scientist like Vogt thus to go astray my
mind reels. Is it not lamentable to find the praiseworthy reputation brought about
by a happy coincidence of events so recklessly destroyed in such a wasteful and
sterile fashion! Would it be surprising if after witnessing such deeds the whole
world were to receive Vogt’s scientific researches with scepticism, suspecting all the
while that he might have arrived at his scientific conclusions with the same
recklessness and the same lack of scruple, basing them on erroneous notions rather
than on positive facts, painstakingly studied?

“If to become a statesman and a scientist nothing but ambition were required
even Crdamer might become both. Unfortunately, with his Brimstone Gang and his
Cherval, Vogt has degenerated into a sort of Cherval himself. And indeed there are intrinsic
similarities between the two, brought about by their hankering for material comfort, for the
safety of their own persons, for the joys of conviviality and for frivolous trifling with serious
matters.... In anticipation of friendly news from you I send you my warmest
greetings.

“Yours,
J. Ph. Becker

a Revelations Concerning the Communist Trial in Cologne (see present edition,
Vol. 11).— Ed.
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“P. S. Glancing once more at Vogt’s pamphlet I observe to my further surprise
that the ‘Bristlers’ too have been duly honoured. So 1 am adding a few words to
outline their story....

“Furthermore, 1 also saw in the pamphlet that he claims that Nugent-Cherval-
Crimer came to Geneva on a mission for Marx2 1 must add therefore that he did not
drop the pretence of being an Englishman up to the very last moment in Geneva
and that he never gave the slightest indication that he had ever had any contact whatever
with any German emigrant, which would in any case have scarcely been reconcilable
with his wish to preserve his incognito. Even here and now, when the matter must
have lost its former significance for him, he is reluctant to admit his German origin
and steadfastly denies all earlier acquaintance with Germans.

“Hitherto I still believed that Vogt had light-mindedly allowed himself to be
mystified by others, but now his actions increasingly seem to be motivated by
malicious perfidy. I am less sorry for him than before and my sympathy is reserved
now for his worthy and good old father® who will suffer many a bitter moment
because of this business.

“l will not only permit you, I actually request you to make known this
information among your circle of acquaintances in the interest of truth and of the
good cause.

“With warm greetings,
Yours,
J. Philipp B.” (See Appendix 3.)

4. THE COMMUNIST TRIAL IN COLOGNE

From the “office” of the Regent of the Empire in Geneva to the
Royal Prussian Court of Assizes in Cologne.

“In the Cologne trial Marx played an outstanding part.”
Undoubtedly.

“In Cologne his confederates were on trial.” ¢ Granted.

The Cologne accused were held in detention for 1!/, years
pending the trial.

The Prussian police and the Embassy, Hinckeldey with his entire
clan, postal and municipal authorities, the Ministries of the
Interior and of Justice—all made the most strenuous efforts
during these 1'/, years to give birth to a corpus delicti.

Here then, in his research into my “activities”, Vogt has at his
disposal, as it were, the assistance of the Prussian state and he
even had authentic material contained in my Revelations Concerning
the Communist Trial in Cologne, Basle, 1853, a copy of which he
discovered in the Geneva Workers’ Association and which he
borrowed and “studied”. This time, then, young Karl really will

a Carl Vogt, Mein Prozess..., S. 176.— Ed.
b Philipp Friedrich Wilhelm Vogt.— Ed.
¢ Carl Vogt, Mein Prozess..., S. 169-70.— Ed.
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settle my hash. But no! For once Vogt is “at a loss”, he just sets
off a few of his home-made smoke-bombs and stink-bombs *-
before beating a hasty retreat, stammering:

“The Cologne trial is of no particular significance for us”2 (“Magnum Opus”, p.
172).

In the Revelations 1 was compelled to attack Herr August Willich
among other people. Willich commenced his defence in the
New-Yorker Criminal -Zeitung of October 28, 1853 ** by describing
my work as “a masterly critique of the savage procedures adopted by the
central police of the German Confederation”® Jacob Schabelitz fils, the
publisher of the pamphlet, wrote to me from Basle on December
11, 1852 after receiving the manuscript:

“Your exposure of the perfidy of the police is unsurpassable. You have erected
a permanent monument to the present regime in Prussia.”¢

He added that his judgment was shared by experts, chief among
these “experts” being a man who is at present a Genevan friend
of Herr Karl Vogt.

Seven years after the publication of the Revelations Herr
Eichhoff of Berlin, whom I do not know at all, made the following

statement in court (it is well known that Eichhoff was on trial,®®

accused of having slandered Stieber):

“He had made a detailed study of the Cologne communist trial and not only
adhered to his original opinion that Stieber had committed perjury but had to
extend it to assert that everything Stieber said during the trial was false.... The
verdict passed on the accused in Cologne was due entirely to Stieber’s testimony....
Stieber’s whole testimony was perjury from start to finish” (first supplement to the
Berlin Vossische Zeitung, May 9, 1860).d

* *“Smoke-bombs or stink-bombs are used chiefly in mine warfare. One works with an
ordinary flare-charge which must however contain rather more sulphur than usual
and as much feathers, horn, hair and other rubbish as the charge will take. This is put
in a container and the shell fired with a fuse” (F. C. Plumicke, Handbuch fir die
Koniglich Preussischen Artillerie-Offiziere, Erster Teil, Berlin, 1820).

** ] replied with a pamphlet called The Knight of the Noble Consciousness, New York,
1853. [See present edition, Vol. 12.]

a Jralics by Marx.— Ed.

b This refers to August Willich’s slanderous article “Doctor Karl Marx und
seine Enthiillungen”, published in the Belletristisches Journal und New-Yorker
Criminal-Zeitung, October 28 and November 4, 1853.— Ed.

¢ See present edition, Vol. 39. Marx gives a summary rather than the exact
words of the quoted passage.— Ed.

d Karl Wilhelm Eichhoff [,Erklirung vor dem Criminalgericht 8.-15. Mai 1860],
Kiniglich privilegirte Berlinische Zeitung von Staats- und gelehrten Sachen, No. 108
(supplement), May 9, 1860.— Ed.
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Vogt himself admits:

“He” (Marx) “did everything in his power to provide the defence with the
materials and instructions necessary for the conduct of their case....”

It is a known fact that “false documents, manufactured by the agents
themselves”, i. e. Stieber, Fleury, etc., “were presented to the court” (in Cologne)
“as ‘evidence’ and that in general an abyss of perfidy was exposed among this police
rabble that makes one shudder to contemplate” (“Magnum Opus”, pp. 169, 170).

If Vogt can show his hatred of the coup d’état by making
propaganda for Bonapartism, why should not I reveal “my
collusion” with the secret police by exposing their abysmal perfidy?
If the police had genuine proofs, why manufacture false ones?

But, lectures Professor Vogt,

“nevertheless the blow only fell on the members of the Marxian League in
Cologne, only on the Marx party”.

Indeed, Polonius! Had not the blow fallen on another party
earlier on in Paris; did it not also strike another party later on in
Berlin (the Ladendorf trial), and yet another in Bremen (League
of the Dead),% etc., etc.?

As to the verdict passed on the Cologne accused I shall quote a
relevant passage from my Revelations:

“The miracles performed by the police were originally necessary
to conceal the completely political nature of the trial. “The
revelations you are about to witness, Gentlemen of the Jury,” said
Saedt when opening for the prosecution, ‘will prove to you that
this trial is not a political trial.” But now” (at the conclusion of the
case) “he emphasises its political character so that the police
revelations should be forgotten. After the 1'/5-year preliminary
investigation the jury needed objective evidence in order to justify
itself before public opinion.

“After the five-week-long police comedy they needed ‘politics
pure and simple’ to extricate themselves from the sheer mess. Saedt
therefore did not only confine himself to the material that had led
the Indictment Board to the conclusion that ‘there was no factual
evidence of an indictable offence’. He went even further. He
attempted to prove that the law against conspiracy does not
require any indictable action, but is simply a law with a political
purpose, and the category of conspiracy is therefore merely a
pretext for burning political heretics in a legal way. The success of
his attempt promised to be all the greater because of the decision
to apply the new [Prussian] Penal Code that had been promul-
gated after the accused had been arrested. On the pretext that this
code contained extenuating provisions the servile court was able to
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permit its retroactive application. But if it was simply a political
trial why a preliminary investigation lasting 1'/, years? For
political reasons” (loc. cit., pp. 71, 72).

“With the unmasking of the minute-book” forged and planted
by the Prussian police themselves “the case had advanced to a new
stage. The jury was no longer free merely to find the defendants
guilty or not guilty; they must either find the defendants
guilty—or the government.

“To acquit the accused would mean condemning the government (loc.

p. 70).2

That the Prussian Government of the day put a similar
construction on the situation is plain from a communication that
Hinckeldey sent to the Prussian Embassy in London while the
Cologne trial was still in progress. In this he said that ‘“the whole
existence of the political police depended on the outcome of the trial”. He
accordingly asked for a person who could appear in court in the
guise of the witness H.® (who had disappeared), for which
performance he would receive 1,000 talers reward. This person
had actually been found when Hinckeldey’s next letter arrived:

“The State Prosecutor hopes that thanks to the happy constitution of the jury it will
be possible to get a verdict of guilty even without further extraordinary measures,
and he” (Hinckeldey) “therefore asks you not to trouble yourselves further.” (See
Appendix 4.)

It was in fact the happy constitution of the jury in Cologne which
inaugurated the Hinckeldey-Stieber regime in Prussia. “A blow
will be struck in Berlin if the Cologne accused are condemned”
was the view of the police rabble attached to the Prussian Embassy
in London, as early as October 1852, even though the police mine
(the Ladendorf conspiracy) did not explode in Berlin until the end
of March 1853. (See Appendix 4.)

The liberal outcry that follows an age of reaction is all the
louder the greater the cowardice displayed by liberals in putting
up with the reaction for years on end without protest. Thus at the
time of the Cologne trial, all my efforts to expose Stieber’s system
of deception in the liberal Prussian press were unavailing. The
motto of the press, printed on its banner in block letters, ran:
Reliability is the first duty of the citizen, and in this sign shalt
thou—live.%’

a See Revelations Concerning the Communist Trial in Cologne (present edition,
Vol. 11, pp. 454-55, 453). Except for the words “pure and simple”, the italics were
introduced by Marx in Herr Vogt.—Ed.

b Hermann Wilhelm Haupt.— Ed.
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5. JOINT FESTIVAL OF THE GERMAN WORKERS'
EDUCATIONAL ASSOCIATIONS IN LAUSANNE
(JUNE 26 AND 27, 1859)

Our hero takes to his heels and with undiminished pleasure he
retreats to— Arcadia. We meet him again in a “secluded corner of
Switzerland”, in Lausanne, at a “Joint Festival” of a number of
German workers’ educational associations which took place
towards the end of June. Here Karl Vogt saved Switzerland for
the second time. While Catiline was sitting in London, our Cicero
with the gay-coloured jacket thundered in Lausanne:

“Jam, jam intelligis me acrius vigilare ad salutem, quam te ad perniciem
reipublicae.” 2

By happy chance there exists an authentic report on the
above-mentioned “Joint Festival” and on the deed of valour
performed during it by our “well-rounded character”. Written by
Herr G. Lommel with the collaboration of Vogt, it is entitled Das
Centralfest der Deutschen Arbeiterbildungsvereine in der Westschweiz
(Lausanne 1859), Geneva, 1859, Markus Vaney, rue de la Croix
d’or. Let us compare the authentic report with the “Magnum
Opus”, which appeared five months later. The report contains
Cicero-Vogt’s speech “delivered by himself” and in it he begins by
explaining the mystery of his presence at this gathering. He
appears among the workers, he harangues them, because

“grave accusations have latterly been made against him, accusations which, if
they were true, were bound utterly to destroy the confidence placed in him and
completely undermine all his political activities”. “1 have come,” he goes on, “I have
specifically come here to protest publicly against the” (above-mentioned) “malicious
underhand dealings” (Report, pp. 6-7).

He has been accused of Bonapartist intrigues, he has to rescue
his political activities and as is his wont he defends his skin with
his tongue. After indulging in empty talk for an hour and a half,
he recollects Demosthenes’ admonition that “action, action and
once again action is the soul of eloquence”.’

But what is action? In America there is a small animal called a
skunk which has only one method of defending itself at moments
of extreme danger: its offensive smell. When attacked it releases a
substance from certain parts of its body which, if it touches your
clothes, will ensure that they have to be burnt and, if it touches

a “You will already be aware that I attend with greater zeal to the salvation of
the state than you to its destruction” (Cicero, Speeches against Catiline, 1, 4).— Ed.
b Demosthenes, The Olynthiac, Second Speech, Chapter Four.— Ed.
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your skin, will banish you for a period from all human society.
The smell is so horribly offensive that when hunters see that their
dogs have accidentally started a skunk they will hurriedly take to
their heels in greater panic than if they had found that a wolf or a
tiger was pursuing them. For powder and lead is an adequate
defence against wolves and tigers, but no antidote has been found
to the a posteriori of a skunk.

That i1s what action is, says our orator, a naturalised citizen of
the “Kingdom of Animals”,* and bespatters his supposed perse-
cutors with the following skunk-like effluent:

“But I would like to warn you of one thing above all else, and that is of the
machinations of a small group of depraved men whose aims and efforts are ali
directed towards seducing the worker away from his job, implicating him in
conspiracies and communist intrigues, and finallv, after living from the sweat of his
brow, driving him cold-bloodedly” (i. e. after he has finished sweating) “to his
destruction. Now once again this small group is using everv possible method” (just
keep it as general as possible!) “to ensnare the workers’ associations in its toils.
Whatever they mav say” (about Vogt’s Bonaparnst intrigues) “vou may rest assured
that their true aim is to exploit the worker for their own selfish ends and finally to
abandon him to his fate” (Report, p. 18. See Appendix).

[he shameless impertinence with which this “skunk’™ accuses me
and my friends of “living from the sweat of the workers’ brow”, when
we have alwavs sacrificed our private interests in order to defend
those ot the working class, and have done this gratis, is not even
original. The mouchards of the December Gang hurled similar
slanders at Louis Bianc, Blanqui, Raspail, etc. .And not only that,
tor at all umes and in ail places the sycophants of the ruling class
have always resorted to these despicable slanders to denigrate the
literary and political champions of the oppressed classes. (See
Appendix 5.)

After this action our “well-rounded character” is incidentally no
longer able to keep a straight face. The buffoon gees on to
compare his “persecutors” who are walking abecut freely, with the
“Russians taken prisoner at Zorndorf”.”* And hc compares himself
with—who would have guessed it!— Frederick the Great. Falstatf-
Vogt remembers that Frederick the Great ran away from the first
battle at which he was present. How much greater then is he who
ran away without even waiting for the battle.*

* Kobes 169 relates in Jacob Venedey's pamphlet Pro domo und pro patria gegen
Karl Vogt, Hanover, 1860: “He was a witness to the fact that the Imperial Regent,

4 An allusion to the title of Karl Vogt's book, Untersuchungen iiber Thierstaaten,
in which the author treats his subject as a vulgar materialist.— Ed.
" Georg Lommel, op. cit,, S. 19.— Ed.
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Thus far the adventures of the Joint Festival at Lausanne
according to the authentic report. And “now just look” (as
Fischart puts it) “at our clammy-handed, parasitically stout,
slovenly cook and pot holder”* and see what a fine police purée a
la Eulenspiegel he serves up five months later for the benefit of
the German philistines.

“They wanted at all costs to create complications in Switzerland; some sort of blow
was to be aimed ... at the policy of neutrality. I was informed that the Joint Festival
of the Workers' Educational Associations was to be used to induce the workers to
follow a route which they had firmly rejected. It was hoped that the lovely Festival
would provide an opportunity for forming a secret commiltee to enter into
communication with like-minded people in Germany and take God knows what
steps™ (Vogt does not know, even though he was informed). “There were all sorts of
dark rumours and mysterious talk about the active intervention of the workers in
German political affairs. I at once resolved to oppose these intrigues and to exhort the
workers anew to turn a deaf ear to all proposals of this sori. At the conclusion of the
speech referred to above 1 gave a solemn warning, etc.” (“Magnum Opus”, pp. 180
[-81]).

Cicero-Vogt has already forgotten that at the start of his speech
he let slip what had brought him to the Joint Festival—not the
neutrality of Switzerland but the need to save his own skin. His
speech does not contain a single word about the intended plot
against Switzerland. the conspiratorial intentions at the Joint
Festival, the secreit committee, the active intervention of the
workers 1 German politics or proposals of “this” or any other
“sort”. Not a word about all these Stieberiads. His final warning
was nothing but the warming of the honest Sikes in the Old Bailey
who warned the jurymen not to listen to the “infamous” detectives
who had caught him stealing.

“The events which mmmediately followed,” Falstaff-Vogt declares (“Magnum
Opus”, p. 181), “confirmed my forebodings.”

Karl Vogt, was not present when we and the four other Imperial Regents forced the
Government of Wirttemberg to bring the Parliament to an honourable end with
sword and bayonet. It is an amusing story. The other four Imperial Regents had
already entered the carriage to go to the Assembly Room, as agreed, and there
together with the Rump Parliament {...] to put on a bold front” (it is well known
thar the Rump Parliament had no head). [Venedey says here: die Brusi bicte
(literally, to present the breast). The phrase is an adaptation of the German
idiomatic expressior. die Stirn bieten (to present the forehead) which means “to put
on a bold front”. Marx puns on Venedey’s substitution of Brust (breast) for Stirr
{torehead) 1o sires- that the Rump Paniament had no head.] “Karl Vogr slammed
e carriage-doos shut and called to tise coachman: ‘You go on ahead, the carriage
15 full up. 1 shall follow on! But Kar! Vogt only appeared [...] after all possible
danger was over’ (loc. cit., pp. 23, 24;.

@ Johann Fischart, Affentheurliche. Naupengeheurliche Geschichtklitterung..., S.
73— L.
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What does he mean, forebodings! But Falstaff has already
forgotten that a few lines before he did not have “forebodings”,
but that he had been ‘“informed”, informed of the plans of the
conspirators, and informed in detaill And what, you vengeful
angel,” were the events which immediately followed?

“An article in the Allgemeine Zeitung imputed tendencies to the Festival and to
the life of the workers which these” (i. e. the Festival and the life) “did not in the
least have in mind.” (Just as Vogt had imputed tendencies to the Murten Congress
and the workers’ organisations in general.) “This article and a reprint of it in the
Frankfurter Journal led to a confidential inquiry from the Ambassador of a South
German state in which the Festival was given the importance” —*“imputed” to it by
the article in the Allgemeine Zeitung and the reprint in the Frankfurter Journal?—by
no means!—“which it ought to have had if the intentions of the Brimstone Gang had
not been frustrated.”®

Ought to have had! Yes indeed!

Although the most superficial comparison of the “Magnum
Opus” and the authentic report on the Joint Festival is enough to
clear up the mystery of Cicero-Vogt’s second rescue of Switzer-
land, I nevertheless wished to ascertain whether there was any
factual basis, however slender, that might have given him the
“matter” which provided him with his “energy".70 1 wrote,
therefore, to the editor of the authentic report, Herr G. Lommel in
Geneva. Herr Lommel must have been on friendly terms with
Vogt since he not only collaborated with him on the report on the
Joint Festival in Lausanne but also, in a subsequent pamphlet
about the Schiller and Robert Blum memorial celebrations in
Geneva,® he covered up the fiasco that Vogt had brought upon
himself there. In his reply of April 13, 1860, Herr Lommel, who is
personally unknown to me, wrote:

“Vogts story that he had frustrated a dangerous conspiracy in Lausanne is the
sheerest fairy-tale or lie; he only went to Lausanne because it was an opportunity to
make a speech which he could afterwards print. In the speech, which lasted 11/o
hours, he defended himself against allegations that he was in the pay of Bonaparte.
I still have the manuscript in safe keeping.”

a An allusion to Goethe's Faust, Erster Teil, Marthens Garten. But instead of
Goethe’s du ahnungsvoller (foreboding) Engel Marx has du ahndungsvoller (vengeful)
Engel.—Ed.

b Carl Vogt, Mein Prozess..., S. 181, 182. In the last sentence the italics are
Vogts. He is referring to the article in the Allgemeine Zeitung, No. 215
(supplement), August 3, 1859.— Ed.

¢ Marx to Lommel, April 9, 1860 (present edition, Vol. 41).— Ed.

d Georg Lommel, Das Centralfest der Deutschen Arbeiterbildungsvereine in der
Westschweiz, Genf, 1859.— Ed.
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A Frenchman living in Geneva, when asked about the same
Vogtian conspiracy, replied bluntly:

“Il faut connaitre cet individu” (namely Vogt), “surtout le faiseur, homme
important, toujours hors de la nature et de la vérité.”2

Vogt himself declares on p. 99 of his so-called Studien® that he
“had never laid claim to prophetic gifts”. But we know from the
Old Testament that the ass could see what the prophet had
missed. And so we can understand how Vogt managed to see the
conspiracy which in November 1859 he had forebodings of having
“frustrated” in June 1859.

6. MISCELLANY

“If my memory does not deceive me,” our Parliamentary Clown writes, “the
circular” (i. e. an alleged address to the proletarians dated London 1850) “was
indeed written by a follower of Marx’s known as Parliamentary Wolf, and it was
allowed to fall into the hands of the Hanover police. Here too we find this same
channel turning up in the history of the circular ‘of the patriots to the men of
Gotha’” (“Magnum Opus”, p. 144).

A channel turns up! A prolapsus ani® perhaps, you zoological
jester?

As to “Parliamentary Wolf”—and we shall see later on why, like
a bad dream, Parliamentary Wolf weighs so heavily on the
memory of our Parliamentary Clown—he published the following
statement in the Berlin Volks-Zeitung, the Allgemeine Zeitung and
the Hamburg Reform:

“Statement. Manchester, February 6, 1860: I see from the letter of a friend that
the National-Zeitung (No. 41 of this year) has brought the following passage to the
attention of the public in a leading article based on Vogt's pamphlet:

“‘In 1850 another circular was dispatched from London to the proletarians in
Germany, written, as Vogt believes he remembers, by Parliamentary Wolf, alias
Casemate Wolf. The circular was allowed simultaneously to fall into the hands of
the Hanover police.” I have seen neither the relevant issue of the National-Zeitung
nor the Vogt pamphlet and would like therefore to direct my answer solely to the
passage just cited:

“1. In 1850 I was living not in London but in Zurich, and I did not move to
London until the summer of 1851.

“2. I have never in the whole of my life written a circular addressed either to
‘proletarians’ or to anyone else.

2 “One must know this fellow who is above all a charlatan, a self-important,
unnatural, untruthful man.” — Ed.

b Carl Vogt, Studien zur gegenwirtigen Lage Europas, Genf und Bern, 1859, S. 99.
Marx’s italics.— Ed.

¢ Numbers 22:21-33.— Ed.

d Prolapse of the rectum.— Ed.
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“3. As to the insinuation about the Hanover police I hereby return this shamelessly
invented accusation to its author with contempt. If the remainder of Vogt’s pamphlet is
as full of impudent lies as the part that refers to me it is a worthy fellow to the
fabrications of Chenu, de la Hodde & Co.

W. Wolff” 2

There you are: just as Cuvier could construct the whole skeleton
of an animal from a single bone, Wolff has correctly constructed
Vogt’s whole fabrication from a single fragmentary quotation. Karl
Vogt can indeed stand beside Chenu and de la Hodde as primus
inter pares.

The last “proof” adduced by Vogt, who is still “by no means at
a loss”, to demonstrate my entente cordiale with the secret police
in general and “my relations with the Kreuz-Zeitung party in
particular”, consists in the argument that my wife is the sister of
the retired Prussitan Minister Herr von Westphalen (“Magnum
Opus”, p. 194). Now how to parry the cowardly stratagem of our
fat Falstaff? Perhaps the Clown will forgive my wife the cognate
Prussian Minister® when he learns of the agnate Scotsman® who
was beheaded in the market-place in Edinburgh as a rebel in the
war of liberation against James II. It is well known that it is only
by accident that Vogt still carries his own head around. For at the
Robert Blum celebrations of the German Workers’ Educational
Association in Geneva (November 13, 1859) he reported

“how the Left of the Frankfurt Parliament was for a long time undecided who
to send to Vienna, Blum or him. Finally, the matter was decided by lot, by drawing
a piece of straw, which fell upon Blum, or rather against him” (Die Schillerfeier zu
Genf usw, Geneva, 1859, pp. 28, 29).

On October 13 Robert Blum set out from Frankfurt for Vienna.
On October 23 or 24 a deputation of the extreme Left in
Frankfurt arrived in Cologne on the way to the Democratic
Congress in Berlin.”' I met these gentlemen, among whom were
several Members of Parliament who had close bonds with the Neue
Rhewnische  Zeitung. These parliamentarians, of whom one was
summarily shot during the campaign for the Imperial Constitu-
tion, a second died in exile, while the third still lives, whispered all
sorts of strange and sinister stories in myv ear about Vogt’s
intrigues in connection with Robert”Blum’s mission to Vienna.

2 Wilhelm: Woltf. “Erklirung’, Aligemeine Zeitung, No. 44 (supplement),
February 13, 1860. Also published in the Hamburg Reform on February 11, 1860
and in the Berlin Volks-Zeitung on Februury 24, 18350.— Ed.

b Ferdinand von Westphaleri.-— Ed.

¢ Archibald Campbell Argvli — Ed.
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However,

Bid me not speak, bid me be silent,
To keep the secret I am bound.2

The Robert Blum celebrations of November 1859 in Geneva to
which we have already referred treated our “well-rounded
character” most unkindly. On entering the premises, waddling like
an obsequious Silenus at the heels of his patron, James Fazy, a
worker was heard to say: There’s Harry with Falstaff after him.
When he told a delightful anecdote designed to present himself as
the alter ego of Robert Blum, it was only with difficulty that some
infuriated workers were prevented from storming the podium.
And when, finally, forgetting how he had frustrated the revolution
in June, he himself “called yet again for the barricades” ®
(Schillerfeier, p. 29) a mocking echo repeated: “Barricades—
shmarricades!” Abroad, however, people know so well just what
value they are to place on Vogt's revolutionary mouthings that the
“confidential inquiry from a South German Ambassador” , usually
unavoidable, was unforthcoming on this occasion and no article
appeared in the Allgemeine Zeitung.

Vogt’s entire Stieberiad from the “Brimstone Gang” to the
“retired Minister” reveals the sort of Mastersinger of whom Dante
says:

Ed egli avea fatto del cul trombetta.*

* And he made a trumpet of his rear. (Kannegiesser) [Dante, The Divine Comedy,
Inferno, Canto XXI. Kannegiesser is the name of the German translator.]

a Mignon’s song in Goethe’s novel Wilhelm Meisters Lehrjahre, Flinftes Buch,
Kapitel 16.— Ed.

5 The closing line of the poem about Robert Blum which Vogt quoted
concluding his speech at the Blum celebrations (see Georg Lommel, Die
Schiller-Feier in Genf. Nebst einem Nachtrag enthaltend die diesjahrige Todtenfeier fiir
Robert Blum, Genf, 1859, S. 29).— Ed.

¢ Carl Vogt, Mein Prozess..., S. 181-82.— Ed.
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IV
TECHOW’'S LETTER

What else does our “well-rounded character” pull out of that
“tristo sacco
Che merda fa di quel, che si trangugia.”
(Dante) *

A letter from Techow dated London, August 26, 1850:

“I cannot characterise these activities better” (i.e. of the “Brimstone Gang”)
“than by imparting to you the contents of a letter from a man whom ail who have
ever known him will acknowledge as a man of honour, a letter which I may permit
myself to publish because it”” (the man of honour or the letter?) “was expressly
intended for communication” (to whom?) “and the considerations” (whose?) “which
earlier militated against publication no longer obtain” (“Magnum Opus”, p. 141).

Techow arrived in London from Switzerland at the end of
August 1850. His letter is addressed to Schimmelpfennig, formerly
a lieutenant in the Prussian army, who lived in Berne at the time.
Schimmelpfennig was supposed to “communicate the letter to our
friends”, i.e. the members of the Centralisation,” a secret society
now extinct for nearly a decade, set up by German refugees in
Switzerland with a rather mixed membership and a strong
leavening of parliamentarians. Techow was a member of the
society, but Vogt and his friends were not. How then did Vogt
come into possession of Techow’s letter and who authorised him
to publish it?

* “The sordid sack

That turns to dung the food it swallows.” [ The Divine Comedy, Inferno, Canto
XXVIIL]

a The German er used here can refer either to the man of honour or the
letter.— Ed.
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Techow himself wrote to me on the subject from Australia on
April 17, 1860:

“At any rate, I have never had occasion to give Herr Karl Vogt any authorisation
in connection with this matter.”

Of the “friends” of Techow to whom the letter was to be
communicated only two are still living in Switzerland. Both may
speak for themselves:

E? to Schily, April 29, 1860, Upper Engadine, Grisons Canton:

“When Vogt's pamphlet Mein Prozess gegen die Allgemeine Zeitung appeared,
containing a letter from Techow to his friends in Switzerland dated August 26,
1850,” we, the friends of Techow still living in Switzerland, resolved to write to
Vogt to express our disapproval of his wunauthorised publication of the letter.
Techow’s letter had been addressed to Schimmelpfennig in Berne and the
intention was to distribute copies of it among friends.... I am glad that we were not
mistaken in our belief that none of Techow’s friends, none of those who had a
right to see the letter of August 26, had used it after the manner of the man who
has by accident come into possession of it. On January 22 a letter was dispatched to
Vogt protesting against the unauthorised publication of Techow’s letter, forbidding
any further misuse of it and demanding the return of the letter. On January 27 Vogt
replied: “Techow’s letter was intended to be shown to his friends; the friend who
had it in his possession had handed it over with the express wish that it should be
published ... and he would only return the letter to the man from whom he had
received it.””

BE to Schily, Zurich, May 1, 18607

“The letter to Vogt was written by me after I had discussed the matter with E....
R.d was not among the ‘friends’ for whom Techow’s letter was intended. From the
contents of the letter, however, it was perfectly clear to Vogt that it had been
addressed to me among others, but he took good care not to ask me for permission
to publish it.”

The solution to the riddle is contained in a passage from Schilys
letter quoted earlier© and which I have saved up for this moment.
He writes:

“I must say something here about Ramickel because it is through him that
Techow’s letter must have fallen into Vogt’s hands, a point in your letter which I had
almost overlooked. This letter was written by Techow to friends he had lived with
in Zurich: Schimmelpfennig, B. and E. As their friend and Techow’s, I was also
able to read it later on. When I was brutally and summarily expelled from
Switzerland (without any previous order of expulsion having been made I was
simply arrested in the street in Geneva and immediately transported from there), 1
was not permitted to go back to my lodgings to arrange my affairs. From the
prison in Berne I wrote to a reliable man in Geneva, a master shoemaker called

a Karl Emmermann.— Ed.

b See Carl Vogt, Mein Prozess..., S. 142-61.— Ed.
¢ Friedrich von Beust.— Ed.

d Ranickel.— Ed.

¢ See this volume, pp. 43-46.— Ed.



Herr Vogt.—IV. Techow’s Letter 77

Thum, asking him to find one or other of my friends who might be still in Geneva
(for I did not know whether the same fate had not befallen any of them), who
could pack up my belongings and send the most valuable of them to me in Berne,
putting the remainder into safe keeping for the time being. I wanted that person to
sort out my papers taking particular care to ensure that nothing should be
forwarded to me which could not survive the transit through France. Thum did as
I asked him and Techow’s letter remained behind. My belongings included a
number of papers relating to a rebellion of the parliamentarians against the
Geneva local committee for the distribution of money for the refugees (the
committee consisted of three Geneva citizens, among them Thum, and two
refugees, Becker and myself). Ranickel was familiar with these as he had taken the
side of the committee against the parliamentarians. For this reason I had asked
Thum as the treasurer and archivist of the committee to take out those papers with
Ranickels help. It may now be the case that, having a legitimate reason for being
present while my papers were being sorted, Ranickel somehow got his hands on
Techow’s letter. Perhaps it was given him by one of the sorters. I do not by any
means dispute the transfer of the letter into his possession, as distinct from the transfer
of property rights from me to him. On the contrary, I claim the latter quite
explicitly. I soon wrote to Ranickel from London asking him to send me the letter. However,
he did not do so and his culpa manifesta® dates from that time. At the beginning it
was probably only levis® but it then mounted, depending on the extent of his
complicity in the unauthorised publication of the letter, to magna or maxima culpa®
or even to dolus® 1 do not doubt for a single moment that his publication of the
letter was unauthorised and that none of the addressees had given their permission,
but I shall nevertheless write to E. for confirmation of this. Nor can it be doubted
that Ranickel assisted in the publication, given his notorious intimacy with Vogt.
And even though I do not wish in the least to criticise that intimacy, I cannot
refrain from pointing out the contrast with their earlier relationship. For Ranickel
had not only been one of the greatest enemies of the parliamentarians in general;
he had also uttered the most blood-curdling threats in regard to the Imperial
Regent in particular. ‘I'll strangle the fellow,” he would shout, ‘even if I have to go
to Berne to do it’, and we had to forcibly restrain him from carrying out his
regicidal intention. But now that the scales seem to have fallen from his eyes, and
Saul has wrned into Paul,’ I am very curious to see how he will worm his way out
of another obligation: that of becoming the avenger of Europe. 1 have fought a hard
struggle, he would say in the days when he was hesitating between Europe and
America, but now it is at an end. I shall remain and—avenge myself!! Let
Byzantium tremble.” f

Thus far Schilys letter.

Ranickel, then, unearthed® Techow’s letter among the papers
left behind by Schily. Notwithstanding Schily’s request for it from

2 Manifest guilt.— Ed.

b Slight.— Ed.

¢ Great or maximum guilt.— Ed.

d Evil intent— Ed.

¢ The Acts of the Apostles 9:15-17.— Ed.

{ “Trema, Bisanzio!”—quoted from Gaetano Donizetti’s opera Belisario, Act 11,
Scene 3 (libretto by Salvatore Caminarano).— Fd.

£ Marx uses the verb aufstiebern—an adaptation of the verb aufstébern (ferret
out, unearth)-—formed by analogy with Stieber, the name of a German police
agent.— Ed.
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London, he retained it. The letter misappropriated in this way was
handed by “friend” Ranickel to “friend” Vogt, and “friend”
Vogt, with his characteristic delicacy of conscience, declared
himself authorised to publish the letter since Vogt and Ranickel
are “friends”. Anyone, therefore, who writes a letter to be
“communicated” to “friends”, necessarily writes for the benefit of
“friends” Vogt and Ranickel—arcades ambo.?

I must apologise if this peculiar sort of jurisprudence leads me
back to long-past and half-forgotten events. But Ranickel has
started it and I must follow.

The “Communist League” was founded in Paris in 1836,
originally under another name.” The organisation that gradually
evolved was as follows: a certain number of members formed a
“community”, the different communities in the same town
constituted a “district” [Kreis] and a varying number of districts
were joined together into “leading districts” [leitende Kreise]. At
the head of the whole stood the “Central Authority” which was
elected at a congress consisting of deputies from all the districts,
but which had the right to add to its own numbers and, in
emergencies, to nominate its successor on a provisional basis. The
Central Authority was based first in Paris, and then, from 1840 to
the beginning of 1848, in London. The chairmen of the
communities and districts and the Central Authority itself were
elected. This democratic constitution, utterly unsuitable for
conspiratorial secret societies, was not incompatible, to say the
least, with the tasks facing a propaganda association. The activities
of the “League” consisted first of all in founding public German
workers’ educational associations, and the majority of the associa-
tions of this sort, which still exist in Switzerland, England, Belgium
and the United States, were founded either directly by the
“League” or else by people who had at one time belonged to it.
The constitution of these workers’ associations is accordingly the
same everywhere. One day per week was devoted to discussion,
another to social activities (singing, recitations, etc.). Libraries were
set up everywhere, and where possible classes in elementary
education were started for the instruction of the workers. The
“League” standing behind the public educational associations, and
guiding them, found them both the most convenient forum for

2 Literally “Arcadians both”, i.e. each deserves the other—an expression used
by Virgil in Bucolics (Eclogues), 7, 4, and later by Byron, who wrote: “ ‘Arcades
ambo’ id est—blackguards both” (Don Juan, IV, 93).— Ed.

b The League of the Just.— Fd.



Herr Vogt.—IV. Techow’s Letter 79

public propaganda and also a reservoir whose most useful
members could replenish and swell its own ranks. In view of the
itinerant life of German artisans it was only on rare occasions that
the Central Authority had to send special emissaries.

As far as the secret doctrine of the “League” is concerned, it
underwent all the transformations of French and English socialism
and communism, as well as their German versions (e. g. ‘Weitling’s
fantasies). After 1839, as is made clear in the Bluntschli report,®
the religious question came to play the most important role
alongside the social problem. The various phases undergone by Ger-
man philosophy from 1839 to 1846 were followed with the most
lively interest in these workers’ societies. The secret form of the
society goes back to its Paris origins. The chief purpose of the
League—propaganda among workers in Germany—dictated the
retention of this form in later years. During my first stay in Paris”
I established personal contact with the leaders of the “League”
living there as well as with the leaders of the majority of the secret
French workers’ associations, without however becoming a
member of any of them. In Brussels, where Guizot’s expulsion
order had sent me, I, together with Engels, W. Wolff and others,
founded the German Workers’ Educational Society,74 which is
still in existence. At the same time we published a series of
pamphlets,© partly printed, partly lithographed, in which we
mercilessly criticised the hotchpotch of Franco-English socialism or
communism and German philosophy, which formed the secret
doctrine of the “League” at that time. In its place we proposed
the scientific study ‘of the economic structure of bourgeois society
as the only tenable theoretical foundation. Furthermore, we
argued in popular form that it was not a matter of putting some
utopian system into effect, but of conscious participation in the
historical process revolutionising society before our very eyes. In
consequence of these activities the London Central Authority
entered into correspondence with us and at the end of 1846 they
sent one of their members, a watchmaker called Joseph Moll, who
later fell as a soldier of the revolution on the field of battle in
Baden,? to Brussels to invite us to join the “League”. Moll allayed

a Johann Caspar Bluntschli, Die Kommunisten in der Schweiz nach den bei Weitling
vorgefundenen Papieren..., Zurich, 1843.—Ed.

b From late October 1843 to February 3, 1845.—Ed.

¢ The only one extant is Circular Against Kriege (see present edition, Vol.
6).— Ed.

d See Frederick Engels, The Campaign for the German Imperial Constitution
(present edition, Vol. 10, pp. 225-26).— Ed.
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our doubts and objections by revealing that the Central Authority
intended to convoke a Congress of the League in London where
the critical views we had expressed would be laid down in an open
manifesto as the doctrine of the League. He argued, however, that
if backward and refractory elements were to be overcome, our
participation in person was indispensable, but that this could only
be arranged if we became members of the “League”. Accordingly,
we joined it. The Congress, at which members from Switzerland,
France, Belgium, Germany and England were represented, took
place,* and after heated debate over several weeks it adopted the
Manifesto of the Communist Party® written by Engels and myself,
which appeared in print at the beginning of 1848 and was later
translated into English, French, Danish and Italian. On the
outbreak of the February revolution the London Central Authori-
ty entrusted me with the leadership of the “League”. During the
revolutionary period in Germany, its activities died down of
themselves, since more effective avenues existed now for the
realisation of its ends. When, in the late summer of 1849, I
arrived in London after being expelled from France for a second
time, I found that the Central Authority had been reconstructed
from the ruins and that the links with the reconstituted districts of
the League in Germany had been re-established. Willich arrived in
London a few months later and was admitted to the Central
Authority at my suggestion. He had been recommended to me by
Engels, who acted as his adjutant in the campaign for the Imperial
Constitution. To round off the history of the League I would only
remark that there was a split in the Central Authority on
September 15, 1850.¢ Its majority, including Engels and myself,
transferred the seat of the Central Authority to Cologne, which had
long been the “leading district” for Central and Southern
Germany and which, after London, was the most important centre
of intellectual activity.

We resigned from the London Workers’ Educational Society at the
same time. The minority on the Central Authority, however,
including Willich and Schapper, set up a separate League which
maintained relations with the Workers’ Educational Society and
also resumed contact with Switzerland and France, which had been
interrupted since 1848. On November 12, 1852 the accused in the
Cologne communist trial were condemned. A few days later, at my

2 The Second Congress of the Communist League was held in London between
November 29 and December 8, 1847.— Ed.

b See present edition, Vol. 6.— Ed.

¢ See present edition, Vol. 10, pp. 625-30.— Ed.
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suggestion, the League was declared dissolved.? I included a
document, relating to the dissolution, dated November 1852, in
the dossier on my action against the National-Zeitung. The reason
given there for the dissolution of the League is that with the arrests
in Germany, i.e. from as early as the spring of 1851, all contact with
the Continent had in any case ceased to exist and that moreover
circumstances were no longer favourable for a propaganda society of
this sort. A few months later, at the beginning of 1853, the
Willich-Schapper separate League also died a natural death.
The issues of principle which underlay the split mentioned
above are set out in my Revelations Concerning the Communist Trial"
which contains an extract from the minutes of the meeting of the
Central Authority of September 15, 1850. The immediate practical
cause of the split was Willick's efforts to involve the “League” in
the revolutionary escapades of the German democratic emigration.
The disagreement was exacerbated by wholly opposed interpreta-
tions of the political situation. I shall cite only one example. Willich
had conceived the idea that the quarrel between Prussia and
Austria on the question of the Electorate of Hesse and the
German Confederation’® would lead to serious conflicts and create
an opportunity for the practical intervention of the revolutionary
party. On November 10, 1850, shortly after the split in the
“League”, he published a proclamation along these lines entitled
Aux démocrates de toutes les nations® over the signatures of the
Central Authority of the “separate League” as well as those of
French, Hungarian and Polish refugees. Engels and I, on the
other hand, as can be seen in the Neue Rheinische Zeitung. Revue
(double issue, May to October 1850, Hamburg, pp. 174, 175),
maintained on the contrary that “None of this noise will lead to
anything.... Without a drop of blood having been shed, the parties
to the dispute”, i.e. Austria and Prussia, “will come together on
the benches of the Federal Diet””” in Frankfurt “without there
being the slightest diminution in their petty mutual jealousies, or
in their dissensions with their subjects, or in their irritation at

Russian supremacy”.?

a See Marx’s letter to Engels dated November 19, 1852 (present edition, Vol.
39). A copy of the letter is to be found in Marx’s notebook for 1860.— Ed.

b See present edition, Vol. 11.— Ed.

¢ Le Constitutionnel, November 18, 1850. The text of this proclamation is quoted
by Marx in his letter to Engels dated December 2, 1850 (see present edition, Vol.
38).— Ed.

d See “Review, May to October [1850]” (present edition, Vol. 10, p. 528). The
italics were introduced by Marx in Herr Vogt.—Ed.
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Now it may be judged from the following document whether
Willick's individuality (whose worth incidentally we do not intend
to dispute) and the then (1850) still fresh memories of his
experiences in Besangon enabled him “impartially” to consider
conflicts which contradictory views had rendered inevitable and
had constantly renewed:

“The German Brigade in Nancy

to

Citizen Joh. Philipp Becker in Biel,

President of the German military

association ‘Self-Help’ 78
“Citizen,

“We are writing to inform you, as the elected representative of all German
republican refugees, that in Nancy a brigade of German refugees has been formed
which bears the name: ‘German Brigade in Nancy.’

“The refugees who make up the present Brigade are composed partly of
former members of the Vesle Brigade and partly of units of the Besangon Brigade.
Factors of a purely democratic nature are responsible for the removal of the latter
from Besangon.

“The fact is that in everything that he did, Willich very rarely consulted the
Brigade. Hence the principles governing the Besangon Brigade were not generally
discussed and decided by all members, but were decreed a priori by Willich and put
into effect without the approval of the Brigade.

“Furthermore, Willich also provided evidence of his despotic nature a posterior:
in the form of a number of orders worthy of a Jellachich or a Windischgritz, but
not a republican.

“Willich ordered a man called Schén, who wished to resign from the Brigade,
to take off his new shoes which had been purchased from the savings of the
Brigade, disregarding the fact that Schén too had contributed his share to these
savings, which consisted chiefly of the daily 10 sous per capita which the French
paid by way of subsidy.... Schén wanted to take his shoes with him, but Willich
forced him to leave them behind.

“Several valuable members of the Brigade were for trivial offences such as
absence from roll-call, drill, lateness (in the evening), petty quarrels, etc., ordered
by Willich, who did net consult the Brigade, to leave Besangon. They could go to
Africa, he remarked, for they had no right to remain in France, and if they did not
go to Africa he would see to it that they were extradited to Germany. He claimed
that the French Government had given him authority to do this, but upon
subsequent inquiry the Prefecture in Besangon declared this to be untrue. Almost
every day at roll-call, Willich announced: Whoever does not like it here can go, if he
wishes, the sooner the better; he can go to Africa, etc. On one occasion he also
uttered the general threat that anyone who refused to obey his orders could either
go to Africa or he, Willich, would have him extradited to Germany. This led to our
'making the above-mentioned inquiry at the Prefecture. As a result of these daily
threats many people were fed up with life in Besangon where, as they said, one was
constantly provoked into chucking up the whole paltry business. If we wish to be
slaves, they said, we can go to Russia and we need not have started the fight in
Germany in the first place. In short, they declared that they could no longer
endure it in Besangon at any price without coming into serious conflict with
Willich. They therefore left Besangon, but as at that time there was no other
brigade which they could join, and as they could not live on the 10 sous on their
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own, they had no other choice but to sign on for Africa, and this they did. In this
way Willich reduced thirty worthy citizens to despair and he is to blame for their
loss to the national cause.

“Furthermore, Willich was unwise enough always to praise his old colleagues at
roll-call while denigrating the new ones, and this led to constant friction. On one
occasion Willich even declared at roll-call that the Prussians were far superior to
the South Germans in head, heart and body, or as he put it, in physical, moral and
inteliectual abilities. The South Germans, in contrast, were easy-going, or rather,
stupid was what he wanted to say, but he did not quite dare. In this way Willich
managed to infuriate the South Germans, who were in a great majority. We have
left the worst to the end:

“Two weeks ago the 7th Company allowed a man called Baroggio whom Willich
had arbitrarily expelled from the barracks to spend an extra night in their room.
Despite Willich’s refusal to permit this they kept him in their room and defended it
against Willich’s supporters, fanatical tailors. Willich then ordered ropes to be
brought and the rebels to be bound. The ropes really were brought, but although
Willich had the will to have his order carried through, he did not have the
power.... It is for these reasons that they have left the Brigade.

“We have not written this letter in order to accuse Willich. For Willich’s
character and intentions are good, and many of us respect him. But we did not like
the manner in which he attempts to achieve his ends nor all the means he uses.
Willich means well. But he believes to be wisdom itsclf and the ultima ratio and
thinks that everyone who opposes him, even on petty issues, is either a fool or a
traitor. In short, Willich acknowledges no opinion other than his own. He is a
spiritual aristocrat and despot; when he has resolved on a thing, he does not easily
shrink from using the means necessary to put it into practice. But enough: we know
Willich now. We know his strengths and his weaknesses; this is why we are no
longer in Besangon. Incidentally, when we left Besancon we all declared that we
were ]eaving Willich, but that we did not wish to resign from the German military
association ‘Self-Help’'.

“This applies to the members of the Vesle Brigade also...

“Assuring you of our enduring respect, we conclude w1th fraternal greetings
from the Brigade in Nancy.

“Approved in general assembly, November 13, 1848.

“Nancy, November 14, 1848

“In the name and on the instructions of the Brigade,
, Secretary”

Let us now return to Techow’s letter. As with other reptiles, its
poison is in the tail, namely in the postscript of September 3
(1850). It refers to a duel between Herr Willich and my friend,
Konrad Schramm, who died a premature death. In the duel, which
took place in Antwerp in the beginning of September 1850,
Techow and Barthélemy, a Frenchman, acted as Willich’s seconds.
Techow wrote to Schimmelpfennig “for communication to our
friends”

“They” (i.e. Marx and his followers) “have let their champion Schramm loose
against Willich who had attacked him” (Techow means: whom he had attacked)

“with invective of the most vulgar sort and finally challenged him to a duel.”
(“Magnum Opus”, pp. 156, 157.)
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My refutation of this stupid piece of gossip was published seven
years ago in the pampbhlet, cited earlier, The Knight of the Noble
Consciousness, New York, 1853,

At the time Schramm was still alive. Like Willich he was living in
the United States.

Willich’s second, Barthélemy, had not yet been hanged;
Schramm’s second, the worthy Polish officer Miskowsky, had not
yet been burnt to death,” and Herr Techow could not yet have
forgotten the letter he had written for “communication to our
friends”.

In the above-mentioned pamphlet there is a letter from my
friend Frederick Engels, dated Manchester, November 23, 1853, at the
end of which he writes:

“In the meeting of the Central Authority, when it came to a challenge
to a duel between Schramm and Willich® 1" (Engels) “am supposed”
(according to Willich) “to have committed the crime of having ‘left
the room’ together with Schramm shortly before the scene took
place, and, therefore, of having prepared the whole scene in advance.
Previously” (according to Willich) “it was Marx who was alleged to
have ‘egged on’ Schramm, now for a change I am supposed to
have done so. A duel between a Prussian lieutenant, an old hand
at pistol shooting, and a commer¢ant, who perhaps had never had a
pistol in his hand, was truly a remarkable means to ‘get rid’ of the
lieutenant. Yet friend Willich maintained everywhere, orally and
in writing, that we had wanted to get him shot.... Simply,
Schramm was furious at Willich’s shameless behaviour, and to the
great astonishment of us all he challenged him to a duel. A few
minutes before, Schramm himself had no inkling that it would
come to this. Never was an action more spontaneous.... Schramm
departed” (from the room) “only after being personally addressed
by Marx, who wanted to avoid any further scandal.

Fr. Engels” (The Knight, etc., p. 7.)"

How far I was from foreseeing that Techow would allow himself
to become a vehicle for this stupid piece of gossip can be seen
from the following passage of the same pamphleti:

“Originally, as Techow himself told Engels and me after his return to
London, Willich was firmly convinced that through Schramm 1
aimed at his removal from this world, and he put this idea in
writing everywhere. On closer reflection, however, he found it
impossible that a diabolical tactician like myself could hit on the

7 See present edition, Vol. 12, pp. 492, 493. The italics were introduced by
Marx in Herr Vogt.—Ed.
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idea of getting rid of him by means of a duel with Schramm” (loc.
cit., p. 9).2
The gossip that Techow imparted to Herr Schimmelpfennig
for “communication to our friends” was hearsay which he simply
repeated. Karl Schapper, who took Willich’s side when later the
split in the League occurred and who witnessed the challenge, has
written this letter to me about it:
“5 Percy Street, Bedford Square,
September 27, 1860
“Dear Marx,

“Concerning the row between Schramm and Willich:

“It broke out during a meeting of the Central Authority as the result of a fierce
argument between the two which arose by chance in the course of the discussion. I
can still remember very well that you did everything possible to restore calm and to
settle the affair and that you appeared to be as much taken by surprise by this
sudden explosion as I myself and everyone else present.

“Salute,
Your Karl Schapper”

Finally, it is worth mentioning that a few weeks after the duel, in
a letter dated December 31, 1850, Schramm himself accused me of
being partial to Willish. The disapproval which Engels and I had
openly expressed, both before the duel and after it, had
momentarily annoyed him. His letter and other papers of his and
Miskowsky’s concerning the duel, which have come into my hands,
are available for perusal by his relatives. They should not be
exposed to the gaze of the public.

When Konrad Schramm next visited me in London in mid-July
1857 after his return from the United States, his impetuous, tall,
youthful frame had already collapsed under the impact of
galloping consumption, which however had merely heightened the
effect of his strikingly handsome features. With the sense of
humour peculiar to him and which never left him for a moment,
the first thing he showed me, laughing as he did so, was the notice
of his death which an indiscreet friend had already published in a
German paper in New York on the basis of a rumour.” On
medical advice Schramm went to St. Hélier in Jersey, where
Engels and I saw him for the last time. Schramm died on January
16, 1858. At his burial, which was attended by the entire liberal
population of St. Hélier and the whole of the emigration resident

a ibid., p. 496. The italics were introduced by Marx in Herr Vogt.—Ed.
b See Marx’s letter to Engels dated April 9, 1857 (present edition, Vol. 40). The
paper referred to is Neue Zeit.—Ed.
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there, the funeral oration was given by one of the best English
popular orators, G. Julian Harney, who was known earlier as one
of the Chartist leaders and who had been friendly with Schramm
during his stay in London. Schramm’s ardent, fiery and enterpris-
ing nature, which could never be curbed by mundane concerns,
was combined with critical understanding, original intelligence,
ironic humour and naive geniality. He was the Percy Hotspur of
our party.

To return to Herr Techow’s letter. A few days after his arrival in
London, he had a long meeting with us late one evening® in a
tavern where Engels, Schramm and myself acted as hosts. He
describes the meeting in his letter of August 26, 1850 to
Schimmelpfennig, “for communication to our friends”.> I had
never met him before and only saw him once or twice afterwards,
and then only briefly. Nevertheless, he at once made a penetrating
analysis of me and my friends, closely examining our minds,
hearts and entrails, and hastened to send a letter containing a
psychological description behind our backs to Switzerland, careful-
ly advising his “friends” that it should be secrétly reproduced and
distributed.

Techow is much concerned with the state of my “heart”. I will
generously refrain from following him into this territory. “Ne
parlons pas morale” as the Parisian grisette says when her friend
starts to talk politics.

Let us dwell a while on the recipient of the letter of August 26,
the former Prussian lieutenant Schimmelpfennig. 1 do not know the
gentleman personally and have never seen him. I shall quote from
two letters to convey his character. The first, which I give only in
extract, was addressed to me by my friend W. Steffen, a former
Prussian lieutenant and teacher in the Divisional School. It is
dated Chester, November 23, 18538 and he writes:

“Willich once sent an adjutant called Schimmelpfennig over” (to Cologne). “He
paid me the compliment of summoning me to him and he was firmly convinced
that he could assess the whole situation right from the start better than anyone who
was involved in it from day to day. He therefore formed a very low opinion of me
when I told him that the officers of the Prussian army would be far from
considering themselves fortunate to be able to fight under his banner and Willich’s
and that they were certainly not inclined to proclaim Willich’s republic at once. He
became even angrier when no one showed himself foolish enough to offer to
duplicate the proclamation which he had brought with him in readiness and which
exhorted the officers to declare themselves in favour of what he called democracy.

a On August 21, 1850.— Ed.
b See Carl Vogt, Mein Prozess..., S. 142-61.— Ed.
¢ “Don’t let’s talk morality.” — Ed.
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“In a fury, he departed from what he described to me as ‘a Cologne enslaved by
Marx’. He arranged for the duplication of his nonsense elsewhere and dispatched it
to a large number of officers with the result that the chaste mystery of his cunning
plan to convert Prussian officers to the republican cause was prostituted by the
‘Spectator’ of the Kreuz-Zeitung.”

At the time of this adventure, Steffen, who only came to
England in 1853, was completely unknown to me. Even more
revealing is Schimmelpfennig’s self-characterisation in the following
letter to the same Harfel who was later exposed as a French police
agent. He was the heart and soul of the Revolutionary Committee
founded in Paris at the end of 1850 by Schimmelpfennig, Schurz,
Hifner and other friends of Kinkel in those days and he was on
terms of intimacy with those two matadors Schurz and Schim-
melpfennig.

Schimmelpfennig to Horfel (in Paris, 1851):

“Here” (in London) “the following events have taken place.... We have written
to all our friends with any influence” (in America) “asking them to prepare the
way for the loan” (the Kinkel Loan) “first of all by talking for some time about the
power of conspiracy, both personally and in the press, and by emphasising that people
worth their salt will never leave the field of battle— neither the Germans, the French
nor the Italians.” (History does not have no date?®) “... Our work is now off to a good
start. If you drop people who are too obstinate, they will soon think better of it and
come to accept the conditions imposed. Since the work is now firm and secure, I
shall tomorrow establish contact with Ruge and Haug.... My own social position, like
yours, is very oppressive. It is vital that our affairs should get moving soon.” (Namely
the business of Kinkel's Revolutionary Loan.)

“Your Schimmelpfennig”

This letter of Schimmelpfennig’'s is to be found in the
Enthiillungen which A. Ruge published in the Herold des Westens,
Louisville, September 11, 1853. Schimmelpfennig, who was
already living in the United States when they appeared, never
impugned the authenticity of the letter. Ruge’s Enthiillungen are
reprinted from a document entitled “Aus den Akten des Berliner
Polizeiprdsidiums™. It consists of marginal notes by Hinckeldey and
of papers which were either found by the French police in the
possession of Schimmelpfennig and Hoérfel in Paris, or were
unearthed at Pastor Dulon’s in Bremen, or, lastly, were entrusted to
the German-American press during the Frogs-and-Mice War
between Ruge’s Agitation Union and Kinkel’s Emigré Society,* by
the feuding brothers themselves. Typical is the irony with which

2 Marx ridicules Schimmelpfennig’s ungrammatical sentence by alluding to an
equally ungrammatical statement made by Prince Lichnowski, a reactionary deputy
of the Frankfurt National Assembly, who said at one of the sessions: “Fiir das
historische Recht gibt es kein Datum nicht” (“With regard to historical right there
does mot exist no date”) (cf. present edition, Vol. 7, p. 369).— Ed.
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Hinckeldey remarks that Schimmelpfennig abruptly cut short his
journey through Prussia as missionary on behalf of Kinkel’s
Revolutionary Loan because “he imagined that he was being pursued
by the police”! The same Enthiillungen contain a letter from Karl
Schurz, “the representative of the Paris Committee” (i.e. that of
Horfel, Hifner, Schimmelpfennig, etc.) “in' London”, in which we
find:

“It was decided yesterday that of the members of the emigration here Bucher,
Dr. Frank, Redz from Vienna and Techow, who will soon be here, should be asked
to join the discussions. N.B. Techow should not be informed of this decision for the time

being, either verbally or in writing, before his arrival.” (Karl Schurz to his “dear men”
in Paris, London, April 16, 1851.)

It was to one of these “dear men”, Herr Schimmelpfennig, that
Techow addresses his letter of August 26, 1850 for “communica-
tion to our friends”. He begins by informing the “dear man” of
theories which I had been trying to keep a strict secret, but which
he at once detected at our single encounter by means of the
proverb “in vino veritas”.

“I,” Herr Techow recounts to Herr Schimmelpfennig, “for communication to
our friends”, “I ... declared finally that I had always imagined them” (i.e. Marx,

Engels, etc.) “to be above all the nonsense about a communist paradisiacal barn a la Cabet,
etc.” (“Magnum Opus”, p. 150.)?

Imagined! So Techow did not even know the elementary facts
about our views, but was nevertheless magnanimous and condes-
cending enough to imagine that they were not exactly “nonsense”.

Leaving scientific works to one side, even if he had read the
Manifesto of the Communist Party, which he later calls my
“Proletarian Catechism”,® he would have found in it a detailed
chapter with the title “Socialist and Communist Literature”, and at
the end of this chapter a section entitled “Critical-Utopian
Socialism and Communism”, in which it says:

“The Socialist and Communist systems properly so called, those
of Saint-Simon, Fourier, Owen and others, spring into existence in
the early undeveloped period, described above, of the struggle
between proletariat and bourgeoisie.... The founders of these
systems saw, indeed, the class antagonisms, as well as the action of
the decomposing elements in the prevailing form of society. But
the proletariat offered to them the spectacle of a class without any
historical initiative or any independent political movement. Since
the development of class antagonism keeps even pace with the

a Carl Vogt, Mein Prozess..., S. 150. Marx’s italics and bold type.— Ed.
b ijbid., S. 152.—Ed.



Herr Vogt.—IV. Techow’s Letter 89

development of industry, the economic situation, as they find it,
does not as yet offer to them the material conditions for the
emancipation of the proletariat. They therefore search after a
social science, after social laws, that are to create these conditions.
Social action is to yield to their personal inventive action,
historically created conditions of emancipation to fantastic ones,
and the gradual class organisation of the proletariat to an
organisation of society specially contrived by these inventors. Future
history resolves itself, in their eyes, into the propaganda and the
practical carrying out of their social plans.... The significance of
Critical-Utopian Socialism and Communism bears an inverse
relation to historical development.... Therefore, although the
originators of these systems were, in many respects, revolutionary,
their disciples have, in every case, formed mere reactionary sects
[...] and [...] still dream of experimental realisation of their social
Utopias, of founding isolated ‘phalansteres’, of establishing ‘Home
Colonies’, of setting up a ‘Little Icaria’*— duodecimo editions of the
New Jerusalem...” (Manifesto of the Communist Party, 1848, pp. 21,
22).°

In the concluding words Cabet’s Icaria, or “paradisiacal barn”,
to use Techow’s expression, 1s explicitly referred to as a
“duodecimo edition of the New Jerusalem”.

Techow’s self-confessed total ignorance of the ideas that Engels
and I had published in print years before our encounter with him
is the factor that completely accounts for his misunderstanding. A
few quotations will serve adequately to characterise him:

“He” (Marx) “laughs at the fools who blindly repeat his Proletarian Catechism
after him, just as he laughs at communists like Willich and at the bourgeoisie. The
only men he respects are aristocrats, those who are pure aristocrats, and are
conscious of being so. To oust them from power he requires a force which he can find
only in the proletariat. This is why his system is tailored to fit that force” (“Magnum
Opus”, p. 152).

* Phalanstéres were Socialist colonies on the plan of Charles Fourier; Icaria was
the name given by Cabet to his Utopia and, later on, to his American Communist
colony. [Note by Engels to the English edition of 1888.]

“Home Colonies” were what Owen called his Communist model societies.
Phalanstéres was the name of the public palaces planned by Fourier. Icaria was the
name given to the Utopian land of fancy, whose Communist institutions Cabet
portravec. [Note by Engels to the German edition of 1890.]

2 Here and below Marx quotes from the first German edition of the Manifesto of the
Communisi Party, published in London in 1848 (see present edition, Vol. 6. pp. 514-15,
516). The nalics were introduced by Marx in Herr Vegt.—Ed.
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Techow thus “imagines” that I have written a “Proletarian
Catechism”. He means the Manifesto which criticises and, if he
likes, “ridicules” socialist and critical utopianism of every kind. Only,
this “ridiculing” was not such a simple matter as Techow
“imagines”, but required a fair amount of work, as he could see from
my book against Proudhon, Misére de la philosophie (1847).* Techow
further “imagines” that I have “tailored” a “system”, whereas, on the
contrary, even in the Manifesto which was intended directly for
workers, I rejected systems of every kind and in their place I insisted
on “a critical insight into the conditions, the line of march and the
ultimate general results of the real movement of society”.® Such an
“insight” cannot be blindly repeated, nor can it be “tailored” like a
cartridge pouch. Of rare naivety is the view of the relations between
aristocracy, bourgeoisie and proletariat, as Techow “imagines” them
and imputes them to me.

I “respect” the aristocracy, “laugh” at the bourgeoisie, and I
“tailor a system” to fit the proletariat, using them to “oust the
aristocracy from power”. In the first section of the Manifesto,
entitled “Bourgeois and Proletarians” (see Manifesto, p. 11),° it is
argued in detail that the economic and, hence too, in one form or
another, the political sway of the bourgeoisie is the essential
precondition both of the existence of the modern proletariat and
of the creation of the *“material conditions for its emancipation”.
“The development of the modern proletariat” (see Neue Rheinische
Zeitung. Revue, January 1850, p. 15) “is, in general, conditioned by
the development of the industrial bourgeoisie. Only under its rule
does the proletariat gain that extensive national existence which
can raise its revolution to a national one, and does it itself create
the modern means of production, which become just so many
means of its revolutionary emancipation. Only its rule tears up the
material roots of feudal society and levels the ground on which
alone a proletarian revolution is possible.”’® 1 declared accordingly in
the same “Review” that any revolution in which England did not
take part was no more than a “storm in a teacup”.”® Engels had
already advanced the same opinion in 1845 in The Condition of the
Working-Class in Zngland° Hence in countries where an aristocracy

2 See present edition, Vol. 6.~ Ed.

b ibid., p. 497.— Ed.

< ibid., pp. 495-96.— Ed.

d Karl Marx, The Class Struggles in France, 1848 to 1850 (see present edition, Vol.
10, p. 56). The italics were introduced by Marx in Herr Vogt.—Ed.

€ See present edition, Vol. 4.— Ed.
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in the Continental sense of the term—and this is what Techow
meant by “aristocracy”——has still to be “ousted from power”, the
very first prerequisite of a proletarian revolution is in my opinion
missing, namely the existence of an industrial proletariat on a
national scale.

Techow could have found my view of the attitude to the
bourgeois movement adopted by the German workers in particular
expressed very clearly in the Manafesto.

“In Germany they [the Communists] fight with the bourgeoisie
whenever it acts in a revolutionary way, against the absolute
monarchy, the feudal landowners and philistinism [ Kleinbiirgerei].
But they never cease, for a single instant, to instil into the working
class the clearest possible recognition of the hostile antagonism
between bourgeoisie and proletariat, etc.” (Manifesto, p. 23.)*

When I stood before a bourgeois jury in Cologne charged with
“rebellion”, I argued along the same lines: “Modern bourgeois
society still has classes, but no longer social estates. Its development
lies in the struggle between these classes, but the latter stand
united against the estates and their monarchy by the grace of
God.” (““Zwei politische Prozesse, verhandelt vor den Februar-Assisen
zu Koln 18497, p. 59.)%

What else did the liberal bourgeoisie do in its appeals to the
proletariat between 1688 and 1848 but “tailor systems and
phrases” in order to use the proletariat’s strength to oust the
aristocracy from power? So Herr Techow discovers that the core
of the matter® hidden in my secret theory is bourgeois liberalism of
the crudest sort! Tant de bruit pour une omelette! © Since, on the other
hand, Techow knew perfectly well that “Marx” was no bourgeois
liberal, he was left finally with no choice but “to go away with the
impression that his personal supremacy was the goal of all his
actions”. “All my actions”, what a temperate description of my
single interview with Herr Techow!

Techow further confides to his Schimmelpfennig, “for com-
munication to our friends”, that I had expressed the following
monstrous opinion:

a Karl Marx and Frederick Engels, Manifesto of the Communist Party (see present
edition, Vol. 6, p. 519). Marx quotes the German edition of 1848.—Ed.

b Marx uses the idiomatic expression des Pudels Kern from Goethe’s Faust, Erster
Teil, Studierzimmer.— Ed.

¢ Much ado about an omelette!—an exclamation which Jacques Vallée, Sieur
des Barreaux, is supposed to have made when a thunderstorm occurred while he
was eating an omelette on a fast-day.— Ed.
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“In the end it is a matter of complete indifference whether this miserable
Europe were to be destroyed, a thing which must happen within a short space of
time without a social revolution, and whether afterwards America would exploit the:
old system at Europe’s expense.” (“Magnum Opus”, p. 148.)2

My conversation with Techow took place at the end of August
1850. In the February 1850 issue of the Neue Rheinische Zeitung.
Revue, i.e. eight months before Techow culled this secret from my
lips, I revealed the following views to the German public:

“Now we come to America. The most important thing to have
occurred here, more important than the February revolution, is
the discovery of the Californian gold-mines. Already now, after
barely eighteen months, one may predict that this discovery will
have much more impressive consequences than the discovery of
America itself.... For the second time world trade is taking a new
direction ... the Pacific Ocean will have the same role as the
Atlantic has now and the Mediterranean had in antiquity and in
the Middle Ages—that of the great water highway of world
commerce; and the Atlantic will decline to the status of an inland
sea, like the Mediterranean nowadays. The only chance the
civilised nations of Europe will then have, not to fall into the same
industrial, commercial and political dependence to which Italy,
Spain and Portugal are now reduced, lies in a social revolution.”
(Revue, No. 2, February 1850, pp. [76,] 77.)"°

But the idea that old Europe will be “destroyed within a short
space of time” and America will accede to the throne the following
morning, belongs to Herr Techow. The clarity of my own view of
America’s immediate prospects at that time can be seen from
another passage in the same “Review”: “QOwver-speculation will
develop very soon, and even if British capital becomes involved on
a large scale [...] nevertheless this time New York will remain the
centre of the whole swindle and, as in 1836, will be the first to
suffer when it collapses.” (Revue, double issue, May to October
1850, p. 149.)¢ This prognosis for America, which I made in 1850,
was fully borne out by the great trade crisis of 1857. As to “old
Europe”, on the other hand, having given an account of the
revival of its economy, 1 go on to say: “With this general
prosperity, in which the productive forces of bourgeois society

a In this passage Marx left out Vogt’s italics and introduced bold type.— Ed.

b See present edition, Vol. 10, pp. 265-66. The word “then” in the last sentence
was introduced by Marx in Herr Vogt.—Ed.

¢ Here and immediately below Marx quotes, with minor alterations, from
“Review, May to October [1850}” (see present edition, Vol. 10, pp. 506 and 510).
The italics were introduced by Marx in Herr Vogt.— Ed.
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develop so luxuriantly ... there can be no talk of a real
revolution.... The various quarrels in which the representatives of
the individual factions of the Continental party of Order now
indulge and mutually compromise themselves, far from providing
the occasion for revolution, are, on the contrary, possible only "
because the basis of the relationships is momentarily so secure and,
what the reaction does not know, so bourgeois. All reactionary
attempts to hold up bourgeois development will rebound off it just
as certainly as all moral indignation and all enthusiastic proclamations
of the democrats. A new revolution is possible only in consequence
of a crisis” (loc. cit., p. 153).

And in fact European history has only re-entered an acute and,
if one wishes, revolutionary phase since the crisis of 1857-58. In
fact it was precisely during the reactionary period from 1849 to
1859 that industry and trade on the Continent, and along with
them the material foundations for the political domination of the
bourgeoisie, developed to an extent unheard of previously. In fact
during this period “all moral indignation and all enthusiastic
proclamations of the democrats” rebounded off the realities of
economic conditions.

If Techow took the serious side of our discussions so humor-
ously, he made up for it by the seriousness with which he
responded to their humorous side. With a woebegone face he
reports to his Schimmelpfennig “for communication to our
friends”:

“Furthermore, Marx stated: In revolutions officers are always the greatest
threat; [...] from La Fayette to Napoleon, a series of traitors and treacheries. One

ought always to have dagger and poison in readiness for them.” (“Magnum Opus”,
p. 153)a

Even Techow will not wish to claim that the platitude about
the treasonable activities of “the military” is an original opinion of
mine. My originality is supposed rather to consist in the “dagger
and poison” always to be held in readiness. Did Techow not know
even then that really revolutionary governments, such as the
Comité du salut public’® kept antidotes in readiness for “the
military” that were very drastic though less melodramatic? The
dagger and poison really belong to the stock-in-trade of a
Venetian oligarchy. If Techow were to scrutinise his letter once
again, he would perhaps notice the irony in the “dagger and
poison”. Vogts fellow-scoundrel, Edouard Simon, the notorious
Bonapartist spy, translated the last part of Techow’s letter in the

a In this passage the italics are Vogt's.— Ed.
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Revue contemporaine (X111, Paris, 1860, p. 528, in his “Le proces
de M. Vogt, etc.”) adding. his own gloss:

“Marx n’aime pas beaucoup voir des officiers dans sa bande. Les officiers sont
trop dangereux dans les révolutions.

Il faut toujours tenir préts pour eux le poignard et le poison!

“Techow, qui est officier, se le tient pour dit; il se rembarque et retourne en
Suisse.” ?

According to Edouard Simon, poor Techow was in such a panic
at the thought of the “dagger and poison” I was holding in
readiness, that he immediately took to his heels, boarded ship and
returned to Switzerland. The Imperial Vogt prints the passage
about “dagger and poison” in bold type, to send a shiver down
the spine of the German philistines. However, the same merry
gentleman wrote in his so-called Studien:

“Today the knife and the poison of the Spaniard are shining in even greater glory—for
it was the independence of the nation that was at stake” (loc. cit., p. 79).b

Quite by the way: the Spanish and English historical sources
dealing with the period 1807-14 have long since disproved the
tales about poison invented by the French. But for the tub-
thumping politicians, of course, they survive unscathed.

I now come, lastly, to the “tittle-tattle” in Techow’s letter and
shall provide a few illustrations of his historical impartiality:

“The talk centred at first on the question of competition between them and us,
Switzerland and London.[...] They had to maintain the rights of the old League, which

because of its own specific party policy of course could not tolerate another league
operating in the same area” (the proletariat) (“Magnum Opus”, p. 143).c

The rival organisation in Switzerland to which Techow refers
here and as whose representative he, as it were, approached us,
was the already-mentioned “ Revolutionary Centralisation”. Its Cen-
tral Committee was located in Zurich and its President was a lawyer,
a former Vice-President of one of the pocket parliaments of 1848
and a member of one of the provisional governments in Germany
in 1849.% In July 1850 Dronke went to Zurich® where, as a

a “Marx does not much care to see officers in his gang. Officers are too
dangerous in revolutions.

“Ome ought always to have dagger and poison in readimess for them!

“Techow, who is an officer, did not need to be told twice; he re-embarked and
returned to Switzerland” (Edouard Simon, “Un tableau de moeurs politiques en
Allemagne. Le procés de M. Vogt avec la gazette d’Augsbourg”, Revue contem-
poraine, t. 13, Paris, February 15, 1860). The italics are Simon’s.— Ed.

b Carl Vogt, Studien zur gegenwirtigen Lage Europas, S. 79. Marx’s italics.— Ed.

¢ Carl Vogt, Mein Prozess..., S. 143.— Ed.

d Samuel Erdmann Tzschirner.— Ed.
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member of the London “League”, he was given a sort of legal
contract by that lawyer “for communication” to me. I quote from
it verbatim: '

“Considering the necessity for a union of all truly revolutionary elements, and
since all members of the Revolutionary Central Committee have acknowledged the
proletarian character of the next revolution, even though not all were able
unreservedly to accept the programme adopted in London (the Manifesto of 1848),
the Communist organisation and the Revolutionary Centralisation have agreed on the
following points:

“1. Both parties agree to continue working side by side—the Revolutionary
Centralisation will strive to prepare for the next revolution by attempting to unite
all revolutionary elements, the London association will try to prepare for the rule
of the proletariat by concentrating primarily on the organisation of proletarian
elements;

“2. The Revolutionary Centralisation will instruct its agents and emissaries that,
when forming branches in Germany, members who seem to be qualified to join the
Communist organisation should have their attention drawn to the existence of an
organisation devoted primarily towards the furtherance of proletarian interests;

“3. and 4. That the leadership in the ‘Revolutionary Central Committee’ for
Switzerland will only be entrusted to genuine supporters of the London Manifesto,
and that there should be a general exchange of information.”

It is evident from this document, which is still in my possession,
that there was no question of two secret societies “operating in the
same area” (the proletariat), but of an alliance between two
societies with different aims operating in different areas. It is equally
evident that the “Revolutionary Centralisation” declared itself
willing to act as a sort of branch organisation of the “Communist
League”, in addition to pursuing its own ends.

The proposal was rejected because it was incompatible with the
principles of the “League”.

“Then it was Kinkel’s turn.... To this they replied.... They had never striven for
cheap popularity, on the contrary! [...] As far as Kinkel was concerned they would
not have begrudged him his cheap popularity in the least, had he kept quiet. But
once he had published that Rastatt speech in the Berlin Abend-Post2 peace was no
longer possible. They had known perfectly well that there would be a general
outcry; they had clearly foreseen that the existence of their present paper”
(Rheinische Zeitung. Revue) “was at stake. Moreover, their fears had been realised.
They had been ruined by the whole affair, they had lost all their subscribers in the
Rhine Province and had to close the paper down. But it would do them no harm”
(loc. cit., pp. 146-48).b

First a factual correction. It is not true that the Revue was closed
down at this point, since one more, double issue came out three

2 Gottfried Kinkel's speech before the court martial in Rastatt on August 4,
1849, Abend-Post, Nos. 78 and 79, April 5 and 6, 1850.— Ed.
b Carl Vogt, Mein Prozess..., S. 146-48.— Ed.
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months afterwards.” Nor had we lost.a single subscriber in the Rhine
Province, as my old friend 'J. Weydemeyer, a former Prussian
lieutenant of artillery and, at that time, editor of the Neue Deutsche
Zeitung in Frankfurt, can testify since it was he who was kind
enough to collect the subscriptions for us. For the rest, Techow,
who had only a hearsay acquaintance with the writings of Engels
and myself, nevertheless must at least have read our critique—
which he himself criticises—of Kinkel’s speech. Why then send
this confidential information to his “dear men” in Switzerland?
Why “reveal” to them what we had ourselves revealed to the
public five months previously? We wrote in the critique referred
to:

“We know in advance that we shall provoke the general wrath
of the sentimental swindlers and democratic spouters by denounc-
ing this speech of the ‘captured’ Kinkel to our party. To this we
are completely indifferent. Our task is that of ruthless criticism ...
and in maintaining this our position we gladly forego cheap
democratic popularity. Our attack will by no means worsen Herr
Kinkel's position; we denounce his amnesty by confirming his
confession that he is not the man people allege to hold him for,
and by declaring that he is worthy, not only of being amnestied,
but even of entering the service of the Prussian state! Moreover,
his speech has been published” (Neue Rheinische Zeitung. Revue,
April 1850, pp. 70, 71).%

Techow asserts that we “compromised” the petits grands hommes®
of the revolution. However, he does not use the word “compro-
mise” in the police sense of Herr Vogt. On the contrary, he means
the operation by means of which we stripped off the offensive
covering of those sheep who had dressed up in revolutionary
wolf’s clothing, thus preserving them from the fate of the
celebrated Provencgal troubadour® who was torn to pieces by the
dogs because they took the wolf’s pelt seriously which he wore to
go hunting.

As an instance of our offensive attacks Techow singles out the
incidental gloss on General Sigel to be found in Engels’ account of
the “campaign for the Imperial Constitution” (see Revue, March
1850, pp. 70-78).4

2 The issue in question— Neue Rheinische Zeitung. Politisch-dkonomische Revue, No.
5-6—appeared in late November 1850.— Ed.

b Little great men.— Ed.

¢ Vidal Peire.— Ed.

d See present edition, Vol. 10, pp. 174-79.— Ed.
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Now Engels’ critique, which is based on documentary evidence,
should be compared with the following malicious and trite twaddle
about that same General Sigel, published about a year after our
meeting with Techow by the London “Emigration Association”
run by Techow, Kinkel, Willich, Schimmelpfennig, Schurz,
H. B. Oppenheim, Eduard Meyen, etc. Moreover, this was pub-
lished solely because Sigel belonged to Ruge’s “Agitation Union”,
instead of Kinkel's “Emigration Association”.

On December 3, 1851 the Baltimore Correspondent® which was at
the time a sort of Kinkel Moniteur, published the following
description of Sigel beneath the title ‘“The Agitation Union in
London”:

“Let us take another look at these worthy men who regard everyone else as an
‘immature politician’. Sigel, the supreme commander. If anyone ever asks the muse of
history how such an insipid nonentity was given the supreme command she will be
even more at a loss for an explanation than in the case of that mooncalf Napoleon.
The latter is at least ‘his uncle’s nephew’; Sigel, however, is only ‘his brother’s
brother’. His brotherb became a popular officer as a result of his critical remarks
about the government, remarks which had been provoked by his frequent arrests
for disorderly behaviour. The young Sigel thought this reason enough in the early
confusion prevailing at the outbreak of the revolution to proclaim himself supreme
commander and Minister of War. The Baden artillery, which had often proved its
worth, had plenty of older and more experienced otficers who should have taken
precedence over this young Lieutenant Sigel, and they were more than a little
indignant when they had to obey a young, insignificant man whose inexperience was
only matched by his incompetence. But there was Brentano, who was so mindless and
treacherous as to permit anything that might ruin the revolution. It is a ridiculous
fact, but a fact nevertheless, that Sigel promoted himself to the rank of commander-in-
chief and that Brentano approved his nomination in retrospect.... It is certainly
noteworthy that Sigel left the bravest soldiers of the republican army in the lurch at
the desperate and hopeless battles in Rastatt and the Black Forest without the
reinforcements he had promised while he himself drove around Zurich with the
epaulettes and in the carriage of Prince von Fiirstenberg and paraded as an
interesting unfortunate supreme commander. This is the well-known magnitude of
this mature politician who, ‘understandably proud’ of his earlier heroic deeds,
imposed himself as supreme commander for a second time, on this occasion in the
Agitation Union. This is the great well-known mans< the ‘brother of his brother.”d

Impartiality requires us to lend an ear also to Ruge’s “Agitation
Union” in the person of its spokesman Tausenau. In an open letter
addressed “To Citizen Seidensticker”, London, November 14, 1851,

a Der Deutsche Correspondent (Baltimore).— Ed.

b Albert Sigel.— Ed.

¢ Presumably an analogy with The Great Unknown, i.e. Sir Walter Scott, who
was called so because until 1827 his novels appeared anonymously.— Ed.

d This passage is also quoted in the pamphlet The Great Men of the Exile by
Marx and Engels (see present edition, Vol. 11, p. 324).— Ed.
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Tausenau writes with reference to the “Emigration Association”
led by Kinkel, Techow, etc.:

“..They affirm their conviction that the union of all in_ the interest of the
revolution is an urgent patriotic duty. The German Agitation Union shares this
conviction, and its members have proved this by their sustained efforts to achieve
unity with Kinkel and his supporters. But as soon as a basis for political
co-operation seemed to be established it vanished once again, and new disappoint-
ments followed the old ones. High-handed actions in violation of previous
agreements, separate interests in the guise of conciliation, the systematic ‘fixing’ of
majorities, the emergence of unknown quantities as party leaders, attempts to
impose a secret finance committee are but a few of the devious tricks and chess
moves that immature politicians always resort to in exile in the belief that they are
guiding the fortunes of their country, while in reality the very first glow of the
revolution will dissipate all such vanities and scatter them to the winds.... We were
denounced officially and in public by Kinkel’s supporters; the reactionary German
press, which was barred to us, is packed with reports favourable to Kinkel and
hostile to us. Finally Kinkel made the journey to the United States in order to use
his project of the so-called German Loan as a means of imposing a union on us, or
rather a status of subordination and dependence which is the goal of everyone who
proposes a financial merger between two parties. Kinkel’s departure was kept so secret
that we did not learn of it until we read in the American press about his arrival in
New York.... All this, and other considerations of the same sort,were compelling
motives to persuade serious revolutionaries who did not overestimate themselves,
but who in the knowledge of their previous achievements could with self-confidence
assert that at any rate clearly defined sections of the people stood behind them, to enter an
association which seeks in its own way to further the interests of the revolution.” 2

Further it is held against Kinkel that the funds he had collected
were to be used for the benefit of “a clique”, as “his entire
behaviour here” (in London) “and in America makes plain”, as do
also “the majority of the guarantors nominated by Kinkel
himself”. ,

Tausenau concludes by saying:

“We promise our friends neither interest on their money nor the repayment of
their patriotic donations; but we know that we shall vindicate their confidence in us
through our positive achievements” (fair services?) “and scrupulous accounting and

that one day, when we come to publish their names, the gratitude of the nation will await
them” (Baltimore Wecker of November 29, 1851).

This was the sort of “literary activity” maintained in the
columns of the German-American press for three years by the
democratic heroes of the “Agitation Union” and the “Emigration
Association” who were later joined by the “Revolutionary League
of Two Worlds”®* founded by Goegg. (See Appendix 6.)

The refugee row in the American press, incidentally, was
inaugurated by a paper battle® between the parliamentarians Zitz
and Roesler of Oels.

2 This passage is contained in Marx’s notebook for 1860.— Ed.
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One more fact by way of characterising Techow’s “dear men”.

Schimmelpfennig, to whom Techow’s letter “for communication
to our friends” was addressed, had set up a so-called Revolu-
tionary Committee in Paris at the end of 1850 (as we have already
mentioned) together with Hérfel. Hifner, Goegg and others
(K. Schurz joined in at a later date).

A few years ago a document written by a former member of the
Committee to a political refugee here® was handed to me to use
as I pleased. The document is still in my possession.

It says, among other things:

“Schurz and Schimmelpfennig were in effect the whole Committee. They also
acquired some sort of associates but they were merely for show. These two
gentlemen firmly believed at that time that they could soon put their Kinkel, whom
they had virtually made their property, at the head of affairs in Germany. They
particularly detested Ruge’s sarcasms and the criticism and demonic activity of
Marx. At a meeting of these gentlemen with their associates they gave us a really
very interesting description of Marx and conveyed to us an exaggerated impression
of the pandemonic dangers he represented.... Schurz-Schimmelpfennig proposed a
motion to destroy Marx. The means they recommended were insinuations and
intrigues, and the most shameless slanders. A vote in favour and a resolution, if
one can use these words to describe their childish antics, then took place. The next
step was the character sketch of Marx published in the literary section of the
Hamburger Anzeiger? at the beginning of 1851. It was written by L. Hifner on the
basis of the above-mentioned description by Schurz and Schimmelpfennig.”

In any event there is the most striking affinity between Hiafner’s
essay and Techow’s letter, although neither the one nor the other
can equal Vogt’s Lousiad. It is important not to confuse the Lousiad
with the Lusiads of Camoens. The original Lousiad was rather a
mock heroic epic by Peter Pindar.”!

2 Leopold Hifner’s article was published in the Hamburger Nachrichten on
February 28, 1851.— Ed.
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v
IMPERIAL REGENT AND COUNT PALATINE

Vidi un col capo si di merda lordo,
Che non parea, s'era laico, o cherco,
Quei mi sgridd: perche se’ tu si 'ngordo
Di riguardar pit me che gli altri brutt.

(Dante) *

Vogt, repulsed by the Bristlers, experiences a powerful need
to show why the “Brimstone Gang” had singled him out as the béte
noire. For this reason Cherval and the “frustrated conspiracy” at
the Joint Festival in Lausanne are supplemented by the adventure
of the “fugitive Imperial Regent”, an adventure which had no less
reality than they. Vogt, we must not forget, was at one time
Governor of the parliamentary island of Barataria.” His story goes
like this:

“Early in 1850 the Deutsche Monatsschrift of Kolatschek made its appearance. [...]
Immediately after the publication of the first number, the Brimstone Gang, acting
through one of its comrades who left for America without delay, issued a pamphlet with
the title Der fliichtige Reichsregent Vogt mit seinem Anhange und die Deutsche
Monatsschrift von Adolf Kolatschek, a work which was also mentioned by the
Allgemeine Zeitung.... The Brimstone Gang’s whole systern is revealed yet again in
this pamphlet” (loc. cit., pp. [162-]163).2

He goes on to explain at tedious length how, in the pamphlet
referred to, an anonymous article on Gagern which had been
written by Professor Hagen was “attributed” to the fugitive
Imperial Regent, Vogt, because

* I there made out a smeared
Head —whether clerk or lay was hard to tell,
It was so thickly plastered with the merd.
“Why stand there gloating?” he began to yell,
“Why stare at me more than the other scum?” (Kannegiesser) [ The Divine
Comedy, Inferno, Ganto XVIII. Kannegiesser is the name of the German translator.]

2 Here and below Marx quotes from Vogt's Mein Prozess..., S. 162-63. The italics
are Marx’s.—Ed.
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“the Brimstone Gang knew” that Hagen “was living in Germany at the time,
that he had been harassed by the Baden police and that he could not be named
without exposing him to molestation of the most unpleasant sort” (p. 163).

In his letter of February 6, Schily wrote to me from Paris:

“That Greiner who, to the best of my knowledge, has never been to Geneva, has
been linked with the Brimstone Gang, is the result of his obituary notice to the
‘fugitive Imperial Regent’ for which d’Ester was held responsible and outlawed in
parliamentary circles until 1 set matters right in a letter to one of Vogt's friends
and colleagues.” b

Greiner was a member of the Provisional Government of the
Palatinate. Greiner’s rule was an “‘unrelieved horror” (see Vogt’s
Studien, p. 28), that is for my friend Engels, whom he had arrested
on a trumped-up charge in Kirchheim. Engels has himself given a
detailed account of the whole tragicomedy in the Neue Rheinische
Zeitung. Revue (February 1850, pp. 53-55).° And that is all I know
about Herr Greiner. The fact that the fugitive Imperial Regent has
managed to implicate me in his quarrel with *Count Palatine”
reveals “yet again” the “whole system” by means of which our
ingenious raconteur has composed the story of the life and deeds
of “the Brimstone Gang”.

What endears him to me, however, is the true Falstaffian
humour he displayed in causing the Count Palatine to depart for
America “without delay”. The Count Palatine, having let fly his
pamphlet at the “fugitive Imperial Regent” like a Parthian shot,
was suddenly overwhelmed with horror. Which caused Greiner to
flee from Switzerland to France, from France to England. Even
the Channel did not seem to offer sufficient protection and so he
fled headlong to a Cunard steamer® in Liverpool where he
breathlessly cried out to the Captain: “Away, across the Atlantic!”
And the “stern mariner” ¢ replied:

“T’ll save you from the hands of the Vogt
But from the might of the storm another must lend his aid.” f

a2 Marx quotes from Schily’s letter of February 8, 1860.— Ed.

b Ludwig Simon.— Ed.

¢ See The Campaign for the German Imperial Constitution (present edition, Vol. 10,
pp. 200-02).— Ed.

d Marx uses the English word.— Ed.

€ Marx uses the English phrase.— Ed.

f Schiller, Wilhelm Tell, Act 1, Scene 1.— Ed.
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VI
VOGT AND THE NEUE RHEINISCHE ZEITUNG

“Sin kumber was manecvalt.” 2

Vogt himself claims that his “purpose” in writing his “Magnum
Opus” (p. 162) is to clarify “the development of his personal attitude to
this clique” (Marx and Co.). Curiously enough, he only describes
conflicts that he has never experienced and only experiences
conflicts that he has never described. So it is necessary to confront
his tall stories with a piece of real history. Anyone who leafs
through the Neue Rheinische Zeitung (June 1, 1848-May 19, 1849)
will discover that in 1848 Vogt’s name does not occur, apart from
a single exception,’ either in its leading articles or in its
correspondence columns. It will be found only in the daily reports
of the parliamentary debates and to Vogt’s immense satisfaction
the Frankfurt reporter ¢ never failed to record conscientiously the
“applause” accorded to him for ‘“the speeches delivered by
himself”. We saw that whereas the Right wing in Frankfurt had at
their disposal the united forces of a harlequin like Lichnowski and
a clown like von Vincke, the Left was forced to rely entirely on the
sporadic outbreaks of farce from its one and only Vogt We
realised that he stood in need of encouragement,

“that important fellow,
the children’s wonder — Signor Punchinello”,d

a “His griefs were manifold” —an adapted line from Der Edel Stein, a collection
of fables by Ulrich Bonerius.— Ed.

b This refers to the article “Ein Aktenstiick des Mirzvereins” in the Neue
Rheinische Zeitung, No. 181, December 29, 1848.— Ed.

¢ Gustav Adolph Schléffel.— Ed.

d Marx gives these lines in English.— Ed.
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and so let the Frankfurt reporter have his head. After the middle
of September 1848 his reports underwent a change of tone.

In the debates on the Truce of Malmo, Vogt tried to stir up a
rebellion with his revolutionary rantings.® At the decisive moment
he did his utmost to prevent the acceptance of the resolutions
which had been passed by the popular assembly on the Pfingst-
weide and approved by a section of the extreme Left.”* After the
barricade fighting had been crushed, with Frankfurt openly
transformed into an army camp and a state of siege proclaimed,
this same Vogt declared on September 19 that he was in favour of
urgently discussing Zacharid’s resolution endorsmg the measures
already taken by the Imperlal Ministry and expressing gratitude to
the Imperial troops.” Before Vogt rose to speak even Venedey® had
protested against the “urgency” of these resolutions, declaring that
such a discussion at such a time was unworthy of the Assembly.
But Vogt was inferior to Venedey. By way of punishment I
inserted the word “windbag” into the parliamentary report? after
the word “Vogt”, as a hint to the Frankfurt reporter.

In the following October Vogt not only neglected his duty of
waving his harlequin’s wooden sword above the heads of the then
boisterous and fiercely reactionary majority. He did not even dare
to sign the protest tabled by Zimmermann of Spandau® on October
10 in the name of some 40 deputies, opposing the law for the
protection of the National Assembly.” The law, as Zimmermann
correctly pointed out, signalled the most shameless interference
with the popular rights that had been gained in the March
revolution—right of assembly, freedom of speech and of the
press. Even Eisenmann® handed in a similar protest. But Vogt was
inferior to Eisenmann. When he did venture forth again at the
founding of the “Central March Association” ** his name finally
made its appearance in an article in the Neue Rheinische Zeitung

a Vogt's speech in the Frankfurt National Assembly on September 15, 1848,
Stenographischer Bericht iiber die Verhandlungen der deutschen constituirenden National-
versammlung zu Frankfurt am Main9 Bd. 3, S. 2091-94.— Ed.

b The speeches by Vogt and Zacharii in the Frankfurt National Assembly on
September 19, 1848, ibid., S. 2188.— Ed.

¢ Venedey’s speech in the Frankfurt National Assembly on September 19, 1848,
ibid., S. 2187.—Ed.

d Report on the sitting of the Frankfurt National Assembly on September 20,
1848, Neue Rheinische Zeitung, No. 110, September 23, 1848.— Ed.

¢ Zimmermann’s speech in the Frankfurt National Assembly on October 10,
1848, Stenographischer Bericht..., Bd. 4, S. 2531.— Ed.

f Eisenmann’s speech in the Frankfurt National Assembly, ibid., pp. 2531 et
seq.— Ed.

5-1300
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(December 29, 1848), in which the “March Association” was
designated the “unconscious tool of the counter-revolution”, its
programme was critically torn to shreds and Vogt was represented
as one half of the two-headed figure whose other half was Vincke.
More than a decade later both “Ministers of the Future”
acknowledged their affinity and chose the partition of Germany as
the motto of their unity.

That our assessment of the “March Association” was correct was
not only confirmed by its later “development”. The Heidelberg
“People’s League”, the Breslau “Democratic Association”, the Jena
“Democratic Association”, etc., all rejected its importunate offers
of love with scorn, and those members of the extreme Left who
had joined it confirmed our criticism of December 29, 1848, by
announcing their resignation on April 20, 1849. Vogt, however, in
the quiet grandeur of his soul, heaped coals of fire on our heads
as can be seen from the following quotation:

“Neue Rheinische Zeitung, No. 243, Cologne, March 10, 1849.
‘The Frankfurt so-called March Association’ of the so-called
‘Imperial Assembly’ has had the insolence to send us the following
lithographed letter: ;

““The March Association has decided to compile a list of all newspapers which
have given us space in their columns and to distribute it to all associations with which
we are connected in order that with the assistance of this association the
newspapers indicated will be given preference in being supplied with any relevant
announcements. In informing you herewith of this list, we believe it is unnecessary to
draw your attention to the importance of the paid announcements of a newspaper as the

chief source of income for the whole enterprise. [...] Frankfurt, end of February
1849.

The Managing Committee
of the Central March Association’

“In the enclosed list of newspapers which have given space in
their columns to the March Association and to which the
supporters of the March Association should give preference in
supplying ‘relevant announcements’, one finds also the Neue .
Rheinische Zeitung, which, in addition, is given the honour of an
asterisk. We hereby announce [...] that our newspaper has never
given space in its columns to_the so-called March Association.... If,
therefore, the March Association in its lithographed report to
those newspapers which have really given it space in their columns
designates our newspaper as one of its organs, this is simply
calumny against the Neue Rheinische Zeitung and absurd boasting
on the part of the March Association....

“To the dirty remark of the profit-greedy competition-goaded
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patriots about the umportance of the paid announcements of a
pewspaper as a source of come for the whole enterprise, we, of
course, do not reply  The Neue Rhetmische Zeitung has always
diftered from the patriots not only generally but also 1n that it has
never regarded political movement as a territory for swindlers or a
source of income.”

Shortly after this brusque rejection of the source of income
proftered by Vogt and Co. the Neue Rheinische Zeztung was
tearfully held up as a model of “true German disunity” at a
meeting of the Central Commercial Association.” At the conclusion
of our reply to this Jeremiad (Neue Rheinische Zeitung, No. 248)
Vogt is described as a “provincial academic beer-blusterer and an
unsuccessful Imperial Barroi”.© True, at that time (March 15), he
had not yet compromised himself on the question of the Emperor.
But we had made our minds up once and for all about Herr Vogt
and could therefore regard his future treason as a foregone
conclusion, even before it was clear to Vogt himself.

From then on, incidentally, we abandoned Vogt and Co. to the
attentions of the voung Schliffel, who was both brave and
intelligent. He had arrived in Frankfurt from Hungary early in
March after which he kept us informed of all the storms in the
Imperial frog-pond.

Vogt, meanwhile, had sunk so low—he himself had of course
done more to bring this about than the Neue Rheinische Zeitung—
that even Bassermann could venture to brand hiun an “apostate and
renegade” in the session of April 25, 1849.¢

F. Engels, one of the editors of the Neue Rheinische Zeitung, was
forced 1o flee because of the part he played in the Elberfeld
uprising,” and 1 myself was driven out of Prussia shortly
afterwards, after repeated efforts to silence me through legal
proceedings had failed thanks to the jury, and after the Neue
Preussische Zeitung, the organ of the coup d’état Ministry,” had
repcatedly denounced the “Chimborazo insolence® of the Neue
Rheinische Zeitung, compared to which the Moniteur of 1793

a Karl Marx, “The March Association” (see present edition, Vol. 9, pp.
36-37).— Ed.

b Marx puns on Mdrz (March) and Kommerz (commerce).— Ed.

¢ Karl Marx, “The Frankfurt March Association and the Neue Rheinische Zeitung”
(see present edition, Vol. 9, p. 85). The italics were introduced by Marx in Herr
Vogt— Ed.

d Stenographischer Bericht..., Bd. 8, S. 6303.— Ed.

¢ The Chimborazo is a peak of the Andes. “Chimborazo insolence” means
“monumental insolence”.— Ed.

B*
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seemed rather pale” (see the Neue Rheinische Zeitung, No. 299).°
Such “Chimborazo insolence” was highly appropriate in a Prussian
fortress-town and at a time when the victorious counter-revolution
sought to intimidate people by means of unashamed brutality.
On May 19, 1849 the last number of the Neue Rheinische Zeitung
(the Red Number) appeared. As long as the Neue Rheinische
Zeitung existed, Vogt had endured in silence. If a parliamentarian
did lodge a complaint, he did so in all modesty. For example:

“Sir, the sharp criticism in your newspaper is valued by me no less because it
observes all parties and all persons with equal strictness” (sce No. 219 [supplement],
February 11, 1849, Wesendoncks complainy).b

A week after the demise of the Neue Rheinische Zeitung, Vogt,
operating under the mantle of parliamentary immunity, finally
thought he could seize his long-awaited opportunity to convert the
“matter” he had accumulated deep in his heart into “energy”.”
The position was that one of the editors of the Neue Rheinische
Zeitung, Wilhelm Wolff, had replaced a retired Silesian deputy© in the
Frankfurt Assembly, which was “in the process of dissolution” at the
time.'"

In order to understand the following scene in the parliamentary
session of May 26, 1849, it must be borne in mind that the
uprising in Dresden and the local movements in the Rhine
Province had already been crushed. The Empire was about to
intervene in Baden and the Palatinate, the main Russian army was
marching on Hungary and, finally, the Imperial Ministry had
simply quashed resolutions approved by the Assembly. On the
agenda were two “Proclamations to the German Nation”, the first
edited by Uhland and emanating from the majority, the other
stemming from the Committee of Thirty,'”’ whose members
belonged to the Centre. Presiding over the Assembly was Reh
from Darmstadt who later turned into a rabbit® and “detached”
himself from the Assembly, which was “in complete disarray”. I
quote from the official stenographic report, Nos. 229, 228. Session
in St. Paul's Church.©

Wolff from Breslau: “Gentlemen, I have registered my opposition to the
Proclamation to the Nation, the proclamation that was composed by the majority

a Karl Marx, “The Kreuz-Zeitung” (see present edition, Vol. 9, p. 437).— Ed.
b Hugo Wesendonck, “Erklirung. Diisseldorf, 8. Februar 1849”.— Ed.

¢ Gustav Adolf Stenzel.— Ed.

d Marx plays on the surname Reh, a homonym of Reh (roe deer).— Ed.

¢ Stenographischer Bericht..., Bd. 9, S. 6749.— Ed.
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and that has been read aloud here, because I think it utterly inadequate to the
needs of the present time. I find it altogether too feeble. It is good enough to
appear as an article in the newspapers which represent the party that has devised
it, but it is not good enough for a Proclamation to the German Nation. Since a
second Proclamation has now been read out I may remark in passing that I would
be even more strongly opposed to it than to the first one, for reasons that I do not
need to enter into here.” (A voice from the Centre: “Why not?”) “I am speaking
solely of the majority Proclamation. It is true that it is couched in such moderate
terms that even Herr Buss had little to say against it, and that is without doubt the
worst recommendation for any proclamation. No, gentlemen, if you wish to
have any influence on the people at all you should not address it in the manner
adopted in this Proclamation. You must not speak about legality, the legal basis,
etc., but of illegality just like the governments, like the Russians—and by Russians I
understand the Prussians, Austrians, Bavarians and Hanoverians.” (Commotion
and laughter.) “All these have been subsumed under the name Russians.” (Loud
taughter.) “Yes, gentlemen, the Russians are represented in this Chamber too. You
must tell them: ‘In the same way as you adopt the legal standpoint, so do we.” This
is the standpoint of force, and in parenthesis you ought to explain legality by
saying that you will oppose the Russian cannon with force, with well-organised
storming-parties. If any proclamation is to be issued, issue one which begins by
outlawing the first traitor to the people, the Imperial Regent.”?2 (Interruption:
“Order!” —Lively applause from the gallery.) “All the Ministers likewise.” (Renewed
comnotion.) “Oh, I shall not let myself be intimidated: he is the first traitor to the
people.”

President: “1 think that Herr Wolff has ignored and offended against every
propriety. He cannot describe the Archducal Imperial Regent as a traitor to the people
in this House and I must therefore call him to order. I must also request the
galleries for the last time not to intervene further in the debate.”

Wolff: “For my part, 1 accept the call to order and declare that it was my
intention to transgress the bounds of order and to state that he and his Ministers are
traitors.” (From all sides of the House: “Order. This is scandalous.”)

President: “I must ask you to be seated.”

Wolff: “Very well, I protest. I wanted to speak here in the name of the people and
to say what the people is thinking. 1 protest against every proclamation framed in
these terms.” (Great tumult.)

President: “Gentlemen, will you please allow me to speak for a moment.
Gentlemen, the incident that has just taken place is, I may say, the first there has
been since Parliament has been in session here.”” (It was indeed the first and the only
incident to take place in that Debating Society.) “No speaker has ever before
declared that it was his intention to disrupt the order, the very foundations of this
House.” (Schliffel had replied to a similar call to order, in the session of April 25:
“I accept the call to order, all the more as I hope that the time will soon come when
this Assembly will be called to order in a very different way.”)®

“Gentlemen, I deeply regret that Herr Wolff, who has only just become a
member of this House, should have made his début in this manner” (Reh looks at
the matter from a theatrical point of view). “Gentlemen, I have called him to order
because he has permitted himself greatly to affront the respect and consideration that we
owe to the person of the I'mperial Regent.”

a Archduke John.— Ed.
b Stenographischer Bericht..., Bd. 8, S. 6751.— Ed.
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The debate then proceeded. Hagen and Zacharid made long
speeches, the one for and the other against the proclamation of
the majority. Finally,

Vogt from Giessen rose from his seat: “Gentlemen, allow me a few words, I shall
not weary you. It is perfectly true that this Parliament is no longer what it was when
it assembled last year, gentlemen, and we thank Heaven” (our Vogt of “blind faith”2
thanks Heaven) “that it is become so” (is become, indeed!b) “and that those who lost
faith in the people and who betrayed the cause of the people at the decisive
moment, have now left this Assembly! Gentlemen, 1 have asked permission to speak”
(so the thanksgiving we have just heard was just humbug), “in order to defend the
crystal-clear stream” (defence of a stream) “that flowed froin the poet’s soul” (Vogt
is becoming soulful) “into this proclamation against the unworthy filth that has been
thrown into it or hurled at it” (but the stream had already been absorbed by the
proclamation), “to defend these words” (as with everything that Vogt touches, the
stream has been changed into words) “against the muck that has been heaped up in
this latest movement and which threatens to engulf and besmirch everything. Yes,
gentlemen! That” (namely the muck) “is muck and filth” (the muck is filth!)
“which is being thrown in this way” (in what way?) “at everything pure that can be
imagined, and 1 wish to express my deep indignation” (Vogt in deep indignation,
quel tableaulc) ‘“‘at the fact that this sort of thing” (what sort of thing?) “could have
happened.”d

And his very speech is—muck.*

Wolff had not said a single word about Uhland’s editing of the
proclamation. As the President repeatedly declared, he had been
called to order, he had conjured up the whole storm, because he
had declared that the Imperial Regent and all his Ministers were
traitors to the people and had called on Parliament to do likewise.
But for Vogt the “Archducal Imperial Regent”, the “worn-out
Habsburg” (Vogt’s Studien, p. 28) and “all his Ministers” represent
“everything pure that can be imagined”. With Walther von der
Vogelweide he sang:

“des firsten milte Gz Osterriche

froit dem siiezen régen geliche
beidiu liute und ouch daz lant.” f

a Vogt of “blind faith” (der “Kohlergldubige” Vogt)—an ironical allusion to
Vogt’s book Kéhlerglaube und Wissenschaft..., Giessen, 1855.— Ed.
b Marx ridicules the ungrammatical verb form used by Vogt: geworden
wird.— Ed.
¢ What a sight!— Ed.
4 Stenographischer Bericht..., Bd. 9, S. 6751.— Ed.
¢ Variation on a verse from Ludwig Uhland’s ““Des Singers Fluch”: “Und was er
spricht, ist Geissel” (“His very speech is a whiplash”).— Ed.
f “The Prince of Austria’s generosity,
Like gentle rain, bestows felicity
Both on the people and on the land.”— Ed.
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Did Vogt already even at that time, enjoy the “scientific
relationship” with Archduke John that he later confessed to? (See
Documents in the “Magnum Opus”, p. 25.)

Ten years later the same Vogt declared in the Studien (pp.
27[-28)):

“So much at least is certain: the Nauonal Assembly in France and its leaders at
the ume underesumated the abilsues of Louis Napoleon just as the leaders of the
Frankfurt Nauonal Assembly underesumated those of Archduke John, and both the
old {oxes made their respective detractors pav dearly for their mistake. We are far from
wanting to equate the two men. The terrible ruthlessness, etc.. etc.” (of Louis
Bonaparte).-— " All this makes him cut a tar superior figure to the old and worn-out
Habsburg ™ «

During the very same session Wolff challenged Vogt to a duel
with pistols—a challenge which was transmitted by deputy Wiirth
from Sigmaringen—and when the aforesaid Vogt preferred to
preserve his skin intact for the Empire,* he threatened to thrash
him. On leaving St. Paul's Church, however, Wolff discovered
Charles the Bold flanked by two ladies, and bursting into laughter
he left him to his fate. Although he is a wolf, with a wolf’s heart
and teeth, Wolff is a lamb when he sees the fair sex. His only,
really quite innocuous, revenge was an article in the Neue
Rheinische Zeitung. Revue (April issue, 1850, p. 73) entitled
‘“ Nachtrdgliches aus dem Reich” in which he wrote about the
Ex-Imperial Regent as follows:

“In these critical days the Central March people have been extremely
industrious. Before withdrawing from Frankfurt they had published an address to
the various March associations and to the German people: ‘Fellow-citizens! The
eleventh hour has struck!” In order to assemble a people’s army they issued a new
proclamation ‘to the German nation’ from Stuttgart, and lo and behold! the hand
on the Central March clock had stood still, or like the clock on Freiburg Minster,
had lost the number XI11. However that might be, this proclamation too began with
the words: ‘Fellow-citizens! The eleventh hour has struck!” Oh if only it had struck
earlier, and had pierced vour heads, at least at the time when Karl Vogt, the
Central March hero, was pacifying the Franconian revolution 192 in Nuremberg to
his own satisfaction and to the satisfaction of the wailers who were féting him **....

* In the pamphlet by Jacobus Venedeyv already referred to, Kobes I tells the
following story: “In the same session in which Gagern embraced Gabriel Riesser
after the latter’s speech on the Emperor, ... Karl Vogt embraced Zimmermann in
St. Paul's Church with mock pathos and noisy exclamations, and so I called out to
him: ‘Stop these roguish pranks.” Vogt thought it expedient to reply in provocative
and abusive terms and when 1 challenged him personally, he had the courage, after
a friend had made a number of journeys between the two of us, to withdraw his
insult” (loc. cit.,, pp. 21, 22).

** Vogt later justified his valiant deeds in Nuremberg with the words: “He had
been given no guarantees for his own personal safety.”

2 Carl Vogt, Studien zur gegenwdrtigen Lage Europas, S. 27-28. Marx’s italics.— Ed.
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The Regency set up its offices in the government building in Freiburg. The Regent
Karl Vogt, who was also Foreign Minister and the incumbent of many other
Ministries, once more took the well-being of the German people? very much to
heart. Having studied their problems in long days and nights he came up with a
very timely invention, that of ‘Imperial Regency passports’. These passports were
simple, beautifully lithographed and could be obtained gratis by anyone whose
heart desired one. They only had the one small defect of being recognised as valid
only in Vogt's Chancellery. It is possible that later on one or other of them will find
its way into an Englishman’s collection of curios.”b

Wolff did not follow Greiner’s example. Instead of “departing
at once for America” as soon as the Revue “had appeared”, he
remained for a year in Switzerland, awaiting the revenge of the
Land-Vogt.

a Wolff has: “of the German Empire”.— Ed.
b Neue Rheinische Zeitung. Politisch-dkonomische Revue, 1V. Heft, April 1850, S.
75, 76.— Ed.
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VII
THE AUGSBURG CAMPAIGN

Shortly after the citizen of the Canton of Thurgau'” had
concluded his Italian war, the citizen of the Canton of Berne?
launched his Augsburg campaign.

“There” (in London) “it was the Marx clique that had always supplied the
greater part of the reports” (of the Allgemeine Zeitung), “and ever since 1849 its

relations with the ‘Allgemeine Zeitung’ had been continuous” (“Magnum Opus”,
p. 194).b

Although Marx has only been living in London since the end of
1849, i.e. since he was expelled from France for the second time,
the “Marx clique” appears to have lived in London always, and
although the Marx clique has “always supplied the greater part of
the reports of the Allgemeine Zeitung”, “its relations” with the
Allgemeine Zeitung have only been “continuous ever since 1849”.
At all events, Vogt’s chronology is divided—and this is not to be
wondered at since before 1848 the man “had not yet contem-
plated any political activity” (loc. cit.,, p. 225)—into two great
periods, viz., the period “always” up to 1849, and the period from
1849 up to “this” year.

Between 1842 and 1843 I edited the old Rheinische Zeitung,
which waged a life-and-death war with the Allgemeine Zeitung.
From 1848 to 1849 the Neue Rheinische Zeitung revived the
polemic. What remains, then, of the period “always up to 1849

2 i.e. Vogt. See his Studien zur gegenwdirtigen Lage Europas, S. 6.— Ed.

b Carl Vogt, Mein Prozess..., S. 194. The words “the Marx clique” were italicised
by Vogt, the rest of the italics are Marx’s.— Ed.

¢ Marx arrived in London about August 26, 1849.— Ed.
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apart from the fact that Marx had fought against the Allgemeine
Zeitung “‘always”, while Vogt had been its “constant collaborator”
from 1844 to 18477 (See “Magnum Opus”, p. 225.)

Now for the second period of world history a la Vogt.

The reason why I maintained “continuous relations with the
Allgemeine Zeitung” from London, “continuous ever since 18497, is
that “from 1852” a certain Ohly had been chief London
correspondent of the Allgemeine Zeitung. It is true that Ohly had
no relations whatever with me, either before or after 1852. I have
never seen him in my life. Inasmuch as he played any part among
the London refugees it was as a member of Kinkel's Emigration
Association. But this has no bearing on the case, for,

“The former oracle of Altenhofer, that old Bavarian who had learnt English,
was my” (Vogt's) “fellow-countryman, the blond Ohly, who having started out as a
communist, strove to attain a loftier poetic standpoint in politics and literature. At first in

Zurich, but from 1852 in London, he was the chief correspondent of the Allgemeine
Zeitung until he ended his days in a madhouse.” (“Magnum Opus”, p. 195))

Edouard Simon, the police spy, has Frenchified this Vogtiad as
follows:

“En voici d’abord un qui de son point de départ communiste, avait cherché a
s'élever aux plus hautes conceptions de la politique.” (“Loftier poetic standpoint in
politics” was beyond the genius even of an Edouard Simon.) “A en croire M. Vogt,
cet adepte fut l'oracle de la Gazette d’Augsbourg jusqu’en 1852, époque ou il
mourut dans une maison de fous”a (Revue contemporaine, Vol. XIII, Paris, 1860,
p. 529).

“Operam et oleum perdidi”® Vogt may well say of his
“Magnum Opus” and his Ohly. Whereas he makes his “fellow-
countryman” the London correspondent of the Allgemeine Zeitung
from 1852, until he “ends his days in a madhouse”, Edouard
Simon says that “if we may believe Vogt, Ohly had been the oracle
of the Aligemeine Zeitung up to 1852 when he” (who, it will be
noted, is still alive) “died in a madhouse”. But Edouard Simon
knows his Karl Vogt. Edouard knows that once one has resolved
to “believe” Karl, it is quite irrelevant what one believes, whether
it is what he says, or the opposite of what he says.

“ Herr Liebknecht,” says Karl Vogt, “replaced him” (namely Ohly) “as correspond-
ent of the Allgemeine Zeitung.” “Only after Liebknecht had been openly proclaimed

a “This is a man who, having started out as a communist, strove to raise himself
to the loftier conceptions of politics. If we may believe Herr Vogt, this adept was
the oracle of the Augsburg Gazette up to 1852 when he died in a madhouse.”— Ed.

b “I have wasted oil and labour”, Plautus, Poenulus, Act I, Scene 2, where it is
spoken by a whore whose efforts to repair the ravages of time have proved vain.
Oleum is a pun on Ohly.— Ed.
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a member of the Marx party® was he accepted as a correspondent by the Allgemeine
Zeitung” (loc. cit., p. 169).

That proclamation was made during the Cologne communist
trial, i.e. at the end of 1852.

In fact in the spring of 1851 Liebknecht became a contributor to
the Morgenblatt where he reported on the Great Exhibition in
London.'™ Through the mediation of the Morgenblatt he was
made correspondent of the Allgemeine Zeitung in September 1855.

“His” (Marx’s) “comrades do not write a single line of which Marx has not been
previously informed” (loc. cit., p. 194).

The proof is simple: “He” (Marx) “has absolute control over his
people” (p. 195) whereas Vogt is absolutely obedient to his Fazy
and Co. We are confronted here by a peculiarity of Vogt's
myth-making. The pygmy standards of Giessen or Geneva, the
small-town framework and the fug of Swiss taverns are
everywhere. Naively translating the leisurely provincial cliquism of
Geneva to one of the great cities of the world, London, he will
not allow Liebknecht to write “a single line” in the West End of
which I “have not been previously informed” four miles away in
Hampstead. And I perform the identical services of a La
Guéronniére® every day for a whole host of “comrades” scattered
all over London and writing their reports to the four corners of
the globe. A delightful profession—and a profitable one!

With the unmistakable delicacy of the artist, Vogt's mentor,
Edouard Simon, who does not know London, but is at least
familiar with conditions in Paris, provides the account of his
uncouth “friend from the country” with the veneer of the big city:

“Marx, comme chef de la société, ne tient pas lui-méme la plume, mais ses
fideles n’écrivent pas une ligne sans l'avoir consulté: La Gazette d’Augsbourg sera
d’autant mieux servie” (loc. cit., p. 529). That is to say, “Marx as head of the
society does not write himself, but his trusted associates do not write a single line
without first consulting him. In this way the Augsburger Zeitung is the better
served.”

Does Vogt appreciate all the subtlety of this correction?

I had as much to do with Liebknecht’s reports to the Allgemeine
Zeitung from London as I had with Vogt's reports to the
Allgemeine Zeitung from Paris. Moreover, Liebknecht’s reports
were praiseworthy in every respect—a critical presentation of
English politics, which he described in exactly the same way in the

a Vogt has: “of Marx’s society”.-—— Ed.
b La Guéronniére was Chief Censor during the Second Empire in France.— Ed.
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Allgemeine Zeitung as in his reports for the radical German-
American newspapers written at the same time. Vogt himself, who
has anxiously searched through whole years of the Allgemeine
Zeitung in the hope of discovering something detrimental in
Liebknecht’s letters, confines his critique of their contents to
stating that the symbol used by Liebknecht to indicate his
authorship consisted of “two thin slanting lines” (“Magnum Opus”,
p. 196).

The fact that the lines were on a slant showed of course that the
reports themselves were not quite straight. But even worse, they
were “thin”’! If only Liebknecht had chosen instead of two “thin
lines”, two round blobs of grease for his reports! But even if there
is nothing reprehensible about his reports apart from these “two
thin slanting lines”, there is still the objection that they were
printed at all in the Allgemeine Zeitung. And why should they not?
It is a known fact that the Allgemeine Zeitung allows the most
widely divergent views to be expressed in its columns, at least on
such neutral topics as that of English politics, and in addition it is
the only German paper with a more than local significance in the
eyes of the world. Liebknecht could without hesitation dispatch his
London letters to the very newspaper for which Heine wrote his
“Paris Letters” and Fallmerayer his “Oriental Letters”.'® Vogt
reports that lewd persons also wrote for the Allgemeine Zeitung. It
is well known that he himself was a contributor from 1844 to
1847.

As far as Frederick Engels and myself are concerned—1I mention
Engels because we work to a common plan and after prior
agreement—it is true that in 1859 we did enter into a
“relationship” of a sort with the Allgemeine Zeitung. That is to say
during January, February and March 1859 I published a series of
leading articles in the New-York Tribune in which inter alia the
theory advanced by the Allgemeine Zeitung about a “Central
European great power” and that paper’s claim that it was in the
Germans’ interest to maintain Austria’s rule in Italy were subjected
to searching criticism. Shortly before the outbreak of war, and
with my agreement, Engels published Po and Rhine, Berlin, 1859, a
pamphlet directed specifically against the Allgemeine Zeitung. To
quote Engels’ own words (from his pamphlet Savoy, Nice and the
Rhine, Berlin, 1860, p. 4) it provided scientific military proof that
“Germany does not need any part of Italy for its defence and that

a Karl Marx, “The War Prospect in Prussia”, and Frederick Engels, Po and
Rhine (see present edition, Vol. 16).— Ed.
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France, if only military considerations counted, would certainly
have much stronger claims to the Rhine than Germany to the
Mincio”.* This polemic against the Allgemeine Zeitung and its
theory of the necessity of Austrian despotic rule in Italy went
hand in hand with a polemic directed against Bonapartist
propaganda. For instance, I argued in detail in the Tribune (see
e.g. February 1859) that the financial and internal political
problems of the “bas empire” ' had reached a critical point and
that only a foreign war could prolong the rule of the coup d’état
in France and hence the counter-revolution in FEurope. 1
demonstrated that the Bonapartist liberation of Italy was a mere
pretext to keep France in subjection, to subject ltaly to the rule of
the coup d’état, to shift France’s “natural frontiers” to Germany,
to transform Austria into a tool of Russia and to force the nations
into a war waged by the legitimate counter-revolution against the
illegitimate counter-revolution. All this took place before the
ex-Regent of the Empire, Karl Vogt, issued his clarion call from
Geneva.

Ever since Wolff’s article in the Neue Rheinische Zeitung. Revue
(1850), I had completely forgotten the “well-rounded character”
I was reminded of the merry fellow once more in the spring of
1859, on an evening in April, when Freiligrath gave me a letter of
Vogt’s to read together with an nccompanwng‘ political * Pro-
gramme”.""” This was no act of mdmcretlon since Vogt's circular was
intended “for communication” to the friends not of Vogt, but of
the addressee.

Asked what I found in the “Programme”, I replied: “Political
hot air.” I could see at once that the old joker had not changed,
from his request to Freiligrath to persuade Herr Bucher to become
political correspondent for the propaganda sheet to be published
in Geneva. Vogts letter was dated April 1, 1859. It was well
known that in the reports he sent from London to the Berlin
National-Zeitung since January 1859, Bucher advocated views
directly antithetical to those in Vogt’s Programme. But all cats are
grey to the man of “critical immediacy”.

After this incident which 1 did not think of sufficient impor-
tance to mention to anyone, I received a copy of Vogt's Studien

2 See present edition, Vol. 16, p. 572.— Ed.

b See “The Money Panic in Europe”, New-York Daily Tribune, No. 5548, February
1. 1859 (present edition, Vol. 16).— Ed.

¢ Wilhelm Wolff, “Nachtrigliches aus dem Reich...”, Neue Rheinische Zeitung.
Politisch-Gkonomische Revue, Heft 4, April 1850.— Ed.

d Presumably Die Neue Schweiz— Ed.
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zur gegenwdrtigen Lage Furopas, a woeful document which left
me m no doubt abous his connection with Bonapartist propa-
ganda

On the evening of May ¢, 1859 1 found mvself on the platform
at a public meecting arranged bv David Urquhart because of the
ltalian war. Betore the meeting had got under way I saw a solemn
figure approaching me portcntously. From the Hamlet-like
expression on his countenance T realised at once thai “*something
was rotten in the state ol Denmark™.' [t was the homme d’état, Karl
Blind. After a few preliminaries he began to talk about Vogt's
“intrigues” and he assured me with much shaking of the head
that Vogt was in receipt of Bonaparust subsidies for his
propaganda, that a South German writer, whose name he could
“unfortunately” not reveal, had been offered 30,000 guilders as a
bribe by Vogt—I was in some doubt as to which South German
writer could possibly be worth 30,000 guilders—that there had
been attempts at bribery in London, that as early as 1858 there
had been a meeting between Plon-Plon. Fazy & Co. in Geneva
where the lwalian war had been discussed and the Grand Duke
Constantine of Russia had been named as the future King of
Hungary, that Vogt had also tried to enlist him (Bhnd) for his
propaganda, and that he had proofs of Vogt's treasonable intrigues
against his countrv. Blind then withdrew to his seat at the other
corner of the platform next to his friend ]. Frobel; the meeting
began and in a detailed report” D. Urquhart tried to present the
Italian war as the fruit of Franco-Russian intrigue.*

* Vogt naturally connects the attacks on Lord Palmerston by the Marx clique with
my hostility to this self-important personage and his “friends” (“Magnum Opus”,
p- 212). It would appear, then, that this is a suitable place to comment briefly on
my relations with D. Urquhart and his party. Urquhart’s writings on Russia and
against Palmerston had interested but not convinced me. In order to arrive at a
firm view I undertook the laborious analysis of Hansard's Parliamentary Debates and
the diplomatic Blue Books from 1807 to 1850. The first fruits of these studies were
a series of leading articles in the New-York Tribune (end of 1853) in which 1
demonstrated Palmerston’s mvolvement with the St. Petersburg Cabinet on the
basis of his transactions with Poland, Turkey, Circassia, etc. Shortly afterwards I
had these articles reprinted in The People’s Paper, the organ of the Chartists edited
by Ernest Jones, together with additional passages about Palmerston’s activities.108
In the meantime, The Glasgow Sentinel had also reprinted one of the articles
(“ Palmerston and Poland™) which attracted the attention of Mr. D. Urquhart.
After a meeting with me he persuaded Mr. Tucker in London to bring out some of

a Shakespeare, Hamlet, Act 1, Scene 4.— Ed.
b David Urquhart’s report was discussed in the article “Mr. Urquhart’s Address
on Neutrality” in The Free Press, No. 5, May 27, 1859.— Ed.
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Towards the end of the meeting Dr. Faucher, foreign-news
editor of The Morning Star (the organ of the Manchester
School '), came up to me to tell me that a new London German
weekly, Das Volk, had just appeared. Die Neue Zeit, a workers’
paper published by Herr A. Scherzer and edited by Edgar Bauer,
had just folded up as the rvesult of an intrigue by Kinkel, the
publisher of the Hermann. Hearing this news, Biscamp, who had
been a reporter for Die Neue Zeit up to that time, gave up his
teaching post in the South of England in order to go to London
and set up Das Volk in opposition to the Hermann. The German
Workers’ Educational Society and other London societies sup-
ported the newspaper, which like all such workers’ newspapers was
naturally edited and written gratis. Although as a free-trader® he,
Faucher, did not agree with the general policy of Das Volk, he was
opposed to there being a monopoly in the German press in
London and therefore, together with some London acquaintances,
he had set up a Finance Committee in support of the paper.
Biscamp had already written to Liebknecht, whom he had not yet
met, with a request for literary contributions, etc. Finally, Faucher
asked me to join in the venture.

Although Biscamp had been living in England since 1852, we
had not yet made each other’s acquaintance. The day after the
Urquhart meeting Liebknecht brought him to my home. From
lack of time I could not accept the invitation to write for Das Volk
for the moment, but I promised to ask my German friends in

the articles in pamphlet form. These Palmerston pamphlets were later sold in
various editions in numbers ranging from 15,000 to 20,000. Following my analysis
of the Blue Book on the fall of Kars—it was published in the London organ of the
Chartists in April 18562—1I received a letter of thanks from the Sheffield Foreign
Affairs Committee.199 (See Appendix 7.) While looking through the diplomatic
manuscripts in the possession of the British Museum I came across a series of
English documents, going back from the end of the eighteenth century to the time
of Peter the Great, which reveal the continuous secret collaboration between the
Cabinets of London and St. Petersburg, and seem to indicate that this relationship
arose at the time of Peter the Great. Up to now, all I have published of a detailed
investigation into the subject has been an introduction with the title Revelations of
the Diplomatic History of the 18th Century. This appeared first in the Sheffield and
subsequently in the London Free Press,'10 both published by Urquhart. The
last-named has received occasional contributions from me since its foundation. My
interest in Palmerston and British-Russian diplomatic relations in gencral arose, as
one can see, without my having had the slightest suspicion that the figure of Herr
Karl Vogt was standing behind that of Lord Palmerston.

a “The Fall of Kars”, The People’s Paper, Nos. 205-08, April 5, 12, 19 and 26
(see present edition, Vol. 14).— Ed.
b Marx uses the English term.— Ed.
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England for subscriptions, financial donations and literary con-
tributions. In the course of the conversation we came to speak of
the Urquhart meeting and this led on to Vogt, whose Studien
Biscamp had already read and correctly evaluated. I told him and
Liebknecht of the contents of Vogt's “Programme” and also of
Blind’s revelations, adding, however, with respect to the latter, that
South Germans were inclined to paint in rather exaggerated
colours. To my surprise, No. 2 of Das Volk (May 14) printed an
article with the title “Der Reichsregent als Reichsverrither” [The
Imperial Regent as Imperial Traitor]* (see ‘“Magnum Opus”,
Documents, pp. 17, 18) in which Biscamp mentioned two of the
facts reported by Blind—the 30,000 guilders, which, however, he
reduced to 4,000, and the Bonapartist sources of Vogt’s funds. For
the rest his article consisted of witticisms in the manner of Die
Hornisse, which he had edited in Cassel with Heise in 1848-49. In
the meantime, as I learned long after the appearance of the
“Magnum Opus” (see Appendix 8), the London Workers’
Educational Society had commissioned Herr Scherzer, one of its
leaders, to invite the workers’ educational associations in Switzer-
land, Belgium and the United States to support Das Volk and to
combat Bonapartist propaganda. Biscamp himself sent a copy of
the above-mentioned article published in Das Volk on May 14,
1859 to Vogt, who simultaneously received Herr A. Scherzer’s
circular from his own Ranickel.

With his familiar “critical immediacy” Vogt at once cast me in
the role of the demiurge behind these attempts to ensnare him.
Without hesitation he at once published an outline of his later
travesty of history® in the oft-quoted “special supplement to No. 150 of
the ‘Schweizer Handels-Courier’”. This original gospel which first
revealed the mysteries of the Brimstone Gang, the Bristlers,
Cherval, etc., beneath the date Berne, May 23, 1859 (and hence
more recently than the gospel according to the Mormons '*%), bore
the title Zur Warnung® and its content corresponds to that of a
piece translated from a pamphlet'”® by the notorious E. About.*

* A word about the Biel Commis voyageur, the local Moniteur of the “fugitive
Imperial Regent”. The publisher and editor of the Biel Handels-Courier is a

2 This refers to the anonymous article “Der Reichsregent”. One of the paragraphs
in it begins with the words “Der Reichsregent als Reichsverrither!”— Ed.

b See Johann Fischart, Affentheurliche, Nawpengehsurliche Geschichthlitterung....—
Ed.

¢ Carl Vogt, “Zur Warnung”, Schweizer Handels-Courier, No. 150 (special
supplement), June 2, 1859; see also Mein Prozess..., Dokumente, S. 31-33.— Ed.



Herr Vogt.—VII. The Augsburg Campaign 119

Vogt's anonymous original gospel Zur Warnung was reprinted,
as I have already remarked, in Das Volk® at my request.

In the beginning of June I left London to visit Engels in
Manchester, where a subscription of about £25 was collected for
Das Volk. This contribution, whose ‘“nature” induced the ‘“curi-
ous” Vogt to cast his “eyes across the Channel” towards Augsburg
and Vienna (“Magnum Opus”, p. 212), came from Frederick
Engels, Wilhelm Wolff, myself and finally three German
physicians® resident in Manchester, whose names are recorded in
one of the legal documents I sent to Berlin. As to the money
collected in London by the original Finance Committee, Vogt
should consult Dr. Faucher.

Vogt informs us on p. 225 of the “Magnum Opus’:

“But it has always been a device of the reactionaries to require the democrats to

do everything for nothing while they” (that is the reactionaries, not the democrats)
“claim the right to demand payment and to be paid.”

What a reactionary device on the part of Das Volk, which is not
only edited and written for nothing but even induces those who
work on it to pay! If that is not proof of the connection between
Das Volk and the reaction, then Karl Vogt is at his wit’s end.

During my stay in Manchester an event of decisive importance
took place in London. Liebknecht discovered in the compositor’s
room of Hollinger (who printed “Das Volk”) the proof-sheet of the
anonymous pamphlet against Vogt entitled Zur Warnung. He read
it through cursorily, immediately recognised Blind’s revelations
and to crown it all learnt from A. Vigele, the compositor, that
Blind had given the manuscript, which was in his handwriting, to
Hollinger for printing. The corrections on the proof-sheet were
also in Blind’s handwriting. Two days later Hollinger sent
Liebknecht the proof-sheet, which he in turn sent to the
Allgemeine Zeitung. The type for the pamphlet survived and was
used later for a reprint in Das Volk, No 7 (June 18, 1859).

With the publication of the “warning” by the Allgemeine Zeitung"

certain Ernst Schiiler, a political refugee of 1838, a postmaster, wine merchant,
bankrupt and at present solvent once more thanks to the fact that his newspaper,
which was subsidised by British, French and Swiss advertisements during the
Crimean war, now numbers 1,200 subscribers.

2 No. 6, June 11, 1859.— Ed.

b Louvis Borchardt, Eduard Gumpert and Martin Heckscher.— Fd.

< In the article “Warnung zur gefilligen Verbreitung” .-~ Ed.

4 “K. Vogt und die deutsche Emigration in London™, Allgemeine Zeitung,
No. 173, June 22, 1859.— Ed.
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begins the Augsburg campaign of the ex-Vogt of the Empire. He
sued the Allgemeine Zeitung for reprinting the pamphlet.

In the “Magnum Opus” (pp. 227-28) Vogt travesties Miillner’s
“’Tis me, 'tis me; I am the robber Jaromir”."'* He merely translates
“to be” into “to have”.

“I have sued because I knew all along that the shallowness, futility and baseness
of the editorial board which parades as the ‘representative of High German
culture’, would be forced into the open. I have sued because I knew all along that
the connection of its esteemed editors and the Austrian policies they have been

exalting to the heavens with the Brimstone Gang and the dregs of the revolution,
could not remain hidden from the public.” :

And so on through another four “I have sueds”. The suing
Vogt becomes quite sublime,* or Longinus is right when he says
that there is nothing in the world that is drier than a man with
dropsy.

“Personal considerations,” the “well-rounded character” declares, “were the
least of my motives when I went for the law.”

In reality matters stood quite differently. No calf could show
greater reluctance to go to the slaughter than Karl Vogt to go to
court. While his “close” friends, the Ranickel, Reinach (formerly a
peripatetic chronique scandaleuse about Vogt) and the garrulous
Mayer from Esslingen, a member of the Rump Parliament,
confirmed him in his terror of the court, he was bombarded with
urgent requests from Zurich to proceed with his “suit”. At the
Workers’ Festival in Lausanne the fur-dealer Roos told him in
front of witnesses that he could no longer have any respect for
him if he did not take legal proceedings. Nevertheless, Vogt
resisted: He did not give a rap for the Augsburg and London
Brimstone Gang and would remain silent. Suddenly, however, he
spoke. Various newspapers announced the forthcoming trial and
the Ranickel declared:

“The Stuttgart people would not leave him” (Vogt) “any peace. He” (Ranickel) “had
not given his approval.”

We may note in passing that since the “well-rounded one”
found himself in a tight corner, an action against the Allgemeine
Zeitung was undoubtedly the most promising stratagem. Vogt's
self-apologia in response to an attack on him by J. Venedey, who
had accused him of Bonapartist intrigues,'”® saw the light in the

2 A pun in the original: der geklagt habende (who has sued) and wird erhaben
(becomes sublime).— Ed.
b Cassius Longinus, On the Sublime.—Ed.
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Biel *“ Handels-Courier” of June 16, 1859 and hence arrived in
London after the appearance of the anonymous pamphlet, which
concluded with the threat:

“Il. however, Vogt attempts to deny these accusations, a thing he will hardly
dare, this revelation will be tollowed by No. 2.7

Vogt had now issued a denial and revelation No. 2 did not
follow. Secure on this front, mischief could only come from his
dear f{riends, whom he knew well enough to rely on their
cowardice. The more he exposed himself in public by resorting to
legal action, the more surely he could bank on their discretion, for
in the person of the “fugitive Imperial Regent” it was in a way the
entire Rump Parliament that was standing in the pillory.

Parliamentarian Jacob Venedey tells tales out of school in his Pro
domo und pro patria gegen Karl Vogt, Hanover, 1860, pp. 27-28:

“Apart from the letters produced by Vogt in his own account of his lawsuit, T
have read a further letter of Vogt’s which reveals, much more clearly than the
letter to Dr. Loening.t Vogt's position as the accomplice of those who were making
strenuous efforts to localise the war 1y lialy. 1 have copied out a few passages from
this letter for myv own information, but unfortunately 1 cannot publish them
because the man to whom the letter was addressed only showed them to me on
condiuon thar T would not publish them. Attempts have been made from personal and
party considerations to cover up Vogt’s part in this affair which in my view cannot be
justified either from a party point of view or in terms of a man’s duty to his country. This
restraint on the part of many people explains why Vogt can still have the temerity to
present himself as a German party leader It appears to me, however, that the party to
which Vogt belonged has by this means become in part responsible for his activities.” *

If then his action against the Allgemeine Zeitung was not risking
all that much, an offensive in that direction provided General
Vogt with the most favourable base of operations. It was Austria
that was denigrating the Imperial Vogt through the Allgemeine
Zeitung, and moreover, Austria in league with the communists!
Thus the Imperial Vogt appeared as the interesting victim of a

* See also p. 4 of the same pamphlet where it is stated: “This practice of
‘making allowances’ from party considerations, the want of moral principle implied
in admitting among themselves that Vogt has been playing a disgraceful game with
his own country [...] and then permitting Vogt to sue people for slander when they
have only asserted what all know and think and of which they know and even
possess the proofs—all this 1 find quite nauseating, etc.”

a Carl Vogt, “Erkliarung”, Schweizer Handels-Courier, No. 162 (special supple-
ment). Vogt's statement was dated Geneva, June 10, 1859. He also included it in his
Mein Prozess..., Dokumente, S. 20-25.— Ed.

b “Warnung zur gefilligen Verbreitung”, Das Volk, No. 7, June 18, 1859.— Ed.

¢ Carl Vogt, Mein Prozess..., Dokumente, S. 36.— Ed.
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monstrous coalition of the enemies of bourgeois liberalism. And
the “Littde Germany” press, which was already prejudiced in the
Imperial Vogts favour, as a diminisher of the Empire,''® would
jubilantly bear him aloft on its shield!

In the beginning of July 1859, shortly after my return from
Manchester, Blind paid me a visit in consequence of an incident of
no importance in this context. He was accompanied by Fidelio
Hollinger and Liebknecht. During this meeting I gave it as my
opinion that Blind was the author of the pamphlet Zur Warnung.
He protested the opposite. I repeated what he had told me on
May 9° point by point, for in fact his assertions then constituted
the entire contents of the pamphlet. He admitted all that but
nevertheless insisted that he was not the author of the pamphlet.

About a month later, in August 1859, Liebknecht showed me a
letter he had received from the editors of the Allgemeine Zeitung
who urgently asked him for proof of the allegations made in the
pamphlet Zur Warnung. At his request I agreed to go with him to
Blind’s home in St. John’s Wood, for even if Blind was not the
author, he at any rate had known as early as the beginning of May
what the pamphlet did not reveal to the world until the beginning
of June, and he could, moreover, “prove” what he knew. Blind
was not there. He had gone to a seaside resort. Liebknecht,
therefore, wrote to him explaining the purpose of our visit. No
answer. Liebknecht wrote to him a second time."” Finally, the
following statesman-like document arrived:

“Dear Herr Liebknecht,

“Your two letters, which had been wrongly addressed, arrived almost
simultaneously. As you will understand I have absolutely no wish to meddle in the
affairs of a newspaper with which I am quite unconnected. All the less in the given
case, since, as I have already stated, I had nothing whatever to do with the problem in
question. As to the remarks you cite that were made in the course of a private
conversation, it is obvious that these were completely misinterpreted. There is evidently a
misunderstanding here which I shall discuss with you in due course. I am sorry
that your visit to me with Marx was in vain and

“l remain, respectfully yours,
K. Blind

“St. Leonard’s, September 8”

This cool diplomatic note according to which Blind had
“nothing whatever to do” with the denunciation of Vogt,
reminded me of an article which had appeared anonymously in

4 See this volume, p. 116.— Ed.
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The Free Press in London on May 27, 1859 and which went as
follows*: .
“The Grand Duke Constantine to be King of Hungary

“A Correspondent, who encloses his card, writes as follows:—

“Sir,—Having been present at the last meeting* in the Music Hall, I heard the
statement made concerning the Grand Duke Constantine. I am able to give you
another fact: So far back as last summer, Prince Jéréme-Napoléon detailed to some
of his confidants at Geneva a plan of attack against Austria, and prospective
rearrangement of the map of Europe. I know the name of a Swiss senator to whom
he broached the subject. Prince Jéréme, at that time, declared that, according to
the plan made, Grand Duke Constantine was to become King of Hungary.

“I know further of attempts made, in the beginning of the present year, to win
over to the Russo-Napoleonic scheme some of the exiled German Democrats, as well as
some influential Liberals in Germany. Large pecuniary advantages were held out to them as
a bribed 1 am glad to say that these offers were rejected with indignation.” (See
Appendix 9.)

This article—though it does not name Vogt but, as far as the
German emigration in London was concerned, unmistakably
points to him—does in effect contain the core of the pamphlet Zur
Warnung that appeared later on. The author of the “future King of
Hungary”, whom patriotic zeal drove to make an anonymous
denunciation of Vogt, had of course to grasp the golden
opportunity that the Augsburg trial had thrown into his lap, the
opportunity to reveal the treachery in a court of law in full view of
the whole of Europe. And who was the author of the “future King
of Hungary”? Citizen Karl Blind. The form and content of the
article had already made that obvious to me in May and this was
now officially confirmed by Mr. Collet, the editor of The Free Press,
after I had explained to him the importance of the dispute that
was pending and after I had shown him Blind’s diplomatic note.

On September 17, 1859, Herr A. Vigele, the compositor, gave
me a written declaration (printed in the “Magnum Opus”,
Documents, Nos. 30, 31), in which he testifies not that Blind was
the author of the pamphlet Zur Warnung, but that he (A. Vogele)
and his employer, Fidelio Hollinger, had set the type for it in the
Hollinger print-shop, that the manuscript was in Blind’s hand and that
Blind had occasionally been mentioned by Hollinger as the author of the
pamphlet.

* This was the meeting held by D. Urquhart on May 9, mentioned above.

a In the German original the letter is given in Marx’s translation. In the present
edition the original English text is given, which Marx supplies in Appendix 9.— Ed.

b Marx quotes this sentence in English in brackets after the German translation.
The italics in this paragraph are Marx’s.— Ed.
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Armed with Vogele’s declaration and the “future King of
Hungary”, Lidbknecht again wrote to Blind asking for “proofs” of
the denunciations made by that statesman in The Free Press,
pointing out at the same time that he had now a piece of evidence
about his involvement in the publication of Zur Warnung. Instead
of answering Liebknecht, Blind sent Mr. Collet to me. Mr. Collet
was supposed to ask me in Blind’s name to make no public use of
my knowledge of the authorship of the said article in The Free
Press. 1 replied that I could give no such assurance. My discretion
would keep pace with Blinds courage.

In the meantime, the date set down for the hearing of the case
in Augsburg was drawing nearer. Blind remained silent. Vogt had
attempted in various public announcements to make me as the
secret source of it all responsible both for the pamphlet and the
proof of the facts given in it. To ward off this manoeuvre, to
vindicate Liebknecht and to defend the Allgemeine Zeitung, which
in my view had performed a good deed in denouncing Vogt, I
informed the editors of the Allgemeine Zeitung via Liebknecht that
I was prepared to let them have a document regarding the origin
of the pamphlet Zur Warnung, if I received a written request from
them. That is how the “lively correspondence came about which is at
present carried on by Marx and Herr Kolb” as Herr Vogt states on
p-194 of the “Magnum Opus”.* My “lively correspondence with Herr
Kolb” consisted in two letters from Herr Orges to me, both of the
same date, in which he asked me for the document I had
promised, which I then sent him together with a few lines from
myself.**

The two letters from Herr Orges, which were in reality just a
double edition of the same letter, arrived in London on October
18, 1859, while the court proceedings were due to begin in
Augsburg on the 24th. I therefore wrote at once to Herr Vigele
to arrange a meeting next day in the office at the Marlborough
Street Police Court, where he should give his declaration about the
pamphlet Zur Warnung the legal form of an affidavit*** My letter

* It is true that in No. 319 of the Allgemeine Zeitung, Herr Kolb mentions “a
very detailed letter from Herr Marx which he has not printed”. But this “detailed
letter” has been printed in the Hamburg Reform, No. 139, supplement of November 19,
1859. The “detailed letter” was a declaration from me intended for publication, and 1
sent it also to the Berlin Volks-Zeitung. [See this volume, pp. 4-7.]

** My covering note [see this volume, p. 3] and Végele’s declaration can be found
in the “ Magnum Opus”, Documents, pp. 30, 31. Herr Orges’ letters to me are contained
in Appendix 10.

*** An affidavit is a statutory declaration given before a court, which, if false, is
liable to all the penalties incurred by perjury.
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did not reach him in time. Hence, on October 19,* against my
original intention, I was compelled to send the above-mentioned
written declaration of September 17 instead of the affidavit.**

The court proceedings in Augsburg, as is well known, turned
into a true comedy of errors. The corpus delict: was the pamphlet
Zur Warnung sent by W. Liebknecht to the Allgemeine Zeitung and
reprinted by it. The publisher and the author of the pamphlet,
however, were involved in a game of blind-man’s buff. Liebknecht
could not compel his witnesses, who were in London, to appear
before the court in Augsburg; the editors of the Allgemeine
Zeitung, embarrassed by this legal impasse, spouted a lot of
political gibberish; Dr. Hermann regaled the court with the tall
stories of our ‘“well-rounded character” about the Brimstone
Gang, the Lausanne Festival, etc.; and the court finally dismissed
Vogt’s suit because the plaintiff had brought the case to the wrong
court. 'The confusion reached its climax when the case in
Augsburg had been concluded and the report on the proceedings?®
reached London with the Allgemeine Zeitung. Blind, who had
unswervingly preserved his statesman-like silence up to that
moment, suddenly leaped into the public arena scared by the
testimony of Vogele, the compositor, which had been produced by
me. Vogele had not declared that Blind was the author of the
pamphlet, but only that he had been referred to as such by Fidelio
Hollinger. However, Vogele did declare categorically that the
manuscript of the pamphlet had been written in Blind’s hand, with which
he was familiar, and that it had been set and printed in Hollinger’s
print-shop. Blind could be the author of the pamphlet even if it had
neither been written down in Blind’s handwriting, nor set up and
printed in Hollinger’s print-shop. Conversely, the pamphlet could
have been written down by Blind and printed by Hollinger, even
though Blind was not the author.

In No. 313 of the Allgemeine Zeitung, beneath the date London,

* Since I write illegibly my letter of October 19 was regarded by the
Augsburg Court as dated October 29. Vogt’s lawyer, Dr. Hermann, Vogt himself,
the dignified Berlin “National-Zeitung” et hoc genus omne [and that whole tribe] of
“critical immediacy” did not doubt at all that a letter written in London on October
29 could arrive in Augsburg by October 24.

*#* That this quid pro quo was the result of pure chance—namely the belated
arrival of my letter to Vigele—can be seen from his subsequent affidavit of February
11, 1860.

2 The report in question, “Prozess Vogt gegen die Redaction der Allgemeinen
Zeitung”, was published in the Allgemeine Zeitung, Nos. 300 and 301, October 27
and 28, 1859.— Ed.
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November 3 (see “Magnum Opus”, Documents, pp. 37, 38), the
citizen and statesman Blind declared that he was not the author of
the pamphlet, and as proof he was “publishing” the “following
document’’:

“a) 1 hereby declare that the assertion of the compositor Végele printed in the
Allgemeine Zeitung, No. 300, to the effect that the pamphlet Zur Warnung
mentioned there was printed in my print-shop or that Herr Karl Blind was its author,
is a malictous fabrication.

“3 Litchfield Street, Soho,

London, November 2, 1859
Fidelio Hollinger”

“b) The undersigned, who has lived and worked in No. 3 Litchfield Street for the
past eleven months, for his part testifies to the correctness of Herr Hollinger’s statement.

“London, November 2, 1859
J. F. Wiehe, Compositor”

Vogele had nowhere asserted that Blind was the author of the
pamphlet. Fidelio Hollinger therefore invents Vgele'’s assertion so
as to be able to dismiss it as a “malicious fabrication”. On the other
hand, if the pamphlet was not printed in Hollinger’s print-shop,
how can the same Fidelio Hollinger be certain that Karl Blind was
not its author?

And how can the circumstance that the compositor Wiehe “has
lived and worked for eleven months” (up to November 2, 1859) with
Hollinger enable him to testify to the “correctness of Fidelio
Hollinger’s statement”?

My reply® to Blind’s declaration (in No. 325 of the Allgemeine
Zeitung, see “Magnum Opus”, Documents, pp. 39, 40) concluded
with the words: “The transfer of the trial from Augsburg to London
would resolve the entire Blind-Vogt mystére.”

Blind, with all the moral indignation of a beautiful soul cut to
the quick, returned to the attack in the “supplement to the
‘Allgemeine Zeitung’ of December 11, 1859”:

“Having repeatedly” (we must take note of this) “based my testimony on the
documents signed by Herr Hollinger, the printer, and Herr Wiehe, compositor, 1
declare here for the last time that the allegation (which is latterly put forward
merely as an insinuation) that I am the author of the pamphlet frequently referred
to is a downright untruth. The other statements about me contain distortions of the
crudest sort.”

In a postscript to this declaration the editors of the Allgemeine
Zeitung remarked that “this discussion is of no further interest to
the general public” and they therefore request “the gentlemen

2 See this volume, pp. 8-9.— Ed.
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concerned to abstain from further replies”, a request which our
“well-rounded character” interpreted as follows at the end of the
“Magnum Opus’:

“In other words, the editors of the Allgemeine Zeitung request Messrs. Marx,
Biscamp* and Liebknecht, who stand revealed as barefaced liars, not to compromise
themselves and the Allgemeine Zeitung any further.”

Thus, for the time being, the Augsburg campaign came to an
end.

Reverting to the tone of his Lousiad, Vogt made “Vogele the
compositor” bear “false witness” to me and Liebknecht (“Magnum
Opus”, p. 195). He explained the origins of the pamphlet by
suggesting that Blind

“may well have conceived various suspicions and have spread them abroad. The
Brimstone Gang then used them to fabricate a pamphlet and other articles which they then
attributed to Blind who found himself driven into a corner” (loc. cit., p. 218).

And if the Imperial Vogt failed to resume his indecisive
campaign in London, as he had been challenged to do, this was
partly because London was “a backwater” (“Magnum Opus”,
p- 229), but partly because the disputants “were accusing each other
of lying” (loc. cit.).

The man’s “critical immediacy” can only approve of the
intervention of the courts if the parties are not disputing about the
truth.

I now pass over three months and resume the thread of my
story in the beginning of February 1860. Vogt’s “Magnum Opus”
had not yet reached London, but we had received the anthology of
the Berlin  National-Zeitung, which contained the following
statement:

“It was very easy for the Marx party to lay the authorship of the pamphlet at
Blind’s door, just because the latter had previously uttered similar views in

* In a letter dated October 20 from London, Biscamp had written to the editors
of the Allgemeine Zeitung in connection with the Vogt affair, ending up by offering
his services as news correspondent.2 I knew nothing of this letter until I saw it in
the Allgemeine Zeitung. Vogt has invented a moral doctrine according to which my
support of a newspaper which has since folded up makes me responsible for the
subsequent private letters written by its editor. How much more responsible would
this make Vogt for Kolatschek’s Stimmen der Zeit since he was a paid contributor to
Kolatschek’s Monatsschrift. When Biscamp was editing Das Volk, he made the
greatest sacrifices. He gave up a job he had had for many years in order to take on
the editorship; he edited the paper gratis in very trying circumstances and finally
he jeopardised his position as news correspondent for German papers, such as the
Kolnische Zeitung, so that he could work in accordance with his convictions.
Everything else did not and does not concern me.

a The Allgemeine Zeitung, No. 300 (supplement), October 27, 1859.— Ed.
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conversation with Marx and in the article in The Free Press. By using Blind’s
statements and turns of phrase the pamphlet could be fabricated so that it looked
like his work.”

Blind, like Falstaff who thought discretion the better part of
valour,* esteemed silence as the whole art of diplomacy, and so he
began to be silent once again. To loosen his tongue I published a
circular in English over my signature and dated London, February
4, 1860. (See Appendix 11.)

The circular, addressed to the editor of The Free Press, stated
inter alia:

“Now, before taking any further step, I want to show up the
fellows who evidently have played into the hands of Vogt. I,
therefore, publicly declare that the statement of Blind, Wiehe and
Hollinger, according to which the anonymous pamphlet was not
printed in Hollinger’s office, 3, Litchfield Street, Soho, is an
infamous lie.” *

Having presented the evidence in my possession I end with the
words:

“Consequently, I again declare the above said Charles Blind to
be an infamous liar (deliberate liar). If I am wrong, he may easily
confound me by appealing to an English Court of Law.”"

On February 6, 1860 a London daily (the Daily Telegraph)—
to which I shall return in due course—reproduced the anthology
of the National-Zeitung, under the title “The Journalistic Auxiliaries
of Austria”.© However, I initiated an action for libel against the
National-Zeitung, gave the Daily Telegraph notice of similar
proceedings® and set about assembling the necessary legal
material.

On February 11, 1860 the compositor Vogele swore an affidavit
before the Police Court in Bow Street. He repeated the essential
contents of his declaration of September 17, 1859, namely that the
manuscript of the pamphlet was in Blind’s handwriting and that

* In the English original I said “a deliberate lie”. The Kélnische Zeitung translated
this as “infame Liige” (infamous lie). I accept this translation, even though
“durchtriebene Liige” would be closer to the original.

a Shakespeare, Henry IV, Part I, Act V, Scene 4.— Ed.

b Marx’s circular (letter to the editor of The Free Press dated February 4, 1860,
see this volume, p. 11) was written in English. The original text is reproduced here
and in Appendix 11. The last sentence does not occur in the latter.— Ed.

¢ Marx gives the title in English and supplies the German translation in
brackets.— Ed.

d See this volume, pp. 14-15.— Ed.
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it had been composed in Hollinger’s print-shop, partly by him
(Vogele) and partly by F. Hollinger. (See Appendix 12.)
Incomparably more important was the affidavit taken out by the
compositor Wiehe, whose testimony Blind had repeatedly, and
with growing self-confidence, quoted in the Allgemeine Zeitung.
Apart from the original (see Appendix 13) I am therefore
giving here a word-for-word translation®:

“One of the first days of November last—I do not recollect the exact date—in
the evening between nine and ten o’clock I was taken out of bed by Mr.
F. Hollinger, in whose house I then lived, and by whom I was employed as
compositor. He presented to me a paper to the effect, that, during the preceding
eleven months I had been continuously employed by him, and that during all that
time a certain German flysheet ‘Zur Warnung’ (A Warning) had not been composed
and printed in Mr. Hollinger’s Office, 3, Litchfield Street, Soho. In my- perplexed
state, and not aware of the importance of the transaction, I complied with his wish,
and copied, and signed the document. Mr. Hollinger promised me money, but I
never received anything. During that transaction Mr. Charles Blind, as my wife
informed me at the time, was waiting in Mr. Hollinger’s room. A few days later, Mrs.
Hollinger called me down from dinner and led me into her husband’s room, where
I found Mr. Blind alone. He presented me the same paper which Mr. Hollinger had
presented me before, and entreated me® to write, and sign a second copy, as he wanted
two, the one for himself, and the other for publication in the Press. He added that he would
show himself grateful to me. 1 copied and signed again the paper.

“I herewith declare the truth of the above statements and that:

“1) During the eleven months mentioned in the document I was for six weeks
not employed by Mr. Hollinger, but by a Mr. Ermani.

“2) I did not work in Mr. Hollinger’s Office just at that time when the flysheet ‘ Zur
Warnung’ was published.

“3) I heard at the time from Mr. Végele, who then worked for Mr. Hollinger,
that he, Vogele, had, together with Mr. Hollinger himself, composed the flysheet in
question, and that the manuscript was in Blind’s handwriting.

“4) The types of the pamphlet were still standing when I returned to Mr.
- Hollinger's service. I myself broke them into columns for the reprint of the flysheet (or
pamphlet) ‘Zur Warnung’ in the German paper Das Volk published by Mr. Hollinger,
3, Litchfield Street, Soho. The flysheet appeared in No. 7, d.d. 18th June 1859, of Das
Volk.

“5) 1 saw Mr. Hollinger give to Mr. William Liebknecht of 14, Church Street,
Soho, the proofsheet of the pamphlet Zur Warnung’, on which proofsheet Mr.
Charles Blind with his own hand had corrected four or five mistakes. Mr. Hollinger
hesitated at first giving the proofsheet to Mr. Liebknecht, and when Mr. Liebknecht
had withdrawn, he, Hollinger, expressed to me and my fellow workman Vagele his
regret for having given the proofsheet out of his hands.

Johann Friedrich Wiehe

2 The original English text is given in Appendix 13. The various types of emphasis
were introduced by Marx.— Ed.

b In his translation Marx gives the English words “entreated me” in brackets after
the German equivalent.— Ed.
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“Declared and signed by the said Friedrich Wiehe at the Police Court, Bow
Street, this 8th day of February, 1860, before me,

Th. Henry, Magistrate of the said court” (Police Court)

(Bow Street)

The two affidavits of the compositors Vigele and Wiehe proved
that the manuscript of the pamphlet had been written in Blind’s hand,
composed in Hollinger’s print-shop and that Blind himself had corrected
the proofs.

And the homme d’état wrote to Julius Frébel from London on
July 4, 1859:

“A violent attack on Vogt has appeared here, accusing him of corruption. I do
not know who is responsible for it. It contains a number of allegations of which we had
not previously heard.”?®

And the same homme d’état wrote to Liebknecht on September 8,
1859, saying that

“he had nothing whatever to do with the problem in question”.

Not content with these achievements citizen and statesman Blind
had fabricated a false declaration and contrived to induce the
compositor Wiehe to sign it by promises of money from Fidelio
Hollinger and proofs of his own gratitude in the future.

This, his own fabrication with a signature obtained by false
pretences and together with Fidelio Hollinger’s false testimony, he
not only sent to the Allgemeine Zeitung, but in his second
declaration he even “refers” “repeatedly” to these “documents”, and
hurls the reproach of “downright untruth” at my head with every
sign of moral indignation.

I had copies made of the two affidavits of Vogele and Wiehe
and circulated them in different circles, whereupon a meeting
took place at Blind’s house attended by Blind, Fidelio Hollinger,
and Blind’s house-friend Herr Karl Schaible, M.D., a quiet decent
fellow who plays the role of tame elephant in Blind’s political
operations.

In the Daily Telegraph of February 15, 1860 there appeared an
item that was later reprinted in German newspapers and which
went as follows:

“The Vogt-Pamphlet
“To the Editor of The Daily Telegraph
“Sir,

“In consequence of erroneous statements which have been current, I feel I owe

it to Mr. Blind, as well as to Mr. Marx, formally to declare that neither of them is

2 Marx probably quotes this letter from the National-Zeitung, No. 41, July 4,
1859.— Ed.
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the author of the pamphlet directed some time ago against Professor Vogt, at
Geneva. That pamphlet originates from me; and on me the responsibility rests. I
am sorry both with regard to Mr. Marx and Mr. Blind, that circumstances beyond
my control should have prevented me from making this declaration earlier.

“London, 14 February, 1860
Charles Schaible, M.D.”

Herr Schaible sent me this declaration.* I reciprocated his
politeness by return of post by sending the affidavits of the
compositors Vogele and Wiehe and wrote that his (Schaible’s)
declaration made no difference either to the false statements that
Blind had sent to the Allgemeine Zeitung, or to Blind’s conspiracy®
with Hollinger to obtain Wiehe's signature for the false document he
had fabricated. :

Blind perceived that he was no longer on the firm territory of
the Allgemeine Zeitung, but under the perilous jurisdiction of
England. If he wanted to invalidate the affidavits and the “grave
insults” of my circular based on them, he and Hollinger would
have to swear counter-affidavits; but felony is no joke.

Eisele-Blind''® is not the author of the pamphlet, because
Beisele-Schaibele publicly declares himself its author. Blind has
only written the manuscript of the pamphlet; he has only had it
printed by Hollinger, corrected the proofs in his own hand,
fabricated false statements together with Hollinger in order to refute
these facts and sent them to the Allgemeine Zeitung. But he is
nevertheless a wronged innocent, because he was not the author or
originator of the pamphlet. He acted only as Beisele-Schaibele’s
secretary. It is just for this reason that on July 4, 1859 he did not
know “who” had brought the pamphlet into the world and on
September 8, 1859 he had “nothing whatever to do with the problem in
question”. It may therefore reassure him that Beisele-Schaible is the
author of the pamphlet in the literary sense of the word, but
Eisele-Blind is its author in the technical sense of the English law,
and the responsible publisher in the sense of all civilised legislation.
Habeat sibi!*

A final word of farewell to Herr Beisele-Schaible.

The lampoon published by Vogt against me in the Biel
Handels-Courier, dated Berne, May 23, 1859, bore the title Zur
Warnung. The pamphlet composed by Schaible and written out

2 On this see Marx’s letters to Engels of February 15, 1860 and to Legal Counsellor
Weber of February 24, 1860 (present edition, Vol. 41).— Ed.

b Marx uses the English word.— Ed.

¢ So be it! Genesis 38:23.— Ed.
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and published by his secretary Blind in the beginning of June
1859, in which Vogt was arraigned as an agent of Louis
Bonaparte, and accused in some detail of both “giving” and
“taking bribes”, alse bears the title Zur Warnung. Furthermore, it
is signed X. Although in algebra X represents an unknown
quantity, it also happens to be the last letter of my name. Were the
title and the signature on the pamphlet an attempt to make
Schaible's “warning” look like my reply to Vogt's “warning”?
Schaible had promised a Revelation No. 2 as soon as Vogt
ventured to deny Revelauon No. 1. Vogt not only issued a denial;
he instituted an action for libel in reply to Schaible’s “warning”.
And Herr Schaible’s Revelation No. 2 has not appeared to this
day. At the head of his pamphlet Schaible had printed the words:
“For distribution!” And when Liebknecht was obliging enough to
“distribute” it through the Allgemeine Zeitung, *“circumstances
beyond his control” sealed Herr Schaible’s lips from June 1859 to
February 1860. when they were unsealed again by the affidavits
taken out in the Police Court in Bow Street.

However that may be, Schaible, the original denouncer of Vogt,
has now publicly accepted responsibility for the information given
in the pamphlet. Hence the Augsburg campaign ends not with the
victory of the defendant Vogt, but with the appearance on the
battlefield at long last of the accuser Schaible.
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VIII

DA-DA VOGT AND HIS STUDIES

“SINE STUDIO” '!®

About a month before the outbreak of the Italian war, Vogt
published his so-called Studien zur gegenwidrtigen Lage Europas,
Geneva, 1859. Cui bonor?

Vogt knew that

“in the approaching war England would remain neutral” (Studien, p. 4).

He knew that Russia,

“in agreement with France, would do everything in iis power to injure Austria,
short of actual hostilities” (Studien, p. 13).b

He knew that Prussia—but let him say for himself what he
knows about Prussia.

“Even the most short-sighted will have realised by now that there is an
understanding between the Prussian Government and the Imperial Government of France;
that Prussia will not take up arms to defend Austria’s non-German provinces; that
it will give its approval to all measures necessitated by the defence of the territory
of the Confederation: but apart from this it will prevent any attempt by the
Confederation or any of its members to intervene in support of Austria, and in the
subsequent peace negotiations it will expect to be rewarded in the northern plains of
Germany for these pains” (loc. cit., pp. [18-]19).

To sum up: In Bonaparte’s imminent crusade against Austria,
England will remain neutral, Russia will adopt a hostile stance
towards Austria, Prussia will restrain the bellicose members of the
Confederation, and Europe will localise the war. As with the
Russian war earlier on, Louis Bonaparte will now conduct the
Italian war with the permission of the supreme authorities, he will

4 Who benefits?— Ed.
b The quotation actually begins with the words “would do everything”.— Ed.
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act, as it were, as the secret general of a European coalition. What
then is the purpose of Vogt's pamphlet? Since Vogt knows that
England, Russia and Prussia are acting against Austria, what
compels him to write for Bonaparte? But it appears that, quite
apart from the old Francophobes with “the now childish Father
Arndt and the ghost of the wretched Jahn at their head” (loc. cit.,
p. 121), a sort of national movement was convulsing “the German
people” and was echoed in all kinds of ‘“Chambers and
newspapers” “while the governments only joined the dominant
current hesitatingly and with reluctance” (loc. cit., p. 114). It
appears that the “belief in an imminent threat” moved the
German “people” to issue a “call for common measures” (loc. cit.).
The French Moniteur (see inter alia the issue of March 15, 1859)
looked on at this German movement with “astonishment and
regret”.?

“A sort of crusade against France,” it declares, “is preached in the Chambers
and in the press of some of the states of the German Confederation. They accuse
France of entertaining ambitious plans, which it has disavowed, and of preparing
for conquests of which it does not stand in need”, etc.

In rebuttal of these “slanders” the Moniteur argues that “the
Emperor’s” attitude towards the Italian question should “rather
inspire the greatest sense of security in Germany”, that German
unity and nationhood are, so to speak, the hobby-horses of
Decembrist France, etc. The Moniteur concedes, however (see
April 10, 1859), that certain German anxieties may appear to have
been “provoked” by certain Parisian pamphlets— pampbhlets in
which Louis Bonaparte urgently exhorts himself to provide his
people with the “long-desired opportunity” “pour s’étendre majes-
tueusement des Alpes au Rhin” (to extend its frontiers majestically
from the Alps to the Rhine).

“But,” the Moniteur asserts, “Germany forgets that France stands under the
protection of a legisiation which does not authorise any preventive control on the
part of the government.” b

This and similar declarations by the Moniteur produced the very
opposite effect to the one intended, or so it was reported to the
Farl of Malmesbury (see the Blue Book On the Affairs of Italy.
January to May 1859°). But where the Moniteur failed, Karl Vogt
might perhaps succeed. His Studien are nothing but a compilation

a “Partie non officielle. Paris, le 14 mars”, Le Moniteur universel, No. 74, March
15, 1859 — Fd.

b Le Moniteur universel, No. 100, April 10, 1859.— Ed.

© Cowley to Malmesbury, April 10. 1859 (extract). Here and below Marx uses
the English titie of the Blue Book.— Ed.
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120

in German of Moniteur articles, Dentu pamphlets'® and Decem-

brist maps of the future.

Vogt’s tub-thumping about England has only one point of
interest—as an illustration of the general style of his Studien.
Following his French sources he transforms the English Admiral,
Sir Charles Napier, into “Lord” Napier (Studien, p. 4). The literary
Zouaves attached to the Decembrists have learnt from the theatre
of Porte St. Martin'®' that every distinguished Englishman is a
Lord at the very least.

>

“England has never been able,” Vogt declares, “to harmonise with Austria for
long. Even though a momentary community of interests may have united them for a
while, political necessity always separated them again immediately. On the other
hand, England constantly formed close alliances with Prussia”, etc. (loc. cit.,, p. 2.)2

Indeed! The common struggle of England and Austria against
Louis XIV lasted with brief interruptions from 1689 to 1713, i.e.
almost a quarter of a century. In the war of the Austrian
Succession England fought for about six years together with
Austria against Prussia and France. It was not until the Seven
Years’ War'#® that England became the ally of Prussia against
Austria and France, but as early as 1762 Lord Bute left Frederick
the Great in the lurch and put forward proposals for the
“partition of Prussia” first to the Russian minister Golitsin and
then to the Austrian minister Kaunitz. In 1790 England concluded
a treaty with Prussia against Russia and Austria, but it faded away
before the year was out. During the Anti-Jacobin War Prussia
withdrew from the European Coalition with the Treaty of Basle,'?
despite Pitt’s subsidies. Austria, on the other hand, urged on by
England, fought on with brief interruptions from 1793 to 1809.
As soon as Napoleon was eliminated and even before the
conclusion of the Congress of Vienna, England concluded a secret
treaty (of January 3, 1815) with Austria and France against Russia
and Prussia.'? In 1821, in Hanover, Metternich and Castlereagh
made a new agreement against Russia.'®® Thus whereas the British
themselves, both historians and parliamentarians, mostly refer to
Austria as their “ancient ally”,h Vogt has discovered from his
original source, French pamphlets published by Dentu, that Austria
and England were always at loggerheads apart from cases of a

a In this passage the italics are Marx’s. The punctuation is slightly altered.— Ed.
b Marx uses the English phrase and gives the German translation in
brackets.— Ed.
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“momentary community of interests”, while England and Prussia
were constant allies, which probably explains why Lord Lyndhurst
warned the House of Lords during the Russian war with Prussia
in mind: “Quem tu, Romane, caveto!”* Protestant England has
antipathies towards Catholic Austria, liberal England towards
conservative Austria, free-trade England towards protectionist
Austria, solvent England towards bankrupt Austria. But emotional
factors have always been alien to English history. It is true that
Lord Palmerston, during his thirty years’ rule of England,
occasionally glossed over his vassalage to Russia by parading his
Austrian antipathies. From “antipathy” to Austria, for example,
he rejected in 1848 Austria’s proposal, approved by Piedmont and
France, for England to mediate in Italy, a proposal according to
which Austria would have withdrawn to Verona and the line of
the Adige, Lombardy would have become part of Piedmont, if it
so decided, Parma and Modena would have fallen to Lombardy,
while Venice would have formed an independent Italian state
under an Austrian Archduke and given itself a constitution. (See
Blue Book on the Affairs of Italy, Part II, July 1849, Nos. 377, 478.)
These conditions were at any rate better than those of the Treaty
of Villafranca.'®® After Radetzky had defeated the Italians at all
points, Palmerston put forward the same terms that he himself
had earlier rejected. As soon as Russia’s interests required the
opposite approach, however, such as during the Hungarian war of
independence, he refused the assistance for which the Hungarians
asked on the basis of the treaty of 1711'¥—despite his
“antipathy” to Austria—and even refused to make any protest
against Russian intervention on the grounds that

“the political independence and liberties of Europe are bound up with the

maintenance and integrity of Austria as a great European Power” (sitting of the
House of Commons, July 21, 1849).b

Vogt’s story continues:

“The interests of the United Kingdom ... are everywhere in opposition to them”
(to the interests of Austria) (loc. cit., p. 2).

“Everywhere” is at once transformed into the Mediterranean.

“England wishes at all costs to preserve its influence in the Mediterranean and
the countries along its coastline. Naples and Sicily, Malta and the Ionian Islands,
Syria and Egypt are points of support of its policy oriented towards the East Indies.
At all these points, Austria has set up the greatest obstacles to it” (loc. cit.).

2 “Be on your guard against him, Romans!” (Horace, Satires, Book I, Satire
4, paraphrased.)— Ed.
b The Times, No. 20235, July 23, 1849.— Ed.



Herr Vogt.—VIIL. D4-Di Vogt and His Studies 187

It is amazing to see how much Vogt takes on trust from the
original Decembrist pamphlets published by Dentu in Paris! The
English had imagined hitherto that they had been fighting the
Russians and the French in turn for Malta and the Ionian Islands,
but never the Austrians. They imagined that France, not Austria,
had earlier sent an expedition to Egypt and was establishing itself
at this very moment in the isthmus of Suez; that France, not
Austria, had made conquests on the North coast of Africa and,
allied with Spain, had striven to snatch Gibraltar from Britain; that
England had concluded the treaty of July 1840 referring to Egypt
and Syria against France and with Austria'?®; that in “the policy
oriented towards the East Indies” England had everywhere encoun-
tered the “greatest obstacles” set up by Russia, not Austria. They
imagined that in the only serious dispute between England and
Naples—the sulphur question of 1840—it was a French, not an
Austrian, company whose monopoly of the Sicilian sulphur trade
triggered off the conflict.'"® And lastly, that on the other side of
the Channel, there was occasional talk of transforming the
Mediterranean into a ‘“lac frangais”, but never into a “lac
autrichien”. However, an important particular has to be consid-
ered in this context.

In the course of 1858 a map of Europe appeared in London
entitled L’Europe en 1860 (Europe in 1860).* This map, which was
put out by the French Embassy and for 1858 contained several
prophetic hints— Lombardy-Venice, for example, were annexed
by Piedmont, and Morocco by Spain—redrew the political
geography of the whole of Europe with one exception, that of
France, which apparently remained within its old frontiers. The
territories designed for it were, with sly irony, donated to
impossible owners. Thus Egypt fell to Austria and the note in the

margin of the map read: “Frangois Joseph I, UEmpereur
d’Autriche et d’Egypte” (Francis Joseph I, Emperor of Austria and
Egypt).

Vogt had the map of L’Europe en 1860 before him as a sort of
Decembrist compass. Hence his dispute between England and
Austria on account of Egypt and Syria. Vogt prophesies that this
conflict would “end in the destruction of one of the disputants”,
if, as he remembers just in time, “if Austria possessed a navy” (loc.
cit., p. 2). However, the historical scholarship peculiar to the
Studien reaches its climax in the following passage:

2 A description of the map was published in The Times, Nos. 23228 and 23229,
February 12 and 14, 1859.— Ed.
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“When Napoleon I once attempted to break the English Bank, the latter one day?
resorted to counting the sums, instead of weighing them out, as it had always done
previously; the Austrian Treasury finds itself in the same position, or even in a
much worse one, for 365 days every year” (loc. cit.,, p. 43).

It is well known that the Bank of England (“the English Bank”
is another figment of Vogt’s imagination) suspended payments in
cash from February 1797 until 1821, during which 24 years
English banknotes could not be exchanged for metal at all,
whether weighed or counted. When the suspension first began
there was as yet no Napoleon I in France (although a General
Bonaparte was engaged on his first Italian campaign), and when
cash payments were resumed in Threadneedle Street, Napoleon 1
had ceased to exist in Europe. Such “studies” even surpass La
Guéronniere’s account of the conquest of Tyrol by the “Emperor”
of Austria.

Frau von Kridener, the mother of the Holy Alliance, used to
distinguish between the  good principle, the ‘“white angel of the
North” (Alexander I), and the evil principle, the “black angel of the
South” (Napoleon I).” Vogt, the adoptive father of the new Holy
Alliance, transforms both, Tsar and Caesar, Alexander II and
Napoleon III, into “white angels”. Both are the predestined
liberators of Europe.

Piedmont, Vogt claims, “has even gained the respect of Russia”
(loc. cit., p. 71).c

What more can be said of a state than that it has even gained the
respect of Russia. Especially after Piedmont had ceded the naval
port of Villafranca to Russia, and as the selfsame Vogt points out

in regard to the purchase of the Jade Bay by Prussia'*':

“A naval port on alien territory, without organic connections to the land to
which it belongs, is such ridiculous nonsense that its existence can only acquire
meaning if it is, as it were, regarded as a target of future aspirations, as a raised
pennant on which to train one’s sights” (Studien, p. 15).

It is common knowledge that Catherine II had already striven to
obtain naval ports on the Mediterranean for Russia.

Tender consideration towards the “white angel” of the North
leads Vogt into crude exaggerations which violate “the modesty of

@ The italics are Marx’s except for the words “one day”; the punctuation is slightly
altered.— Ed.

b See J. Turquan, Une illuminée au XIXe¢ siécle (la baronne de Kriidener),1766-1824,
Paris, p. 194.—Ed.

¢ Marx’s italics and bold type.— Ed.
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nature”, insofar as this was still respected by his original source in
Dentu. In La vraie question. France-Italie-Autriche, Paris, 1859
(published by Dentu) he read on p. 20:

“And besides, with what right could the Austrian Government invoke the

inviolability of the treaties of 1815, when it has itself broken them with the
confiscation of Cracow whose independence the treaties guaranteed?” *

He translates his French original in this way:

“It is strange to hear such language from the mouth of the only government®
which up to now has insolently violated the treaties [...] by raising its sacrilegious hand,
without cause, in the midst of peace, against the Republic of Cracow, which had been
guaranteed by the treaties, and incorporating it without more ado into the Empire”
(loc. cit., p. 58).

It was of course out of “respect” for the treaties of 1815 that
Nicholas destroyed the Constitution and autonomy of the King-
dom of Poland, which were guaranteed by the treaties of 1815.
Russia had no less respect for the integrity of Cracow when it
occupied the free city with Muscovite troops in 1831. In 1836
Cracow was again occupied by the Russians, Austrians and
Prussians; it was treated like a conquered nation in every respect
and as late as 1840 it vainly appealed to England and France,
invoking the treaties of 1815. Finally, on February 22, 1846,
Russians, Austrians and Prussians again occupied Cracow, to
incorporate it into Austria.'®® Thus all three Northern powers
violated the treaties and the Austrian confiscation of 1846 was
only the sequel to the Russian invasion of 1831. Out of courtesy
towards the “white angel of the North” Vogt forgets the
confiscation of Poland and falsifies the history of the confiscation
of Cracow.**

The circumstance that Russia is “consistently hostile to Austria
and sympathetic to France’ leaves Vogt in no doubt about Louis
Bonaparte’s inclination to liberate all nations, just as the fact that
“his” (Louis Bonaparte’s) “policies- are today in the closest agree-
ment with those of Russia” (p. 30) raises no doubts in his mind
about Alexander II's inclination to liberate all nations.

* “De quel droit, d’ailleurs, le gouvernement autrichien viendrait-il invoquer
Pinviolabilité de ceux (traités) de 1815, lui qui les a violés en confisquant Cracovie,
dont ces traités garantissaient I'indépendance?”

** Palmerston, who fooled Europe with his ridiculous protest, had worked
unceasingly in the intrigue against Cracow ever since 1831. (See my pamphlet
Palmerston and Poland, London, 1853.) [See present edition, Vol. 12.]

a The words “only government” were italicised by Vogt. The other italics in this
passage are Marx’s.— Ed.
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Hence in the East Holy Russia must be regarded as the “friend
of aspirations to freedom” and of “popular and national
development”, just like Decembrist France in the West. This
slogan was given out for all the agents of December 2.

“Russia,” Vogt found in La foi des traités, les puissances signatairves et Uempereur
Napoléon 111, Paris, 1859, a work published by Dentu, “Russia belongs to the family
of the Slavs, a chosen race.... Astonishment has been expressed at the chivalrous
concord that has suddenly sprung up between France and Russia. Nothing could
be more natural: agreement on principles, unanimity of purpose, submission to the law
of the holy alliance of the governments and peoples, not to set traps and constrain others,
but to guide and support the divine movements of the nations. From this perfect
concord” (between Louis Philippe and England there was only an entente cordiale,
but between Louis Bonaparte and Russia there is la cordialité¢ la plus parfaite) “the
most happy things have resulted: railways, emancipation of the serfs, trading posts in
the Mediterranean, etc.” *

Vogt immediately latches on to the “emancipation of the serfs”
and suggests that

“the present impulse ... may well make Russia the ally of aspirations to freedom,
rather than their enemy” (loc. cit., p. 10).

Like his Dentu original, he attributes the impulse for the
so-called emancipation of the serfs in Russia to Louis Bonaparte
and for this purpose he transforms the Anglo-Turkish-French-
Russian war, which provided the impulse, into a “French war” (loc.
cit., p. 9).

It is well known that the call to emancipate the serfs first rang
out, loud and persistently, under Alexander 1. Tsar Nicholas was
occupied with emancipation of the serfs throughout his life; in
1838 he created a Ministry of Domains for this very purpose; in
1843 he instructed this Ministry to make the necessary prepara-
tions and in 1847 he even issued decrees favourable to the
peasantry about the disposal of land belonging to the nobility '**
which he only reversed in 1848 from fear of the revolution.
Hence, if the emancipation of the serfs has assumed more substantial
dimensions under the “benevolent Tsar”, as Vogt genially calls
Alexander II, this would appear to be the result of economic
developments which even a Tsar cannot subdue. Besides, the
emancipation of the serfs as the Russian Government sees it, would

* “La Russie est de la famille des Slaves, race d'élite... On s'est étonné de
I'accord chevaleresque survenu soudainement entre la France et la Russie. Rien de
plus naturel: accord des principes, unanimité du but ... soumission a la loi de
Ualliance sainte des gouvernements et des peuples, non pour leurrer et contraindre, mais
pour guider et aider la marche divine des nations. De la cordialité la plus parfaite
sont sortis les plus heureux effets: chemins de fer, affranchissement des serfs, stations
commerciales dans la Méditerranée, etc.” La foi des traités, etc., Paris, 1859, p. 33.
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increase the aggressive power of Russia a hundredfold. It is simply
intended to perfect autocratic rule by tearing down the barriers
which the big autocrat has hitherto encountered in the shape of
the many lesser autocrats of the Russian nobility, whose might is
based on serfdom, as well as in the shape of the self-
administrating peasant communes, whose material foundation,
common ownership of land, is to be destroyed by the so-called
emancipation.

The Russian serfs happen to interpret the emancipation
differently from the government, and the Russian nobility
understands it in yet a third sense. Hence the “benevolent Tsar”
discovered that a genuine emancipation of the serfs is incompati-
ble with his own autocratic rule, just as the benevolent Pope Pius
IX discovered in his day that the emancipation of Italy was
incompatible with the existence of the Papacy. The “benevolent
Tsar”, therefore, regards wars of conquest and the traditional
foreign policy of Russia, which, as the Russian historian Karamzin
remarks, is ‘“immutable”,* as the only way to postpone the
revolution within. In his work La vérité sur la Russie, 1860, Prince
Dolgorukov has subjected to devastating criticism the tissue of lies
about the millennium that is supposed to have dawned under
Alexander II, myths zealously disseminated throughout Europe
since 1856 by writers in the pay of Russia, loudly proclaimed in
1859 by the Decembrists and blindly repeated by Vogt in his
Studien.

According to Vogt, even before the outbreak of the Italian war
the alliance forged between the “white Tsar” and the “Man of
December” for the express purpose of liberating the subject
nationalities, had shown its worth in the Danubian principalities,
where the unity and independence of the Romanian nation were
confirmed by the election of Colonel Cuza as ruler of Moldavia
and Wallachia.”**

“Austria protested with might and main, France and Russia applauded” (loc. cit.,
p- 65).

In a memorandum '*® (printed in the Preussisches Wochenblatt,
1855) drawn up in 1837 for the Tsar of the time® by the Russian
Cabinet, we can read:

“Russia prefers not to annex immediately states with alien elements.... In any
event it seems more fitting to allow countries whose acquisition has been resolved

a H. M. Kapamsuns, Hemopin Focydapemsa Poccitickazo, T. X1, Cn6., 1824, crp. 23
(N. M. Karamzin, The History of the Russian State, Vol. XI, St. Petersburg, 1824,
p- 23).— Ed.

b Nicholas 1.— Ed.
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upon to exist for a time under separate, but entirely dependent leaders, as we have
done in Moldavia and Wallachia, etc.” 2

Before Russia annexed the Crimea it proclaimed its independence.

In a Russian proclamation of December 11, 1814, it is stated
inter alia:

“The Emperor Alexander, your protector, appeals to you, Poles: Arm

yourselves for the defence of your country and the maintenance of your political
independence.” b

And above all the Danubian principalities! Ever since Peter the
Great’s invasion of the Danubian principalities, Russia has
laboured in the cause of their “independence”. At the Congress of
Niemirov (1737) the Empress Anne demanded that the Sultan
should concede the independence of the Danubian principalities
under Russian protection. At the Congress of Focsani (1772)
Catherine II insisted on the independence of the principalities
under European protection.®® Alexander I continued these efforts
and put the seal on them by transforming Bessarabia into a
Russian province (by the Peace of Bucharest, 1812'%). Nicholas
even gladdened the hearts of the Romanians through Kiselev by
bestowing on them the Réglement organique, which established the
most hideous form of serfdom while the whole of Europe
applauded him for this code of liberty, which is still in force.'*® By
his quasi-unification of the Danubian principalities under Cuza,
Alexander II only went one step further in the century-and-a-
half’s policy of his forbears. Vogt now discovers that this
unification under a Russian vassal means that “the principalities
will constitute a dam blocking the advance of Russia towards the
South” (loc. cit., p. 64).

Since Russia has been applauding the election of Cuza (loc. cit.,
p- 65) it is as clear as daylight that the benevolent Tsar must be
doing all he can to block his own “path to the South” even though
“Constantinople remains an eternal goal of Russian policy” (loc.
cit., p. 9).

There is nothing new in proclaiming Russia the protector of
liberalism and of national aspirations. Catherine II was celebrated
as the standard-bearer of progress by a whole host of French and

3 “Zur Signatur der russischen Politik”, Preussisches Wochenblatt, No. 23, June
9, 1855. Marx gives a summary rather than the exact words of the passage in
question.— Ed.

b The source used by Marx has not been established. The text of the
proclamation can be found in D’Angeberg’s Recueil des traités, conventions et actes
diplomatiques concernant la Pologne.— Ed.
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German Enlighteners. The “noble” Alexander I (Le Grec du Bas
Empire* as Napoleon meanly described him) in his day played the
hero of liberalism throughout Europe. Did he not make Finland
happy by bestowing on it the blessings of Russian civilisation? Did
he not in his magnanimity give France not only a Constitution, but
even a Russian Prime Minister, the Duc de Richelieu? Was he not
the secret head of the “Hetairia”,"*® while simultaneously at the
Congress of Verona, he urged Louis XVIII through his hired
agent Chateaubriand to campaign against the Spanish rebels? *°
Did he not use Ferdinand VII’s confessor to incite Ferdinand to
send an expedition to quell the rebellious Spanish-American
colonies, while at the same time he promised the President of the
United States of North America® his assistance against the
intervention of any European power on the American continent?
Did he not send Ypsilanti to Wallachia as the “leader of the Holy
Hellenic Host”, and use the same Ypsilanti to betray the host and
arrange for the assassination of Vladimirescu, the Wallachian rebel
leader? Before 1830 Nicholas, too, was eulogised in every lan-
guage, in verse and in prose, as the hero who would liberate the
subject nationalities. In 1828-29, when he undertook a war against
Mahmood 11, for the liberation of the Greeks, after Mahmood had
refused to allow a Russian army to move in to suppress the Greek
uprising, Palmerston speaking in the British Parliament declared
that the enemies of Russia, the liberator, were necessarily the
“friends” of the greatest monsters in the world: Dom Miguel,
Austria and the Sultan. Did not Nicholas in paternal solicitude
give the Greeks a president, namely Count Capo d’Istria, a
Russian general? But the Greeks were not Frenchmen and they
murdered the noble Capo d’Istria. And although Nicholas had
mainly appeared in his role as guardian of legitimacy ever since
the July 1830 revolution, he did not cease for a moment to work for
the “liberation of the subject nationalities”. A few illustrations will
suffice. The constitutional revolution in Greece in September 1843
was led by Katakasi, the Russian minister in Athens and formerly
the responsible supervisor over Admiral Heiden at the time of the
disaster at Navarino.'*' The centre of the Bulgarian rebellion in
1842 was the Russian consulate in Bucharest. There in the spring
of 1842, the Russian general Duhamel received a Bulgarian

a Greek of the Byzantine Empire; figuratively, confidence-trickster. See
Emmanuel Las Cases, Mémorial de Sainte-Héléne..., t. 2, Paris, 1824, p. 407, and
Frangois René Chateaubriand, Congrés de Vérone, Vol. I, Paris, 1838, pp.
186-87.— Ed.

.b James Monroe.— Ed.
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deputation whom he presented with a plan for a general
insurrection. Serbia was to act as reserve for the revolt and the
Russian general Kiselev was to become Hospodar of Wallachia.
During the Serbian uprising (1843) Russia used its Embassy in
Constantinople to drive the Turks to resort to violence against the
Serbs, and then made use of this pretext to appeal to the
sympathy and fanaticism of Europe against the Turks. Italy, too,
was by no means excluded from the liberation plans of Tsar
Nicholas. La Jeune Italie, which was for a time the Paris organ of
the Mazzini party, recounts in an issue in November 1843:

“The recent disturbances in the Romagna and the movements in Greece were
more or less connected with each other.... The Italian movement failed because the
real democratic party refused to join it. The Republicans would not aid in a
movement instigated by Russia. Everything was prepared for a general insurrection
in Italy. The movement was to commence in Naples, where it was expected that a
section of the army would take the lead or make common cause with the patriots.
After the outbreak of the revolution, Lombardy, Piedmont and the Romagna
would rise and an [Italian Empire was to be established under the Duke of
Leuchtenberg, the son of Eugéne Beauharnais and the son-in-law of the Tsar.
‘Young Italy’ 142 frustrated this plan.” 3

The Times of November 20, 1843 commented as follows on this
information from La Jeune Italie:

“If that great end—the establishment of a new Italian Empire the head of
which would be a Russian Prince—could be attained, so much the better; but there
was another—an immediate, though perhaps not quite so important advantage to
be gained by any outbreak in Italy—the causing of alarm to Austria and the
withdrawal of her attention from the fearful® projects of Russia on the Danube.”

After Nicholas had made an unsuccessful approach to “Young
Italy” in 1843, he sent Mr. von Butenev to Rome in March 1844.
Butenev proposed to the Pope® in the name of the Tsar that
Russian Poland should be ceded to Austria in exchange for
Lombardy, which was to become a North Italian kingdom under
Leuchtenberg. The Tablet of April 1844, which was at that time
the English organ of the Roman Curia, commented as follows:

“The bait for the Roman Curia contained in this beautiful plan lay in the fact
that Poland would fall into Catholic hands, while Lombardy would remain in the
possession of a Catholic dynasty as before. But the diplomatic veterans of Rome

perceived that while Austria can barely maintain its hold on its own possessions and
in all human probability will be forced sooner or later to relinquish its Slav

3 Here and below Marx probably drew on the item “Express from Paris”, The
Times, No. 18458, November 20, 1843. The italics are Marx’s.— Fd.

b In the original Marx gives the word “fearful” in brackets after its German
equivalent.— Ed.

¢ Gregory XVI1.— Ed.
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provinces, the cession of Poland to Austria, even if this part of the proposal were
seriously intended, would be nothing more than a loan to be repaid at a later date.
Whereas North Italy with the Duke of Leuchtenberg would in fact fall under
Russian protection and before long would infallibly come beneath the Russian
sceptre. The warmly recommended plan was consequently put aside for the
present.” 2

Thus far The Tablet of 1844.

The only factor that has served as a justification for the
existence of Austria as a political entity since the middle of the
eighteenth century has been its resistance to the advance of Russia
in Eastern Europe, a resistance conducted in a helpless, inconsist-
ent and cowardly, but obstinate manner. This resistance leads
Vogt to the discovery that “Austria is the source of all discord in
the East” (loc. cit., p. 56). With “a certain childlike innocence” so
becoming to his tubbiness, he explains the alliance of Russia and
France against Austria as the result of the latter’s ingratitude for
the services rendered it by Nicholas during the Hungarian
revolution, to say nothing of the liberating predilections of the
“benevolent Tsar”.

“In the Crimean war Austria went to the very edge of hostile, armed neutrality.
It is self-evident that such an attitude, which moreover bore all the marks of falsity

and scheming, was bound to be bitterly resented by the Russian Government and
impel it to draw closer to France” (loc. cit., pp. 10, 11).

According to Vogt, Russia pursues a sentimental policy. The
gratitude Austria expressed to the Tsar at Germany’s expense
during the Warsaw Congress in 1850 and in the march on
Schleswig-Holstein '** does not satisfy the grateful Vogt.

The Russian diplomat Pozzo di Borgo in his celebrated dispatch
from Paris in October 1825,"** having listed Austria’s intrigues to
frustrate Russia’s plans for intervention in the East, goes on to say:

“QOur policy obliges us, therefore, to present our most terrifying face towards
this state” (Austria) “to convince it by our preparations that if it ventures any
movement against us we shall unleash upon it the greatest storm it has ever
experienced.”

He goes on to threaten war from without and revolution from
within, and having hinted at a possible peaceful solution in the
suggestion that Austria should annex any Turkish “provinces that
appealed to it” and having described Prussia as a subordinate ally
of Russia, he continues:

a “The Papacy and the Great Powers”, The Tablet, No. 205, April 13, 1844. Marx
gives a summary rather than the exact words of the passage in question. He may have
used some other source too.— Ed.
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“If the Viennese court had yielded to our good purposes and intentions, the plan of the
Imperial Cabinet would long since have achieved fulfilment—a plan which
embraces not only the annexation of the Danubian principalities and Constan-
tinople, but even provides for the expulsion of the Turks from Europe.”

It is well known that in 1830 a secret treaty was concluded
between Nicholas and Charles X. Its terms laid down that France
would permit Russia to take possession of Constantinople and
would receive the Rhine provinces and Belgium in return. Prussia
would be given Hanover and Saxony, and Austria would receive a
part of the Turkish provinces on the Danube. Under Louis
Philippe, at Russia’s suggestion, this plan was again laid before the
Russtan Cabinet by Molé. A little while after, Brunnow went to
London with the document where it was shown to the English
Government as proof of France’s treachery and helped to set up
the anti-French coalition of 1840.

Let us now see how, according to the ideas of Vogt, who
obtained his inspirations from his original Paris sources, Russia
was supposed to exploit the Italian war in agreement with France.
It might be thought that the “national” composition of Russia and
especially the “Polish nationality” might well create certain difficul-
ties for a man for whom *“the principle of nationality was the

¥ a

Lodestar”.* However:

“The principle of nationality stands high in our estimation, but the principle of
free self-determination stands even higher” (loc. cit., p. 121).

When Russia annexed by far the largest portion of Poland
proper by virtue of the treaties of 1815, it gained a position which
extended so far westward, and drove as it were a wedge not only
between Austria and Prussia, but also between East Prussia and
Silesia, that even at the time Prussian officers (such as Gneisenau)
pointed out that such frontiers could not be tolerated in relation
to so powerful a neighbour. However, it was not until 1831, when
the defeat of Poland put the whole territory at the mercy of
Russia, that the true significance of the wedge became clear. The
subjugation of Poland was no more than a pretext for constructing
the grandiose chain of fortresses at Warsaw, Modlin and
Ivangorod. Its real purpose was complete strategic control of the
basin of the Vistula, and the establishment of a base from which to
launch attacks to the North, South and West. Even Haxthausen,
who enthused about the orthodox Tsar and all things Russian,
regards this as a very definite danger and a threat to Germany.

a Carl Vogt, Studien..., Einleitung, S. ix.— Ed.
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The Russian fortifications on the Vistula pose a greater threat to
Germany than all the French fortresses put together, especially if
and when Polish national resistance were to cease completely and
Russia were able to use Poland’s war potential as its own force of
aggression. Hence Vogt comforts Germany with the thought that
Poland has become Russian from an act of free self-determination.

“There can be no doubt,” he says, “that thanks to the great efforts of the
Russian people’s party, the gulf that yawned between Poland and Russia has been
narrowed significantly and it perhaps requires only a small impulse to- close it
completely” (loc. cit., p. 12).

This small impulse was to be provided by the Italian war.
(However, in the course of this war Alexander II became
convinced that Poland had not yet reached such Vogtian heights.)
The idea was that owing to the law of gravity Poland, which had
been absorbed into Russia by an act of “free self-determination”,
would as a central body attract the detached limbs of the former
Kingdom of Poland, which were now wasting away under foreign
rule. To facilitate this process of attraction Vogt counsels Prussia
to seize the opportunity and rid itself of its “Slav appendage” (loc.
cit., p. 17), that is Posen (loc. cit., p. 97) and probably also West
Prussia since only East Prussia is recognised to be a “genuine
German land”. The limbs detached from Prussia would, of course,
at once revert to the central body absorbed by Russia and the
“genuine German land” of East Prussia would be transformed
into a Russian enclave. On the other hand, as far as Galicia is
concerned, which is also shown as a part of Russia on the map of
L’Europe en 1860, its separation from Austria lay directly in line
with the war to free Germany from the non-German possessions
of Austria. Vogt recollects that

“before 1848 the picture of the Russian Tsar could be seen more frequently in
[...] Galicia than that of the Austrian Emperor” (loc. cit., p. 12) and “in view of the
uncommon skill displayed by Russia in weaving its intrigues, Austria would have
serious cause for anxiety here” (loc. cit.).

It is perfectly self-evident, however, that in order to rid itself of
the “internal enemy” Germany should simply allow the Russians
“to advance troops to the frontier” (p. 13) to lend their support to
these intrigues. While Prussia is detaching itself from its Polish
provinces, Russia using the Italian war should separate Galicia
from Austria, just as in 1809 Alexander I had received a piece of
Galicia in payment for his purely theatrical support of Napoleon I.
It is well known that Russia successfully reclaimed parts of Poland
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that had originally gone to Austria and Prussia, partly from
Napoleon I and partly from the Congress of Vienna. According
to Vogt, in 1859 the time had come for the whole of Poland to be
united with Russia. Vogt demands not the emancipation of the Polish
nationality from Russians, Austrians and Prussians, but the
absorption by Russia and the annihilation of the entire former Kingdom
of Poland. Finis Poloniae!™® This “Russian” conception of the
“reconstruction of Poland”, which was rife throughout Europe
immediately after the death of Tsar Nicholas, was denounced as
early as March 1855 by David Urquhart in his pamphlet The New
Hope of Poland?

But Vogt had not yet done enough for Russia.

“The extraordinary civility,” says our agreeable companion, “indeed the almost
brotherly feelings with which the Russians treated the Hungarian revolutionaries
formed too great a contrast with the behaviour of the Austrians for it not to have
had repercussions. Russia did indeed crush the party” (N.B.: according to Vogt the
Russians crushed not Hungary but the party), “but treated it with forbearance and
courteousness, and thereby laid the foundations for an attitude which may be
characterised by saying that when faced with two evils one must choose the lesser
of the two, and that in the present case, Russia is not the greater” (loc. cit., pp. 12, 13).

With what “extraordinary civility, forbearance, courteousness”,
and indeed almost “brotherly feelings” does Plon-Plon’s Falstaff
conduct the Russians to Hungary, making himself into the
“channel” for the illusion which destroyed the Hungarian
revolution of 1849. It was Gdirgey's party which disseminated the
belief in a Russian prince as the future King of Hungary, a belief
which broke the will of the Hungarian revolution to resist.*

Without having particular support in any one race the
Habsburgs naturally based their dominion over Hungary before
1848 on the dominant nationality—the Magyars. We may remark
in passing that Metternich was the great protector of the
nationalities. He misused them by playing them off against each
other, but he needed them in order to misuse them. He therefore

* According to the Polish Colonel Lapinski, who fought against the Russians in
the Hungarian revolutionary army up to the fall of Komorn,? and later in Circassia,
“it was the Hungarians’ misfortune that they did not know the Russians”
(Theophil Lapinski, Feldzug der Ungarischen Hauptarmee im Jahre 1849, Hamburg,
1850, p. 216). “The Viennese Cabinet was completely in the hands of the Russians
.. it was on their advice that the leaders were murdered ... while the Russians did
everything to gain the sympathies of all, Austria was ordered by them to make itself
even more hated than ever in the past” (loc. cit., pp. 188, 189).

2 Marx gives the English title and supplies the German translation in
brackets.— Ed.
b Komérom.— Ed.
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preserved them. We may compare the situation in Posen and
Galicia. After the revolution of 1848-49 the Habsburg dynasty,
having used the Slavs to subdue the Germans and Magyars, tried
to follow in the footsteps of Joseph II and to impose the rule of
the German element in Hungary by force. The fear of Russia
prevented the Habsburgs from embracing their rescuers, the Slavs.
Their overall reactionary policy in Hungary was aimed more
against their saviours, the Slavs, than against their defeated
enemies, the Magyars. Hence, as Szemere has shown in his
pamphlet Hungary, 1848-1860, London, 1860, fighting against its
own saviours, the Austrian reaction therefore drove the Slavs
back under the wing of the Magyars. Austrian rule over Hungary
and the rule of the Magyars in Hungary coincided, therefore,
both before and after 1848. Russia is in a quite different position,
whether it rules Hungary directly or indirectly. Taking the racial
and religious affinities together, Russia would immediately have
the non-Magyar majority of the population at its disposal. The
Magyar race would instantly succumb to the union of the Slavs,
who are akin to the Russians ethnically, and the Wallachians,
who are akin to them religiously. Russian domination in Hun-
gary, therefore, is synonymous with the destruction of Hungarian
nationality, i.e. of a Hungary historically bound up with Magyar
rule.*

Vogt, who proposes that the Poles by an act of “free
self-determination” should be absorbed by Russia, also wants to
drown the Hungarians in a sea of Slavs by subjecting them to Russian
rule.**

But Vogt has still not done enough for Russia.

* General Moritz Perczel, famous for his part in the Hungarian revolutionary
war, withdrew from the group of Hungarian officers around Kossuth in Turin
while the Italian campaign was still in progress. In a public declaration he
explained the reasons for his resignation—on the one hand, there was Kossuth,
who merely acted as a Bonapartist bogyman, on the other hand, there was the
prospect of a Russian future for Hungary. In his reply (from St. Hélier, April 19,
1860) to a letter from me in which I inquired for further information about his
declaration, he said inter alia: “I shall never consent to act as a tool to rescue
Hungary from the claws of the Double Eagle merely to force it into the deadly
embrace of the Northern Bear.”

** Mr. Kossuth was never in any doubt about the correctness of the views set
forth in the present work. He knew that Austria can maltreat Hungary, but not
annihilate it. “The Emperor Joseph II,” he writes to the Grand Vizier Reshid
Pasha from Kiitahya, February 15, 1851, “the only man of genius produced by the
Habsburg family, exhausted the extraordinary resources of his rare intellect and of
the then still common notions of the power of his House, in the attempt to
Germanise Hungary, and integrate it within the state as a whole. But Hungary
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<

Among the “non-German provinces” of Austria on behalf of
whom the German Confederation should not “take up its sword”
against France and Russia, which “stands whole-heartedly on the
side of France”, are not only Galicia, Hungary and Italy, but in
particular Bohemia and Moravia, as well.

“Russia,” Vogt says, “provides the firm centre around which the Slav
nationalities increasingly strive to congregate” (loc. cit., pp. 9-10).

Bohemia and Moravia belong to the “Slav nationalities”. As
Muscovy developed into Russia, so must Russia develop into Pan-
Slavonia. “With the Czechs ... at our side we shall succumb to every
enemy” (loc. cit., p. 134). We, i.e. Germany, must attempt to rid
ourselves of the Czechs, i.e. of Bohemia and Moravia. “No
guarantee for non-German possessions of the rulers” (loc. cit.,
p- 133). “No non-German provinces in the Confederation any longer”
(loc. cit.) but only German provinces in France! Hence we must not
only “give the present French Empire a free hand [...] as long as it
does not violate the territory of the German Confederation” (Preface,
p- 9), but we must also allow Russia “a free hand” as long as it
only violates “non-German provinces in the Confederation”. Russia will
help Germany develop its “unity” and “nationhood” by advancing
troops to the “Slav appendages” of Austria exposed to Russia’s
“intrigues”. While Austria is kept busy in Italy by Louis Bonaparte
and Prussia forces the sword of the German Confederation back
into its sheath, the “benevolent Tsar” will “be able secretly to
support” revolutions in Bohemia and Moravia “with money, arms
and munitions” (loc. cit., p. 13).

And “with the Czechs at our side we must succumb to every
enemy”!

emerged from the struggle with renewed vigour.... In the last revolution Austria
only raised itself from the dust in order to collapse once again at the feet of the
Tsar, its master, who never gives his aid but only sells it. And Austria had to pay
for this aid dearly” (Correspondence of Kossuth, p. 33). On the other hand, he
maintains in the same letter that only Hungary and Turkey together can frustrate
the Pan-Slavist intrigues of Russia. He writes to David Urquhart from Kiitahya,
January 17, 1851: “ We must crush Russia, my dear Sir! and, headed by you, we will! I
have not only the resolution of will, but also that of hope! and this is no vain word,
my dear Sir! no sanguine fascination; it is the word of a man, who is wont duly to
calculate every chance: of a man though very weak in faculties, not to be shaken in
perseverance and resolution, etc.” (loc. cit., p. 39.)2

2 The letter was quoted in the article “Data by Which to Judge of Kossuth”,
The Free Press, No. 5, May 27, 1859. Marx quotes the original English text and
gives the German translation in brackets.— Ed.
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How magnanimous of the “benevolent Tsar”, then, to relieve us
of Bohemia and Moravia with all their Czechs which as “Slav
nationalities must” naturally “congregate around Russia”.

Let us examine how our Vogt of the Empire protects the
Eastern German frontier by incorporating Bohemia and Moravia
in Russia. Bohemia Russian! But Bohemia lies in the middle of
Germany, separated from Russian Poland by Silesia, and from the
Galicia and Hungary Russified by Vogt, by a Moravia also
Russified by Vogt. Thus Russia acquires an expanse of German
federal territory 50 German miles long and 25-35 miles broad.* Its
Western frontier will advance westwards by a full 65 German
miles. Since the distance between Eger® and Lauterburg in Alsace is
no more than 45 German miles as the crow flies, North Germany will
be totally separated from South Germany by the French wedge in the
West and even more by the Russian wedge in the East, and the
partition of Germany would be complete! The direct route from Vienna
to Berlin would pass through Russia, and the same would apply even
to the direct route from Munich to Berlin. Dresden, Nuremberg,
Regensburg and Linz would be our frontier towns bordering on
Russia; our position vis-a-vis the Slavs would, at least in the South, be
the same as it was before Charlemagne (while in the West Vogt does
not allow us to go back as far as Louis XV), and we could simply erase
1,000 years of our history.

What could be accomplished with the aid of Poland, could be
accomplished even better with the aid of Bohemia. If Prague were
transformed into a fortified encampment, with secondary for-
tresses at the confluence of the Moldau and the Eger ¢ with the Elbe,
the Russian army in Bohemia could calmly stand and wait for the
German army which, divided from the outset, would approach
from Bavaria, Austria and Brandenburg. Falling upon the smaller
German units it would be able to destroy them while allowing the
larger ones to run up against the fortresses.

Let us look at a linguistic map of Central Europe, taking, for
example, a Slav authority, the “slovansky zemévid” of Safarik.'*
According to this the Slav-language frontier runs from the
Pomeranian coast near Stolp via Zastrow south of Chodziehen® on
the Netze, and advances westwards to Meseritz. However, from
there it suddenly curves south-east. Here the massive German

2 A German mile is equal to 7,420 metres.— Ed.

b Modern name: Cheb.— Ed.

¢ Now the Vltava and the Ohte.— Ed.

d Modern names: Stdlpchen (Stdlpgen), Jastrow and Colmar.— Ed.
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territory of Silesia drives a deep wedge between Poland and
Bohemia. In Moravia and Bohemia the Slavonic language again
protrudes far to the west, although it is greatly eroded by the
advance of German from all directions and the whole area is
interspersed with German towns and linguistic islands, just as in
the north, the whole Lower Vistula and the best part of East
and West Prussia are German and push forward uncomfor-
tably towards Poland. Between the most westerly point of the
Polish tongue and the most northerly point of Bohemian, the Lusa-
tian or Wendish linguistic enclave lies in the middle of German-
speaking territory, but in such a way that it almost cuts off
Silesia.

For the Russian Pan-Slavist Vogt, who has Bohemia to play with,
there is no doubt where the natural frontier of the Slav Empire
lies. It goes from Meseritz directly to Lieberose and Liibben, then
south of where the Elbe passes through the mountains on the
Bohemian frontier, after which it follows the Western and
Southern frontier of Bohemia and Moravia. Everything to the east
of this is Slav: the few German enclaves and other interlopers on
Slav soil can no longer withstand the development of the great
Slav nation. And anyway they have no right to be where they are.
Once this “Pan-Slavist state of affairs” has been brought about, a
similar rectification of the frontiers will become inevitable in the
south. Here too a German wedge has of its own accord thrust
itself between the North and South Slavs and occupied the valley
of the Danube and the Styrian Alps. Vogt cannot tolerate this
wedge and, being consistent, he therefore has Russia annex
Austria, Salzburg, Styria and the German parts of Carinthia. In
this construction of the Slav-Russian Empire, Vogt has already
demonstrated, Austria notwithstanding, that according to the
well-tested axioms of the “principle of nationality” small numbers
of Magyars and Romanians as well as various groups of Turks
must fall to Russia (for the “benevolent Tsar” also contributes to
the “principle of nationality” by his subjugation of Circassia and
the extermination of the Crimean Tartars!)—as a punishment for
being wedged between the North and South Slavs.

In this operation, we Germans lose—nothing more than East
and West Prussia, Silesia, parts of Brandenburg and Saxony, the
whole of Bohemia, Moravia and the rest of Austria apart from
Tyrol (part of which falls to the Italian “principle of nationali-
ty”)—and our national existence to boot!

But let us just consider the first stage, according to which
Galicia, Bohemia and Moravia become Russian!
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In such circumstances German Austria, Southwest Germany and
North Germany can never act in concert, except—and this would
inevitably come about— under Russian leadership.

Vogt makes us Germans sing what his Parisians sang in 1815:

“Vive Alexandre,

Vive le roi des rois,

Sans rien prétendre,

Il nous donne des lois.” 2

Vogt’s “principle of nationality”, which he desired to realise in
1859 through the alliance between the “white angel of the North”
and the “white angel of the South”, should according to his views
prove its worth by the absorption of Polish nationality, the
disappearance of Magyar nationality and vanishing of German
nationality in— Russia.

I have not mentioned his original source in Dentu’s pamphlets
on this occasion because I was reserving a single conclusive
quotation as proof that everything that he either hints at or blurts
out stems from slogans issued by the Tuileries. In the Pensiero ed
Azione’s issue of May 2-16, 1859, in which Mazzini forecasts events
that later took place, he remarks inter alia that the first condition
of the alliance agreed between Alexander II and Louis Bonaparte
was: “abbandono assoluto della Polonia” (absolute abandonment of
Poland by France, which Vogt translates as “completely closing the
gulf yawning between Poland and Russia”).

“Che la guerra si prolunghi e assuma ... proporzioni europee, l'insurrezione
delle provincie oggi turche preparata di lunga mano e quelle dell’Ungheria,
daranno campo all’Allianza di rivelarsi... Principi russi governerebbo le provincie
che surgerebbo sulle rovine dell'Impero Turco e dell’ Austria.. Constantino di Russia
€ gia proposto ai malcontenti ungheresi.” (See Pensiero ed Azione, May 2-16, 1859.)
(“If the war be prolonged so as to assume .. European proportions, the
insurrection of the Turkish provinces, prepared a long time since, and that of
Hungary, would enable the alliance to assume palpable forms.... Russian princes
would govern the states established on the ruins of the Turkish Empire and
Austria.... Constantine of Russia is already proposed to the Hungarian malcon-
tents.”) b

a “Long live Alexander,
Long live the king of kings;
He gives us laws and never
Asks for the least of things.”
(Le Peuple de 1850, No. 26, September 27).— Ed.
b From Mazzini's manifesto entitled “La Guerra”. Marx translated it into
English and published it with a brief introduction in the New-York Daily Tribune
(see present edition, Vol. 16, p. 357).— Ed.
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But Vogt’s Russophile posture is only secondary. He is merely
repeating one of the catch-phrases issued by the Tuileries and his
aim is merely to prepare Germany for manoeuvres agreed
between Louis Bonaparte and Alexander II if certain contingen-
cies of the war against Austria should eventuate. In fact, he merely
echoes slavishly the Pan-Slavist phraseology of his original Paris
pamphlets. His true task is to sing the Lay of Ludwig'’:

“Finan kuning weiz ih, heizit hér Hludowig
ther gérno Gode” (i.e. the nationalities) “dionét.” 2

We saw earlier how Vogt praised Sardinia by pointing out that
“it had even gained the respect of Russia”. We now have the parallel
assertion.

“There is no mention of Austria,” he says, “in” (Prussia’s) “declarations ... in
the event of an imminent war between North America and Cochin China the
wording would be the same. But the German mission of Prussia, its German
obligations, the old Prussia—that is where the emphasis is put for preference.
France” (in accordance with his statement on p. 27 that “France is now summed up

[...] exclusively in the person of its ruler”) “therefore bestows praise through the
‘Moniteur’ and the rest of the press— Austria fumes” (Studien, p. 18).

“The fact that Prussia correctly interprets its ‘German mission’
follows from the praise bestowed on it by Louis Bonaparte in the
Moniteur and the rest of the Decembrist press.” What brazen
impudence! We remember how from a feeling of tenderness
towards the “white angel of the North” Vogt made Austria the
sole offender against the treaties of 1815 and the sole state to
confiscate Cracow. He now performs the same labour of love for
the benefit of the “white angel of the South”.

“This ecclesiastical state against whose republic” (republic of an ecclesiastical
state!) “Cavaignac, the representative of the doctrinaire republican party [...] and
the military counterpart of Gagern” (a fine parallel!),“perpetrated the abominable

act of massacre” (to commit massacre against the republic of a state!), “a crime
which, however, did not help him to reach the presidential chair” (loc. cit., p. 69).

So it was Cavaignac and not Louis Bonaparte who perpetrated
“the abominable act of massacre” against the Roman Republic!
Cavaignac did indeed send a navy to Civitavecchia in November
1848 for the personal protection of the Pope. But it was only in
the following year, on February 9, 1849, several months after
Cavaignac had failed to get the  presidential chair, that the
temporal rule of the Pope was abolished and the republic proclaimed
in Rome. So Cavaignac could not possibly murder a republic that

a2 “I know of a king, he is called Lord Ludwig
who gladly serves God” (i.e. nationalities).— Fd.
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did not yet exist while he was in power. On April 22, 1849 Louis
Bonaparte sent General Oudinot with 14,000 men to Civitavecchia
after he had tricked the National Assembly into giving him the
funds necessary for the expedition against Rome by solemnly
declaring several times over that his intention was merely to resist
an invasion of the Roman states planned by Austria. It is well
known that the Paris catastrophe of June 13, 1849'* arose from
the resolution moved by Ledru-Rollin and the Montagne to exact
vengeance for the “abominable act of massacre against the Roman
Republic” which was also an “abominable breach of the French
Constitution” and an “abominable violation of the resolution of
the National Assembly”, from Louis Bonaparte, who was responsi-
ble for all these abominations, by instituting proceedings for
impeachment against him. We see how *“abominably” the base
sycophant of the coup d’état, how brazenly Karl Vogt falsifies
history in order to elevate the mission of Lord “Hludowig” to
liberate the subject nationalities in general and Italy in particular
beyond all doubt.

Vogt remembers from the Neue Rheinische Zeitung that alongside
the class of the lumpenproletariat it is the class of peasant
smallholders that in France constitutes the sole social basis of the
bas empire. He now adjusts this as follows:

“The present Empire has no party among the educated, no party [...] in the
French bourgeoisie—only two masses belong to it, the army and the rural
proletariat,2 which cannot read or write. But this constitutes 9/, of the population

and embraces the mighty organised instrument with whose aid resistance can be
smashed, and the herd of mortgage helots who own nothing but their vote™ (p. 25).

The non-urban population of France, including the army,
amounts to scarcely ?/; of the total population. Vogt transforms
less than 2%/; into °/;,. Moreover, he transforms the whole
non-urban population of France, of which around '/5 consists of
well-to-do landowners and another '/5 of people with neither land
nor other possessions, lock, stock and barrel into smallholders,
“mortgage helots”. Finally, he abolishes all reading and writing in
France outside the cities. Just as he earlier distorted history, so
now he falsifies statistics in order to enlarge the pedestal of his
hero. Having done this he installs his hero on this pedestal.

“Thus France is now indeed summed up exclusively in the person of its ruler,
of whom Masson” (also an authority) “said ‘he possesses great qualities as a
statesman and a sovereign, an unshakable will, sure sense of tact, vigorous
resolution, a stout heart, a bold, noble spirit and utter ruthlessness’” (loc. cit.,

p- 27).
a Vogt in his Studien has Landvolk (rural people).— Ed.
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“wie saelecliche stat im an

allez daz, daz ér begat!

wie gar sin lip ze wunsche stit!

wie gént im so geliche inein

die finen keiserlichen bein.”
(Tristan) 2

Vogt snatches the censer from Masson’s hands in order to swing
it himself. To Masson’s catalogue of virtues he adds “cold
calculation”, “bold planning”, “serpentine cunning”, “tenacious
patience” (p. 28) and then, as the Tacitus of the antechamber, he
stammers: “The origins of this reign are monstrous”, which is
certainly—nonsense. Above all he has to melodramatise the
grotesque figure of his hero into a great man and so *“ Napoléon le
Petit” ' becomes a “man of destiny” (loc. cit., p. 36).

“Even if present circumstances,” Vogt exclaims, “lead to a change” (what a modest
word: a change!) “in the government” (of this man of destiny), “we shall not be
behindhand with our warmest congratulations, even though we can see no prospect of
this for the time being!” (loc. cit., p. 29.)

How serious the warm fellow is with his congratulations in petto®
can be seen from the following:

“Hence with a lasting peace the internal situation becomes more and more
untenable day by day, because the French army is much more closely involved with
the parties of the educated than is the case, for example, in the German states, in
Prussia and Austria; because these parties find an echo, above all among the
officers, so that one fine day the only active pillar of the power that the Emperor
holds in his hands might slip away” (loc. cit., pp. [26-]27).c

So the ““internal situation” became “more and more untenable day by
day” with a “lasting peace”. This is why Vogt had to assist Louis
Bonaparte to violate the peace. The army, the “only active pillar” of
his “power”, threatened to “slip away”. This is why Vogt had to
prove that it was Europe’s task to bind the French “army” to
Louis Bonaparte once again by means of a “localised” war in Italy.
And indeed at the end of 1858 it looked as though things were
going to end dreadfully " with Badinguet, as the Parisians unre-
spectfully call the “nephew of his uncle”. The general trade
crisis of 1857-58 had paralysed French industry.* The government

* It is in fact the industrial prosperity that has sustained the regime of Louis
Bonaparte for so long. As the result of the discoveries in Australia and California

a “Everything he does, how divinely it becomes him! What a perfect body he
has! How evenly those royal legs move together!” (Gottfried von Strassburg, Tristan
und Isolde) Marx quotes according to an entry he made in his notebook entitled
Vogtiana (1860).— Ed.

b Up his sleeve.— Ed.

¢ The italics and bold type are Marx’s.— Ed.
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manoeuvres to prevent the crisis from becoming acute made the
malady chronic, so that the stagnation in French trade dragged on
until the outbreak of the Italian war. On the other hand, grain
prices fell so low between 1857 and 1859 that a loud cry went up
at various congres agricoles to the effect that French agriculture was
being ruined by low prices and the heavy burdens imposed on it.
Louis Bonaparte’s absurd attempt to raise grain prices artificially
by a fiat designed to force the bakers throughout France to set up
granaries only reveals the helpless confusion of his government.

The foreign policy of the coup d’état exhibited nothing but a
series of unsuccessful attempts to play Napoleon—mere trials,
invariably crowned by official withdrawals. For example, his
intrigue against the United States of America, his manoeuvres to
revive the slave trade,'®' the melodramatic threats directed against
England. The insolence with which Louis Bonaparte at that time
ventured to treat Switzerland, Sardinia, Portugal and Belgium—
even though in Belgium he could not even prevent the fortifica-
tion of Antwerp—only throws the fiasco of his policy vis-a-vis the
great powers into even starker relief. In the British Parliament
“Napoléon le Petit” became a standard expression and The Times
heaped ridicule on the “Man of Iron” in its articles at the end of
1858, by describing him as the “Man of Gutta-Percha”. In the
meantime, Orsini’s hand-grenades '*? had burst like a thunderbolt,
illuminating the internal situation in France. It turned out that
Louis Bonaparte’s regime was just as insecure as it had been in the
first days after the coup d’état. The Lois de sireté publique'®
revealed his total isolation. He had to abdicate to his own generals.
In an unprecedented development, France was divided into 5
General Captaincies, in the Spanish manner. With the introduction
of the Regency Pélissier was in fact recognised as the highest
authority in France.'® Moreover, the renewed terreur intimidated
no one. Instead of presenting a terrible appearance, the Dutch
nephew of the battle of Austerlitz only looked grotesque.'®
Montalembert was able to play Hampden in Paris, Berryer and
Dufaure to disclose the hopes of the bourgeoisie in their
summings-up and in Brussels Proudhon to proclaim Louis-
Philippism with an acte additionnel,'>® while Louis Bonaparte himself
disclosed the growing power of Marianne to the whole of Europe.

and their effects on the world market, French export trade had more than
doubled, a hitherto unprecedented advance. And in general the failure of the
February revolution may be attributed in the last analysis to California and
Australia.
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In the course of the uprising in Chalon '’ the officers, on hearing

that a republic had been proclaimed in Paris, cautiously inquired
at the Prefecture whether a republic had actually been proclaimed,
instead of just falling upon the insurgents, an event which
demonstrated in a striking manner that even the army regarded
the restored Empire as a pantomime, whose closing scene was
drawing near. Scandalous duels of the arrogant officers in
Paris coincided with scandalous deals on the Stock Exchange in
which the top leaders of the Gang of December 10 were involved.
The Palmerston Government in England fell because of its alliance
with Louis Bonaparte! ' And lastly, a treasury that could only be
replenished by resorting to exceptional subterfuges! Such was the
situation of the bas empire at the end of 1858. The Brummagem?*
Empire would collapse, or else the absurd farce of a Napoleonic
empire within the frontiers of the treaties of 1815 would have to
cease. But for this a localised war was essential. The mere prospect
of a war with Europe would then have sufficed to produce an
explosion in France. A child could understand what Horsman said
in the British Parliament:

“We know that France will support the Emperor as long as our vacillation

allows him success in his foreign policy, but we have grounds to believe that it will
abandon him as soon as we show resolute opposition.”

All depended on localising the war, i.e. on conducting it with the
supreme sanction of Europe. To begin with, France itself had to be
prepared gradually for the war with the aid of a series of hypocritical
peace negotiations and their repeated failure. Louis Bonaparte came
to grief even here. Lord Cowley, the English Ambassador in Paris,
had gone to Vienna with proposals drawn up by Louis Bonaparte
and approved by the (Derby) Cabinet in London. In Vienna (see the
Blue Book quoted above®), under English pressure, the proposals
were unexpectedly accepted. Cowley had just returned to London
with the tidings of a “peaceful solution” when suddenly the news
came that Louis Bonaparte had abandoned his own proposals and
had supported the convocation of a congress suggested by Russia to
discipline Austria. The war became possible only through the
intervention of Russia. If Russia had no longer needed Louis
Bonaparte in order to carry out its own plans—either to enforce them
with French assistance or to use the French to beat Austria and Prussia into
passive instruments of Russia— Louis Bonaparte would have fallen

a Marx uses the English word.— Ed.
b This refers to Correspondence Respecting the Affairs of Italy (see this volume,
p. 134).— Ed.
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then. But despite Russia’s covert support, despite the promises of
Palmerston, who had given his blessing at Compiégne to the
conspiracy of Plombiéres,'* everything depended on the attitude of
Germany, since on the one hand the Tory Cabinet was still at the
helm in England, and on the other hand the silent rebellion of
France against the Bonapartist regime would have been driven out
into the open by the prospect of a European war.

Vogt himself lets slip that he sang his Lay of Ludwig neither
from a lively sympathy for Italy, nor from fear of the timid,
conservative despotism of Austria, which was as clumsy as it was
brutal. On the contrary, he believed that if Austria, which, it
should be noted, was forced to start the war, should gain the
advantage in Italy at first,

“the revolution would certainly be unleashed in France, the Empire would be overthroumn
and the future would be different” (loc. cit., p. 131). He believed that “the Austrian
armies would in the last resort be unable to withstand the liberated forces of the
French people” (loc. cit.) and that “the victorious armies of Austria, by provoking
revolutions in France, Italy and Hungary, would themselves create the enemy who
would crush them”.2

But the issue for him was not the liberation of Italy from
Austria, but the enslavement of France by Louis Bonaparte.

What further proof is required that Vogt was merely one of the
countless mouthpieces through whom the grotesque ventriloquist
in the Tuileries spoke in foreign tongues?

It will be remembered that at the time when Louis Bonaparte
first discovered his mission to liberate the subject nationalities in
general and Italy in particular, France presented a spectacle
unprecedented in its history. The whole of Europe marvelled at
the stubborn obstinacy with which it rejected the “idées napoléon-
iennes”.” People still remember very well the enthusiasm with which
even the “chiens savants” < of the Corps législatif welcomed Morny’s
assurances of peace®; the irritated tone in which the Moniteur
lectured the nation, now for its immersion in material interests,
now for its lack of patriotic vigour and its doubts about
Badinguet’s talents as a general and his wisdom as a politician ;

a Marx’s italics.— Ed.

b An allusion to N.-L. Bonaparte’s book Des idées napoléoniennes, Paris, 1839.
— Ed.

¢ “Trained dogs”.— Ed.

d This refers to Morny’s speech at the opening of the Legislative Assembly on
February 8, 1859, Le Moniteur universel, No. 40, February 9, 1859.— Ed.

e “Partie non officielle. Paris, le 4 mars”, Le Moniteur universel, No. 64, March 5,
1859.— Ed.
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the soothing official messages to all the chambers of commerce
throughout France and the imperial assurance that *étudier une
question n'est pas la créer”* At the time, the English press,
astonished at the extraordinary spectacle, was crammed full of
well-meaning nonsense about the transformation of the French
into a peace-loving people, the Stock Exchange treated the issue of
“war” or ‘‘not war” as a “duel” between Louis Bonaparte, who
wanted war, and the nation, which did not, and bets were placed
as to who would prevail, the nation or “his uncle’s nephew”. To
give an idea of the situation as it was at the time I shall simply
quote a few passages from the London Economist, which, as
the organ of the City, as the spokesman of the Italian war and
as the property of Wilson (the recently deceased Secretary of
the Treasury for India and a tool of Palmerston), was highly
influential:

“Alarmed at the colossal uproar which has been created, the French
Government is now trying the soothing system” (The Economist, January 15, 1859).

In its issue of January 22, 1859, in an article entitled *“ The Prac-
tical Limits of the Imperial Power in France”, The Economist says:

“Whether the Emperor’s designs for a war in Italy are or are not carried out to
their completion, one fact at least has become conspicuous enough,—that his plans
have received a very severe and probably unexpected check in the chilling attitude
assumed by popular feeling in France and the complete absence of any sympathy
with the Emperor’s scheme.... He proposes a war [...] and the French people show
nothing but alarm and discontent;—the Government securities are depreciated, the
fear of the tax-gatherer subdues every gleam of political or martial enthusiasm, the
commercial portion of the nation is simply panic-siruck, the rural districts are
dumb and dissatisfied, fearing fresh conscriptions and fresh imposts; —the political
circles which have supported the Imperial régime most strongly, as a pis aller
against anarchy? discourage war for exactly the same reason for which they
support that régime [...] it is certain that Louis Napoleon has found an extent and
depth of opposition throughout all classes in France to a war, even in Italy, which
he did not anticipate.” *

* Lord Chelsea, who deputised for Lord Cowley in Paris during the latter’s
absence, writes: “The official disavowal” (in the Moniteur of March 5, 1859) “of all
warlike intentions on the part of the Emperor, this Imperial message of peace,¢ has
been received by all classes of Paris with feelings of what may be called exultation”
(No. 88 of the Blue Book On the Affairs of Italy. January to May 1859). [Marx quotes in
English and gives the German translation in brackets.]

2 “To study a question is not to create it.” — Ed.
b Pis aller means “last resort”. The Economist has “as against the alternative of
anarchy”.— Ed.

¢ “Partie non officielle. Paris, le 4 mars”, Le Moniteur universel, No. 64, March 5,
1859.— Ed.
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Faced with this mood of the French people that section of the
original Dentu pamphlets was launched which “in the name of the
people” peremptorily called on the “Emperor” “at last to assist
France in the majestic extension of its frontiers from the Alps to
the Rhine” and no longer to resist the “nation’s pugnacious spirit
and desire to bring about the liberation of the subject
nationalities”. Vogt plays the same tune as the prostitutes of
December. At the very moment when Europe stood amazed at
France’s obstinate longing for peace, Vogt made the discovery that
“today, the fickle nation” (the French ) “appears to be filled with a
warlike passion” (loc. cit., pp. 29, 30), and Lord Hludowig was only
following the “dominant trend of the age” which was intent on
the “independence of the nationalities” (loc. cit., p. 31). Naturally,
‘he did not believe a single syllable of what he was writing. In the
Programme in which he called upon democrats to co-operate in his
Bonapartist propaganda he makes it crystal clear that the Italian
war was unpopular in France.

“I cannot foresee any immediate threat to the Rhine; but one could arise in the future. A
war there or against England would make Louis Napoleon almost popular; the Italian
war does not possess this popular aspect” (“Magnum Opus”, Documents,

p. 34).*

If now one portion of the original Dentu pamphlets sought to
rouse the French nation from its “peace lethargy” with the aid of
the traditional visions of conquest and to put the private wishes of
Louis Bonaparte into the mouth of the nation, the other portion,
with the Moniteur in the vanguard, had the task of convincing
Germany in particular of the Emperor’s repugnance to foreign
conquests and of his ideal mission as the Messiah who would bring
freedom to the subject nationalities. The proofs of the disinterest-
edness of his policy on the one hand and of his desire to free the
subject nationalities on the other are easy to remember because
they are constantly repeated and revolve round only two axes.
Proof of the disinterestedness of Decembrist policies— the Crimean
war. Proof of his desire to free the subject nationalities— Colonel
Cuza and the Romanian nationality. The tone was set by the

* N. B. In his Studien he echoes the Moniteur and the original Dentu pamphlets
to the effect that “it is a peculiar whim of fate which compels this man™ (Louis
Bonaparte) “to place himself in the forefront as the liberator of the subject
nationalities” (p. 35), that one “must agree to assist this policy as long as it keeps
within the framework of the liberation of subject nationalities” and must wait “until
this liberation has been brought about by this man of destiny” (p. 36). In his Programme
for the democrats, on the other hand, he says: “We can and must warn against such
a helper” (“Magnum Opus”, Documents, p. 34).
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Moniteur. See the Moniteur of March 15, 1859 on the Crimean war.
The Moniteur of April 10, 1859 writes about the Romanian
nationality:

“In Germany as in Italy it” (France) “desires that the nationalities recognised by
the treaties should continue to exist and become even stronger. In the Danubian
principalities he” (the Emperor) “has endeavoured to help the legitimate wishes of
these provinces to triumph so that an order based on national interests might be
established in this part of Europe too.”

See also the pamphlet published by Dentu at the beginning of
1859 with the title Napoléon 111 et la question roumaine. With regard
to the Crimean war:

“Lastly, what compensation has France requested for the blood it has shed and
the millions it has expended in the East in the service of an exclusively European
cause?” (La vraie question, Dentu, Paris, 1859, p. 13.)

This theme, played with endless variations in Paris, was
translated so well into German by Vogt that E. About, that gossipy
magpie of Bonapartism, appears to have translated Vogt’s German
translation back into French. See La Prusse en 1860. Here too we
are again pursued by the Crimean war and Romanian nationality
under Colonel Cuza.

”»

“But this much at least is clear,” Vogt announces, echoing the Moniteur and
Dentu’s original pamphlets, “that France did not conquer a single square foot of
land” (in the Crimea) “and that after such a victorious campaign the uncle would
not have rested content with the meagre gain of having proved his superiority in
the art of warfare” (Studien, p. 33). “Here we can see an essential difference
between the present and the old Napoleonic policies” * (loc. cit.).

* Incidentally, “Napoléon le Petit” also copied the catchword “liberation of
subject nationalities” from the real Napoleon. In May 1809, for example, Napoleon
issued a proclamation from Schénbrunn to the Hungarians, in which he says inter
alia: “Hungarians! The moment is come to recover your independence.... 1
ask nothing of you. I only desire to see you a free and independent nation. Your
union with Austria has been your bane, etc.” 2 On May 16, 1797 Bonaparte concluded
a treaty with the Republic of Venice whose first article states: “In future peace and
understanding shall govern relations between France and the Venetian Republic.” He
revealed his intentions in concluding this peace three days later in a secret dispatch to
the French Directory which opens with these words: “You receive herewith the treaty
that I have concluded with the Republic of Venice and under the terms of which
General Baraguay d’Hilliers has occupied the city with 5,000-6,000 men. In making
this peace I had a number of aims in mind.” As the final aim he mentions: “To silence
all the talk in Europe since it will now seem as if our occupation of Venice is merely a
temporary operation which the Venetians themselves urgently requested.” Two days
later, on May 26, Bonaparte wrote to the Venice municipality: “The treaty concluded

a “Proclamation Addressed to the Hungarians by Napoleon 1. From Schoen-
brunn, in May, 1809” (see Bartholomius Szemere, Hungary, from 1848 to 1860,
London, 1860).— Ed.
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As if Vogt had to prove to us that “Napoléon le Petit” is not the
real Napoleon! With just as much justification Vogt could have
prophesied in 1851 that the nephew, who had nothing to set
against the first Italian campaign and the expedition to Egypt but
the Strasbourg adventure, the expedition to Boulogne and the
sausage review of Satory,'™ could never emulate the 18 Brumaire,
to say nothing of acquiring the Imperial Crown. There was after
all “an essential difference between the present and the old
Napoleonic policies”. Yet another difference was between waging
a war against a European coalition and waging one with the
permission of a European coalition.

The “glorious campaign in the Crimea” in which England,
France, Turkey and Sardinia in concert “captured” half a Russian
fortress after two years, and in exchange lost a whole Turkish
fortress (Kars) to the Russians, and at the conclusion of peace
were forced humbly to “request” the enemy at the Paris Congress '®'
for “permission” to evacuate their troops without interference and
ship them home—that was indeed anything but “Napoleonic”. It

in Milan can be signed by the municipality in the meantime—the secret articles by
three of its members. I shall always do everything in my power to provide you with
proofs of my desire to consolidate your liberties and to see this unfortunate Italy at last
occupy the place it deserves on the world stage, free and independent of all alien rule.” A
few days later he wrote to General Baraguay d’Hilliers2: “On receipt of this letter
present yourself to the Provisional Government of Venice and point out to them that
in accordance with the principles which now unite the Republics of France and
Venice, and with the immediate protection granted to Venice by the French Republic,
it is essential to place its sea power on a footing that will inspire respect. On this pretext
you will take possession of everything, while at the same time you will do all in your
power to remain on good terms with the Venetians and to recruit all the sailors of the
Republic to our service—while constantly speaking in the name of Venice. In brief, you
must manage matters so that you can transport the entire stock of ships and naval
supplies in the harbour of Venice to Toulon. By virtue of a secret article in the treaty,
the Venetians are obliged to provide the French Republic with naval supplies to the
value of 3 million for the Toulon navy, but it is my intention to take possession on
behalf of the French Republic of all the Venetian ships and all their naval supplies for
the benefit of Toulon” (see Correspondance secréte et confidentielle de Napoléon, 7 vols.,
Paris, 1817). These commands were carried out to the letter; and as soon as Venice
had been plundered of all its naval and war supplies, Napoleon, without the slightest
hesitation, handed over his new ally, the liberated Republic of Venice, whom he had
solemnly sworn to defend at whatever the risk, to the despotic yoke of Austria.

2 Napoléon Bonaparte, “Au chef de division commandant la marine frangaise
dans le golfe Adriatique. Montebello, le 25 prairial, an 5 (13 juin 1797)",
Correspondance inédite..., v. 5, livre 1, pp. 304-05. Baraguay d’Hilliers is named by
mistake here.— Ed.
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was glorious only in Bazancourt’s novel® But the Crimean war
proved all sorts of things. Louis Bonaparte betrayed his ostensible
allies (the Turks) in order to gain the alliance of the ostensible
enemy. The first success of the Paris peace was the sacrifice of the
“Circassian nationality” and the extermination of the Crimean
Tartars by the Russians, and likewise the destruction of the
national hopes that the Poles and Swedes had pinned to a West
European crusade against Russia. A further moral of the Crimean
war was: Louis Bonaparte could not afford a second Crimean war,
could not afford to lose an old army and gain new national debts
in exchange for the knowledge that France was rich enough “de
payer sa propre gloire” > that the name of Louis Napoleon figured
in a European treaty, that “the conservative and dynastic press of
Europe” unanimously acknowledged “the ruling virtues, the
wisdom and the moderation of the Emperor”—a fact which Vogt
counts to Louis Bonaparte's credit (loc. cit., p. 32)—and that at
the time the whole of Europe paid him all the honour due to a
genuine Napoleon, on the express condition that Louis Bonaparte,
following the example of Louis Philippe, should quietly stay within
“the limits of practical reason”, i.e. of the treaties of 1815, and not
forget for a single moment the fine line that distinguishes a
buffoon ¢ from the hero he represents. The political combinations,
the ruling powers and the social conditions that provided the leader
of the December Gang with the opportunity to play at being
Napoleon, first in France and then even beyond French territory, do
in fact belong to his epoch, and not to the annals of the Great French
Revolution.

“This fact at any rate is established, that present French policy in the East has

fulfilled the aspirations of one nationality” (the Romanian) “for unification”
(Studien, pp. 34-35).

Cuza, as we have mentioned, is keeping the place open for
either a Russian governor or a Russian vassal. On the map of
L’Europe en 1860 a Grand Duke of Mecklenburg figures as that
vassal. Russia naturally allowed Louis Bonaparte all the honour for
this Romanian emancipation, reserving all its advantages for itself.
Austria stood in the way of further benevolent intentions. Hence
the Italian war had the function of remodelling Austria, changing it
from an obstacle into an instrument.

a L’Expédition de Crimée jusqu’a la prise de Sébastopol, t. I-11, Paris, 1857.— Ed.

b “To pay for its own fame”.— Ed.

¢ Marx uses the word Pickelhiring, the name for the buffoon in Old German
comedies.— Ed.



L]

Herr Vogt.—VIIIL. Di-Da Vogt and His Studies 165

The ventriloquist in the Tuileries was already playing the tune
of “Romanian nationality” on his innumerable mouthpieces as
early as 1858. One of Vogt’s authorities, Mr. Kossuth, was thus in a
position to give an answer as early as November 20, 1858 in a
lecture in Glasgow®:

“Wallachia and Moldavia receive a Constitution, hatched in the caverns of secret.
diplomacy.... It is in reality no more nor less than a charter granted to Russia for
the purpose of disposing of the Principalities.”

Thus the “principle of nationality” was abused by Louis
Bonaparte in the Danubian principalities so as to mask the fact
that they were being handed over to Russia, just as in 1848-49 the
Austrian Government had abused the “principle of nationality” to
strangle the Magyar and German revolution with the aid of the
Serbs, Slovenes, Croats, Wallachians, etc. *

Good care is taken both by the Russian consul in Bucharest and
by the rabble of Moldavian and Wallachian Boyars, most of whom
are not even Romanian but a motley mosaic of adventurers from
God-knows-where—a sort of oriental December Gang—that the
Romanian people should still groan beneath the burdens of a
villeinage so monstrous that it could only have been set up by
Russians with their réglement organique and could only be sustained
by an oriental demi-monde.

Vogt, in the attempt to deck out the wisdom quarried from his
original Dentu sources with his own eloquence, says:

“Austria already had enough on her hands with one Piedmont in the South; it
had no need of another in the East” (loc. cit., p. 64).

Piedmont annexes Italian lands. So are the Danubian prin-
cipalities, the least warlike of the Turkish lands, to annex
Romanian territory, that is, conquer Bessarabia from Russia, and
Transylvania, the Banat of Temesvar and the Bukovina from
Austria? Vogt not only forgets the “benevolent Tsar”, he also
forgets that in 1848-49 Hungary did not seem in the least inclined
to part with these more or less Romanian provinces, that it
answered their “cry of distress” with a drawn sword, and that on
the contrary it was Austria which used “propaganda about the
principle of nationality” as a weapon against Hungary.

But the historical scholarship of his Studien shows itself in its
full splendour when Vogt, relying on half-remembered bits from

a Kossuth actually gave the lecture on November 19 (Kossuth, L’Europe,
UAutriche et la Hongrie, Bruxelles, 1859, pp. 54-55).— Ed.

b Marx gives this sentence in English in brackets after its German equivalent.—
Ed.
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an ephemeral pamphlet, which he had skimmed through, with
perfect calm '

“deduces the wretched condition of the principalities ... from the destructive
poison of the Greeks and Fanariots” (loc. cit., p. 63).

He had no idea that the Fanariots (so called after a district in
Constantinople) are these very same Greeks who have lorded it in
the Danubian principalities under Russian protection since the
beginning of the eighteenth century. They are, in part, the
descendants of the limondji (lemonade-sellers) of Constantinople
that are now once again playing at “Romanian nationality” by
order of the Russians.

While the white angel of the North advances from the East,
destroying the various nationalities for the benefit of the Slav race,
the white angel of the South advances from the opposite direction
as the standard-bearer of the principle of nationality, and

“we must wait until the liberation of the subject nationalities has been brought
about by this man of destiny” (Studien, p. 36).

Now while these combined operations of the two angels and
the “two greatest external enemies of Germany’s unity” (Studien,
2nd edition, Afterword, p. 154) are being conducted “in close
concert” —what role is assigned to Germany by our Imperial Vogt,
who is, however, no “Augmentor of the Realm”??

“The most short-sighted persons,” Vogt remarks, “must have realised by now
that there is an understanding between the Government of Prussia and the
Imperial Government of France, that Prussia will not unsheath its sword to defend
the non-German provinces of Austria” (including Bohemia and Moravia, of
course), “that it will give its approval to all measures affecting the defence of the
territory of the Confederation” (excluding its “non-German” provinces), “but will
otherwise prevent any intervention of the Confederation or its individual members
on Austria’s behalf, so that in the subsequent peace negotiations it will receive its
reward for these efforts in the North German plains” (Studien, 1st edition, pp. 18-19).

By proclaiming from the housetops, even before the outbreak of
the war against Austria, the secret entrusted to him by the
Tuileries that Prussia was acting in “secret understanding” with the
“external enemy of Germany”, who would reward it with territory
“in the North German plains”, Vogt was of course giving Prussia
the best possible assistance in achieving its alleged ends. He roused

a2 Medieval title bestowed on the German Emperor.— Ed.
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the suspicions of the other German governments both towards
Prussia’s initial attempts to neutralise them and towards its military
preparations and its claim to the supreme command during the
war.

“Whatever path Germany has to choose in the present crisis,” Vogt says, “one

thing is certain: that as a whole it must pursue one definite path with energy,
whereas as things are the unhappy Federal Diet, etc.” (loc. cit., p. 96).

By spreading the view that Prussia goes arm in arm with “the
external enemy” and that this will lead to its devouring the
Northern plains, Vogt presumably intends to restore the unity in
the Federal Diet which is so badly lacking. Saxony, in particular, is
reminded explicitly that Prussia has already once occasioned “the
loss of some of its finest provinces” (loc. cit, p. 93). The
“purchase of the Jade Bay” is denounced (loc. cit., p. 15).

“Holstein was to have been the reward for Prussia’s participation” (in the
Turkish War) “when the notorious theft of the dispatch gave the negotiations a
different turn” (loc. cit., p. 15). “Mecklenburg, Hanover, Oldenburg, Holstein and
other miscellaneous appendages ... these fraternal German states are the bait at
which Prussia greedily snatches”—and does so moreover “at every possible
opportunity” (loc. cit., pp. 14, 15).

And as Vogt reveals, on this occasion it has been firmly hooked
by Louis Bonaparte. On the one side, as the result of its secret
‘“understanding” with Louis Bonaparte Prussia must and will
“reach the coasts of the North Sea and the Baltic at the expense of
its German brothers” (loc. cit.,, p. 14). On the other side,

“Prussia will have obtained a natural frontier only when the watershed of the

Erzgebirge and the Fichtelgebirge is extended through the white Main and along
the Main up to Mainz” (loc. cit., p. 93).

Natural frontiers in the depth of Germany! Formed, moreover,
by a watershed which passes through a river! It is this sort of
discovery in the realm of physical geography—to which we may
add the channel that rose to the surface (see “Magnum
Opus”)—that puts “the well-rounded character” on a par with
Alexander von Humboldt. At the same time as he was preaching
to the German Confederation on the confidence it must have in
the leadership of Prussia, Vogt, not satisfied with the “ancient
rivalry between Prussia and Austria on German, etc., territory”,
invented another rivalry between these two states which “has so
frequently broken out on non-European soil” (loc. cit., p. 20). This
non-European soil is probably on the moon.

In fact Vogt simply translates into words the map of L’Europe en
1860 published by the French Government in 1858. The map

7-1305



168 Karl Marx

shows Hanover, Mecklenburg, Brunswick, Holstein, the Electorate
of Hesse together with sundry territories such as Waldeck, Anhalt,
Lippe, etc., as having been annexed to Prussia, while “’Empereur des
Frangais conserve ses (1) limites actuelles”, the Emperor of the
French preserves his (!) existing frontiers. “Prussia down to the
Main” is also a slogan of Russian diplomacy. (See, for example,
the memorandum of 1837 mentioned above.?) A Prussian North
Germany would counterbalance an Austrian South Germany,
separated by natural frontiers, tradition, denomination, dialect and
tribal differences. The division of Germany into two parts would be
completed by simplifying the contradictions within it and the
Thirty Years’ War '® would be declared in permanence.

According to the first edition of the Studien, Prussia was
supposed to receive such a “reward” for its “efforts” in forcing the
sword of the German Confederation back into its sheath during
the war. In Vogt's Studien, as on the French map L’Europe en 1860,
it is not Louis Bonaparte, but Prussia that seeks and achieves the
enlargement of its territory and attains natural frontiers as a result
of the French war against Austria.

Vogt only reveals Prussia’s true task in the Afterword to the
second edition of his Studien,” which appeared while the Franco-
Austrian war was still in progress. Prussia was to initiate a “civil
war” (see the 2nd edition, p. 152) so as to establish a “unified
central power” (loc. cit., p. 153), to incorporate Germany in the
Prussian monarchy. While Russia advances from the Fast and
Austria is held down by Louis Bonaparte in Italy, Prussia is to
embark on a dynastic “civil war” in Germany. Vogt guarantees the
Prince Regent® that

“the war that has broken out” in Italy “will last out the year 1859 at the very

least, whereas the unification of Germany, if prosecuted resoluteiy, will not take as
many weeks as the Italian campaign months” (loc. cit.,, p. 155).

The civil war in Germany will only be a matter of weeks! Apart
from the Austrian troops which would immediately march on
Prussia, Italian war or no Italian war, Prussia would meet
resistance, as Vogt himself explains, from “Bavaria® ... which is
entirely under Austrian influence” (Studien, 1st edition, p. 90),
from Saxomy, which would be the first to be threatened and which

a See this volume, p. 141.—Ed.

b The Preface to the {irst edition of the Studien was dated “March 31, 1859”, and
the Afterword to the second edition, “June 6, 1859”.— Ed.

¢ William, Prince of Prussia.— Ed.

d Vogt’s italics.— Ed.
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would no longer have any reason to do violence to its “sympathies
for Austria” (loc. cit., p. 93), from “Wdarttemberg, Hesse-
Darmstadt and Hanover” (loc. cit,, p. 94), in short from
“nine-tenths” (loc. cit., p. 16) of the “German governments”. And
these governments, as Vogt further demonstrates, would not lack
support in the event of such a dynastic “civil war”, especially if
initiated by Prussia at a time when Germany was threatened by its
“two greatest external enemies”.

“The court” (in Baden), says Vogt, “goes along with Prussia, but the people,
and there is no doubt about that, certainly does not share the predilections of the
ruling family. The Breisgau, no less than Upper Swabia, is bound much more
closely to the Emperor and the Imperial state by ties of sympathy, religious
confession and old memories of the Austrian Forelands, to which it formerly
belonged, than one would have supposed after such a long separation” (loc. cit.,
pp. 93-94). “With the exception of Mecklenburg” and “perhaps” the Electorate of
Hesse, “in North Germany the attitude to the theory of incorporation is one of
mistrust and Prussia’s policy is accepted only with reluctance. The instinctive feeling
of dislike, indeed of hatred, aroused by Prussia in South Germany ... has not been
eliminated or talked out of existence by the full-throated cry of the Imperial party.«
It lives on in the people, and no government, not even that of Baden, can resist it
for long. Thus Prussia has no real support either among the German people, or in the
governments of the German Confederation” (loc. cit., p. 21).

Thus speaks Vogi. And for that very reason, according to that
same Vogt, a dynastic “civil war” initiated by Prussia in “‘secret
understanding” with the “two greatest external enemies of
Germany”, would only be a matter of “weeks”. But there is more
to come.

“The Old Prussian provinces go along with the government—the Rhineland and
Westphalia with Catholic Austria. If the popular movement there does not succeed
in pushing the government over to Austria’s side, the immediate consequence would be
to reopen the gulf between the two parts of the monarchy” (loc. cit., p. 20).

Thus, according to Vogt, if the simple non-intervention of
Prussia on Austria’s behalf was enough to reopen the gulf
between Rhineland-Westphalia and the Old Prussian provinces,
then clearly, in the eyes of the same Vogt, a “civil war”,
undertaken by Prussia with the aim of expelling Austria from
Germany, was bound to wrench Rhineland-Westphalia from
Prussia for good and all. But “what does Germany matter to these
papists?” (loc. cit., p. 119), or as he really thinks, what do these
papists matter to Germany? The Rhineland and Westphalia are
ultramontane “Roman-Catholic” and not “true German” provinces.
Hence they must be expelled from the territory of the Confedera-

a j.e. the supporters of Austria.— Ed.
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tion just like Bohemia and Moravia. And this process of expulsion
is to be accelerated by the dynastic “civil war” recommended to
Prussia by Vogt. And in fact in its map published in 1858 of
L’Europe en 1860, which served Vogt as a compass throughout his
Studien, the French Government, which had annexed Egypt to
Austria, also showed the Rhine provinces as countries of “Catholic
nationality” and annexed by Belgium—an ironic formula for the
annexation of Belgium and the Rhine provinces by France. The
fact that Vogt goes even further than the map of the Frenc<ns1:XMLFault xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat"><ns1:faultstring xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat">java.lang.OutOfMemoryError: Java heap space</ns1:faultstring></ns1:XMLFault>